THE ENTHRONEMENT OF SABAOTH

Jewish Elements in Gnostic Creation myths

BY

FRANCIS T. FALLON



LEIDEN E. J. BRILL 1978

NAG HAMMADI STUDIES

EDITED BY

MARTIN KRAUSE - JAMES M. ROBINSON FREDERIK WISSE

IN CONJUNCTION WITH

Alexander Böhlig - Jean Doresse - Søren Giversen
Hans Jonas - Rodolphe Kasser - Pahor Labib
George W. MacRae - Jacques-E. Ménard - Torgny Säve-Söderbergh
Willem Cornelis van Unnik - R. McL. Wilson
Jan Zandee

X

VOLUME EDITOR
FREDERIK WISSE



LEIDEN
E. J. BRILL
1978

ISBN 90 04 05683 1

Copyright 1978 by E. J. Brill, Leiden, The Netherlands

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or translated in any form, by print, photoprint, microfilm, microfiche or any other means without written permission from the publisher

PRINTED IN BELGIUM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	eword	
Abl	breviations	- D
I.	Introduction	a I
	A. The Documents	. 3
	B. The Sabaoth Accounts	7
11.	The Relationship of the Two Accounts: A Common	
	Tradition	
	A. A Common Tradition	
	C. The Earlier Stage of the Tradition	
	C. The Earner Stage of the Tradition 1	
111.	The Sabaoth Account in NatArch	25
	A. Exegesis	
	1. The Repentance of Sabaoth	
	2. The Ascent and Enthronement of Sabaoth	
	3. Creation of the Throne/Chariot of Sabaoth	
	4. Creation of the Angels	
	5. The Instruction of Sabaoth	
	6. The Separation into Right and Left	
	B. Function	
	C. Confirmation of the Function and the Date	80
IV	The Sabaoth Account in OnOrgWld	. 89
	A. Exegesis	
	1. The Repentance of Sabaoth	. 90
	2. The Ascent and Enthronement of Sabaoth	. 95
		. 101
	4. Creation of the Angels	. 104
	6.70 1	. 110
	6. The Separation into Right and Left	
	B. Function	
	C. The Sabaoth Accounts: Reflections Thereof in Late	
	Gnostic Documents?	
v	Conclusion	
		80
Bib	oliography	136
Ind	lices	. 144

FOREWORD

This monograph grew out of a dissertation submitted to the faculty of the Harvard Divinity School as partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Doctorate of Theology. I wish to express on this occasion my sincere thanks to Professor Dieter Georgi, my thesis director, for his encouragement and critical advice; to Professor George MacRae, whose expertise in Gnosticism was a source of constant help; and to the other members of my committee and the faculty, Professors Frank M. Cross, Jr., Helmut Koester, and John Strugnell, for their generous assistance.

During the academic year 1972-73 l was the recipient of a scholar-ship from the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst. I express my thanks to the German government and Professor Alexander Boehlig of Eberhard-Karls-Universität in Tübingen, with whom I had the privilege of studying during that year, as well as to his assistants at that time James Brashler and Dr. Frederik Wisse. While abroad that year I had the opportunity to visit Israel and to profit greatly from my discussion with Doctors Bentley Layton, Itthamar Gruenwald, and Michael Stone. To them also I extend my gratitude.

To Professor Philip King, who first stimulated my interest in biblical studies, and to the Archdiocese of Boston, which generously supported my graduate education, I also offer my sincere thanks. Lastly, I would thank Camilla Sieveking and Dorothy Riehm for their patience in typing this manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

A. GENERAL

Abhandl. phil.-philol. Abhandlungen der philosophischen-philologischen Classe der

Classe Akad. Wiss. Akademie der Wissenschaften
AJA American Journal of Archaeology

AntiChrist Antike und Christentum

APOT R. H. Charles, ed., The Apocrypha and Pseudepigrapha of the

Old Testament

BZNW Beihefte zur Zeitschrift für die neutestamentliche Wissenschaft

CCSL Corpus Christianorum, Series Latina

CSEL Corpus Scriptorum Ecclesiasticorum Latinorum

DBSup Dictionnaire de la Bible, Supplément

FRLANT Forschungen zur Religion und Literatur des Alten und Neuen

Testaments

Gregorianum

GCS Die Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller

HzNT Handbuch zum Neuen Testament
HTR Harvard Theological Review
HTS Harvard Theological Studies

Hey Heythrop Journal

JCS Journal of Cuneiform Studies
JNES Journal of Near Eastern Studies
JQR Jewish Quarterly Review

JTS Journal of Theological Studies
LCL Loeb Classical Library
NHS Nag Hammadi Studies
NovT Novum Testamentum

NovTSup Novum Testamentum, Supplements

NumenSup Numen, Supplements

OLZ. Orientalistische Literaturzeitung

Oriens Christ Oriens Christianus

PG Migne, Patrologia Graeva

PW Pauly-Wissowa, Realencyclopaedie der classischen Altertums-

wissenschaft

RAC Reallexikon für Antike und Christentum

RSR Recherches de science religieuse

RB Revue biblique

RTP Revue de théologie et de philosophie SBL Society of Biblical Literature

SBLMS Society of Biblical Literature Monograph Series

SC Sources chrètiennes SPB Studia postbiblica

TDNI G. Kittel and G. Friedrich, eds., Theological Dictionary of the

New Testament

Theologische Literaturzeitung
ThRu Theologische Rundschau
TU Texte und Untersuchungen

VT Vetus Testamentum

VTSup Vetus Testamentum, Supplements

VC Vigiliae Christianae

ZNW Zeitschrift für die neutestamentliche Wissenschaft

ZPE Zeitschrift für Papyrologie und Epigraphik

B. GNOSTIC LITERATURE

ApocAd The Apocalypse of Adam CG V, 5
ApocryJas The Apocryphon of James CG II, 1

Apocryfn The Apocryphon of John BG; CG II, 1; III, 1; IV, 1

BG Papyrus Berolinensis Gnosticus 8502
CG Cairensis Gnosticus: Nag Hammadi
DialSav The Dialogue of the Saviour CG III, 5
Eug Eugnostus, the Blessed CG III, 3; V, 1

GMary

GPh

The Gospel of Mary BG

GPh

The Gospel of Philip CG II, 3

GTh

GTh

GTr

The Gospel of Thomas CG II, 2

The Gospel of Truth CG I, 2

GrPow The Concept of our Great Power CG VI. 4
GrSeth Second Treatise of the Great Seth CG VII, 2

NaiArch The Nature of the Archons CG II, 4

OnOrgWld On the Origin of the World CG II, 5; XIII, 2
OnRes The Treatise on the Resurrection CG I, 3

P.S. Pistis Sophia

SJC The Sophia of Jesus Christ BG; CG III, 4

TestTr The Testimony of Truth CG IX, 3

ThCont The Book of Thomas the Contender CG II, 7

TriProt Trimorphic Protennoia CG XIII, 1

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

In his introductory essay to the papers and discussions of the Messina Colloquium, Ugo Bianchi has aptly remarked:

The studies which have been presented to this Colloquium confirm by their number and by the variety of subjects treated the legitimacy, the reality, and at the same time the difficulty of the theme of the origins of Gnosticism.

Indeed, not only the Colloquium but also the scholarly debate during this century on the origins of Gnosticism witness to the difficulty of this theme.² Faced with this scholarly division of opinion and with the array of new material from Nag Hammadi, one can best further the discussion at this time by examining in detail the individual pericopes of these documents and the traditions in which they stand. Only later will a synthesis of these results and assessment of the

¹ U. Bianchi, "Le Problème des Origines du Gnosticisme", Le Origini dello Gnosticismo, Colloquio di Messina 13-18 April 1966, publ. U. Bianchi (NumenSup 12; Leiden 1967) 1; the translation here from the French and throughout this study from foreign languages is mine unless otherwise indicated.

² See, for example, from the viewpoint of the History of Religions W. Bousset, Hauptprobleme der Gnosis (FRLANT 10; Göttingen 1907), H. Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, Bd. 1, 3te Aufl. (Göttingen 1964); R. Reitzenstein, Das iranische Erlösungsmysterium (Bonn 1921). Among those who considered Gnosticism as in essence a Christian heresy are to be numbered E. De Faye, Gnostiques et Gnosticisme, 2e édition (Paris 1925); F.C. Burkitt, Church and Gnosis (Cambridge 1932); A.D. Nock, "Review of Jonas. Gnosis und spätantiker Geist." Gnomon 12 (1936) 605-12; now available as Nock, "The Milieu of Gnosticism," Essays on Religion and the Ancient World, ed. Z. Stewart, 2 vols. (Cambridge 1972) 1.444-51; and Nock. "Gnosticism," HTR 57 (1964) 255-79, now available as "Gnosticism" in Essays on Religion, 2.940-59. Other scholars have stressed the Jewish contribution to Gnosticism, e.g. R. McL. Wilson, The Gnostic Problem (London 1958) and Gnosis and the New Testament (Philadelphia 1968); G. Scholem, Major Trends in Jewish Mysticism, 3rd ed. (New York 1967) and Jewish Gnosticism, Merkabah Mysticism, and Talmudic Tradition (New York 1960). A further group of scholars has posited a Jewish origin for Gnosticism, e.g. R. M. Grant, Gnosticism and Early Christianity (1st ed. 1959; rev. ed. New York 1966); H.-M. Schenke, "Das Problem der Beziehung zwischen Judentum und Gnosis," Kairos 7 (1965) 124-33 and "Hauptprobleme der Gnosis," Kairos 7 (1965) 114-23; K. Rudolph, "Randerscheinungen des Judentums und das Problem der Enstehung des Gnostizismus," Kairos 9 (1967) 112-14; A. Böhlig, Mysterion und Wahrheit (Leiden 1968); G. MacRae, Apocalypse of Adam Reconsidered," The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers, ed. Lanc C. McGaughy (SBL 1972) 2, 573-80.

broader question of gnostic origins be possible. The following study is meant as a contribution to that initial examination.

We shall examine two related pericopes from Nag Hammadi documents to show first of all that they derive from a Jewish background, as a contribution to this wider scholarly discussion on the origins of Gnosticism and on the relationship of Judaism to Gnosticism. Secondly, we shall determine which segment or segments of Judaism have contributed to these pericopes. Thirdly, of course, we shall study these pericopes in terms of their relation to one another, the traditions upon which they draw, and their function within the given documents.

The pericopes which we have chosen to study are particularly interesting, since they are unique within gnostic literature. Although many gnostic documents contain creation myths, only the two documents that we shall study have pericopes in which the offspring of the evil creator repents and is enthroned in the heavens. The very uniqueness of these pericopes will enable us to delineate the theological issues being addressed by them, to date more precisely the documents in which these pericopes occur, and to determine more exactly the place of these documents within Gnosticism and the other gnostic influences which have shaped them.

A final word concerning a proposed Jewish background is appropriate here. To determine that a pericope derives from a Jewish background, one must first show positively that its motifs and traditions appear in Jewish literature and negatively that they appear only there or only there in their particular connections or that so many motifs and combinations of motifs can be found in Jewish tradition that another source is unthinkable. Secondly, since pagans were acquainted with the OT (e.g. Poimandres), it is necessary to show an acquaintance with traditions found only in the later, intertestamental literature in order to speak of a contribution from Judaism. Obviously, this then leaves open the question as to whether the pericope was formed and/or used in Jewish or Jewish-Christian circles as well as the question as to whether Gnosticism arose within Judaism or within Christianity. In either case, it shows the contribution of Judaism to Gnosticism.³

³ Cf. the remark of Rudolph: "Naturally the usage of Israelite-Jewish traditions in no way signifies that Gnosticism as a whole must be a wild offspring of Judaism, but it is obvious that it presents this thesis as at least probable." Rudolph, "Randerschemungen," 115. To prove the existence of Jewish Gnosticism, one naturally seeks a document of Jewish Gnosticism that is not Christianized or whose Christian additions are removable as secondary additions.

INTRODUCTION 3

A. THE DOCUMENTS

The pericopes with which we are concerned are taken from two closely related documents of the Nag Hammadi Corpus, i.e. The Nature of the Archons (NatArch CG II, 4) and On the Origin of the World (OnOrgWld CG II, 5). NatArch⁴ is a treatise, which is purportedly sent in response to enquiries concerning the reality of the heavenly authorities (86 [134]. 25 ff.). There are two major parts within the treatise. The first contains a gnostic reinterpretation of the early chapters of Genesis through the story of the flood, and the second consists of a revelation discourse of the angel Eleleth to Norea, the sister of Seth and probable wife of Noah. In addition to Jewish elements, the document clearly exhibits a debt to Hellenistic syncretism and is Christian in its present form.⁵

Scholars have begun the analysis of this document by putting the customary, introductory questions to it. At present, it seems clear that NatArch was written originally in Greek and then translated into Coptic, since it follows the text of the LXX and retains the appropriate Greek inflection in some loan words even at the Coptic stage.⁶ The

⁴ Editions of NatArch are the following: R. A. Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, with a contribution by M. Krause (Patristische Texte und Studien 10; Berlin 1970); P. Nagel, Das Wesen der Archonten (Wissenschaftliche Beiträge der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg; Halle 1970); B. Layton, "The Hypostasis of the Archons or 'The Reality of the Rulers'," HTR 67 (1974) 351-426 and 68 (1976) 31-101. For the establishment of the text, see also R. Kasser, "L'Hypostase des Archontes: Propositions pour Quelques Lectures et Reconstitutions Nouvelles," Essays on the Nag Hammadi Texts in honour of Alexander Böhlig, ed. M. Krause (NHS 3; Leiden 1972) 22-35 and "Brèves remarques sur les caractéristiques dialectales du Codex Gnostique Copte II de Nag Hammadi," Kemi 20 (1970) 49-55; M. Krause, "Zur 'Hypostase der Archonten' in Codex II von Nag Hammadi," Enchoria 2 (1972) 1-20; B. Layton, "The Text and Orthography of the Coptic Hypostasis of the Archons (CG II, 4Kr.)," ZPE 11 (1973) 173-200 and "Critical Prolegomena to an Edition of the Coptic 'Hypostasis of the Archons' (CG II, 4)," Essays on the Nag Hammadi Texts in Honour of Pahor Labib (NHS 6; Leiden 1975) 90-109; P. Nagel, "Grammatische Untersuchungen zu Nag Hammadi Codex II," Die Araber in der alten Welt (Hrsg. F. Altheim and R. Stiehl; Berlin 1969) 2, 393-469; H.-M. Schenke, "Review of Bullard and Nagel," OLZ forthcoming. The edition and translation used here is that of Layton. The enumeration of the codex numbers, as currently ascertained by the UNESCO publications committee, is here followed rather than Labib's plate numbers found in the editions of Bullard, Nagel and Böhlig (for OnOrgWld of infra) For the sake of the reader, the plate numbers are also given in parentheses after the page numbers

⁵ Cf. Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 115.

⁶ Cf. Nagel, Das Wesen, 16ff.

provenance of the tractate has not yet been decided; nor has the date for the tractate been established, except that it is, of course, prior to the fourth century date of the codex. Scholarly attention has focused more directly upon the question of the literary unity of NatArch, although there is as yet no unanimity in answer. Schenke, Bullard and Kasser have proposed that the two main parts of NatArch are dependent upon two different written sources, which have been united hy a redactor. However, it has been difficult to determine the exact beginning of the second source. Krause, on the other hand, has suggested that three sources, all dealing with Norea (i.e. the race of Seth and Norea, Norea and Noah's ark, Norea and Eleleth), have been united by a redactor. It is clear that a full literary analysis of the text is necessary before this question can be finally answered.

Related to the question of the literary unity of the tractate is the issue as to whether non-Christian sources have been Christianized by the redactor. Bullard has noted that the quotation of Eph 6:12 at 86(134).23-24 as well as the Christian allusions in 96(144).33-97 (145).21 belong to the redactor.¹² Again, as Krause has suggested,¹³

⁷ H.-C. Puech has suggested Egypt as the possible place in "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques découvertes en Haute-Égypte," Coptic Studies in honor of Walter Ewing Crum (Boston 1950) 122.

^{*} H.-M. Schenke, "Das Wesen der Archonten': Eine gnostische Originalschrift aus dem Funde von Nag Hammadi," TLZ 83 (1958) 661; Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 115; R. Kasser, "L'Hypostase des Archontes: Bibliothèque gnostique X," RTP 22 (1972) 169-74.

[°] Cf. Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 100, who emphasizes the startling change from the third person singular to the first person singular as the possible beginning of the second document. Schenke in his "Review of R. A. Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons," in a forthcoming issue of OLZ has placed the caesura at 92(140), 18, the change from Norea and the ark of Noah to Norea and the rulers.

¹⁰ Krause, "Zur 'Hypostase der Archonten'," 15-18.

¹¹ Scholars (e.g. Kasser, "L'Hypostase des Archontes: Bibliothèque gnostique X," 169ff) have noted the unified purpose, which the redactor achieves in his use of sources but have had difficulty in identifying the exact sources. As B. Layton has suggested to me privately and if his restoration at 86(134).26 is correct (cf. "The Hypostasis of the Archons 364f and 397).—i.e. [aei-]xene naei "I have sent these".—then the introduction of the first person singular in 93(141).13 is not so startling and can be considered as merely a parenthetical remark of the composer. Secondly, it is difficult to separate the story concerning Noah from that concerning Eleleth, since the mountain (Mt. Seir) 92(140).14 functions as the customary site for a revelation in the literary genre of a revelation discourse Perhaps, then, to account for this achievement by the composer, future analysis should focus on the possibility that the author is not so much excerpting written documents as using material which is well-known to him and which he is summarizing either from written sources or from memory.

¹² Bullard, *The Hypostasis of the Archons*, 48 and 113-14. Wilson has also raised this possibility in *Gnosis and the New Testament*, 126.

¹³ Krause, "Zur 'Hypostase der Archonten'," 20.

the full literary analysis of the text is necessary before the issue can be resolved.

A final introductory question with regard to NatArch is that of the gnostic school to which the document belongs. Scholars early noted the relationship of NatArch with the unnamed gnostics in Iren. Adv. haer. 1,30 and the sect called the Gnostics in Epiph. Pan. 26. On the basis of the title, Doresse then proposed that NatArch belonged to the Archontics of Epiph. Pan. 40.14 Puech, however, suggested the Gnostics of Epiph. Pan. 26 because of the reference there to the book Norea. 15 Schenke, Jonas and Wilson considered the tractate as Barbelognostic because of the reference to Norea, Samael and Eleleth. 16 Bullard proposed that the first part stemmed from the Ophites, because of its relationship with Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, and that the second part was influenced by Valentinianism. 17 Layton has assigned the document to the Sethians while Krause has left the question open until a full assessment of the relations of NatArch with other gnostic documents and the reports of the Father; 18 even more necessary before a final answer, however, is a reassessment of our customary division of gnostics into sects. 19

OnOrgWld is a treatise ²⁰ or, more precisely, a tract, ²¹ which claims to be written against the views of both the gods of the world and men in order to defend the thesis that before chaos something did in fact exist, namely, the light (97[145].24ff). OnOrgWld contains a gnostic interpretation of Genesis but only up to the expulsion from paradise and has no revelation discourse. With regard to the introduc-

¹⁴ J. Doresse, *The Secret Books of Egyptian Gnostics*, tr. P. Mairet (New York 1960) 164.

¹⁵ Puech, "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," 120-22.

¹⁶ Schenke, "Das Wesen der Archonten," 662-63; Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, 1. 380, n. 1; Wilson, Gnosis and the New Testament, 125.

¹⁷ Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 115.

¹⁸ Layton, "The Hypostasis of the Archons," 371-72; Krause, "Zur 'Hypostase der Archonten'," 19-20.

¹⁴ Cf. F. Wisse, "The Nag Hammadi Library and the Heresiologists," VC 25 (1971) 205-23.

²⁰ The edition of OnOrgWld is A. Böhlig and P. Labib, *Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel aus Codex II von Nag Hammadi* (Berlin 1962); the translation is mine.

²¹ Höhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 19 and Wilson, Gnosis and the New Testament, 127. Puech had fulsely identified it as an apocalypse in "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," 105. Doresse and Schenke had simply identified it as a treatise in Doresse, The Secret Books of the Egyptian Gnostics, 165 and H.-M. Schenke, "Vom Ursprung der Welt. Eine titellose gnostische Abhandlung aus dem Funde von Nag Hammadi," TLZ 84 (1959) 244.

tory questions, the source of its provenance is not definitely known. Its date is not certain, although its citation of other gnostic writings and its developed mythology would suggest a later date; 22 however, its mythology is less overgrown and therefore its date is probably earlier than Pistis Sophia.23 In reference to literary unity, Böhlig has argued that two sources, characterized respectively by their use of exousiai and archontes, have been used by a redactor; he has also portrayed OnOrgWld as a compilation.²⁴ The separation into sources by means of these different terms, however, appears to be unsuccessful, since it is established on too narrow a base; 25 our own study and the study of M. Tardieu would also indicate the need to consider redaction and purposeful integration as well as mere compilation on the part of the composer.26 Finally, while Schenke and Jonas have attributed the document to the Barbelognostics, 27 Puech has ascribed it to the Ophites and Tardieu has cautiously attributed it to the Archontics. 28 Böhlig, on the other hand, while recognizing the affinities with the Ophites, has wisely refrained from assigning the document to any one school, because of its composite nature.²⁹ Again, until our categories for division into gnostic sects are more firmly established, it is more appropriate merely to note the relations of the documents to the various sects rather than to assign it to one particular sect.

Both of the writings are cosmogonic works and so they follow a pattern, which is familiar in other gnostic pieces.³⁰ First, Wisdom³¹

²² Cf. Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 31 ff, who suggests Egypt as the place but acknowledges the incertitude in this matter.

²⁴ Cf. Puech, "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," 122-23; Schenke, "Vom Ursprung der Welt," 244.

²⁴ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 28-35.

²⁵ Cf. Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 43-44.

²⁶ M. Tardieu, Trois mythes gnostiques: Adam, Éros et les animaux d'Égypte dans un écrit de Nag Hammadi (11, 5) (Études Augustiniennes; Paris 1974), especially 44-48.

²⁷ Schenke, "Vom Ursprung der Welt," 246; Jonas, Gnosis und spaetantiker Geist, 1, 380, n. 1 and 383

²⁸ Puech, "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," 122-23; Tardieu, *Trois mythes gnostiques*, 34-36.

²⁴ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 35.

⁵⁰ Cf. G. MacRae, Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic and Mystical Tradition and Their Relation to Gnostic Literature (Ph. D. diss., Cambridge University, 1966), 81-84.

³¹ In translating the term as Wisdom rather than transliterating as Sophia, we follow a suggestion of B. Layton. Although such is a departure from present scholarly convention, it commends itself for the following reasons. The term "Sophia" is obviously not a loan-word or foreign word when the document is written in Greek (cf. Achamoth, on the other hand). Secondly, transliteration can impede for us connotations that may be helpful in interpretation (cf. the connotation of a lack of continuity in speaking

falls—she wanted to fashion a product by herself without her partner (NatArch 94[142].5-7) or an image flowed out of Faith-Wisdom, which willed and became a work (OnOrgWld 98[146].13-16). Secondly, from the work of Wisdom there came into being matter and the Demiurge (NatArch 94[142].10 ff//OnOrgWld 98[146].28-99[147].1; 99[147].17-22; 100[148].1-10). Thirdly, the demiurge arrogantly asserts that he is the only God (NatArch 94[142].21 ff//OnOrgWld 100[148].29-34; 103[151]. 11-13; 108[156].1 f). And lastly, there is a repentance; in both of these works and only in these works it is the repentance of Sabaoth rather than Wisdom (NatArch 95[143].13 ff//OnOrgWld 104[152].26 f).

That the two documents are closely related has already been noted by their respective editors in their commentaries. They contain points of contact not only in their cosmogonic elements (especially the accounts of Sabaoth, as we shall see) but also in their presentation of the creation of earthly man, the fall of Adam and Eve, their expulsion from paradise, and even the final re-integration into the light. The works are so close that Bullard has called for an examination of the exact relationship of the two works to one another.³²

B. THE SABAOTH ACCOUNTS

Our concern in this study is with the parallel Sabaoth accounts in these documents, i.e. NatArch 95(143).13-96(144).3//OnOrgWld 103 (151).32-106(154).19. As the son of the Demiurge Ialdaboath, Sabaoth repents of his father's blasphemy, is snatched up into the heavens, instructed and given a name; whereupon he builds a chariot for himself (and dwelling place and throne in OnOrgWld) and creates angels before him. Then there follows a separation into right and left by which the images or prototypes of life (or justice) and injustice are established. In NatArch the account forms a distinct pericope within the cosmogonic myth. Similarly, in OnOrgWld the Sabaoth account is such a distinct pericope that Böhlig in his edition has proposed that it is an interpolation.³³

of Wisdom in Jewish literature and the Sophia myth in Gnosticism). Although Sophia is a technical term for a heavenly figure in Gnosticism, this technical usage can be indicated in English by capitalization (Wisdom) just as easily as by transliteration. This principle will be applied in the following pages to other terms as well where it is considered feasible: e.g. Faith-Wisdom rather than Pistos-Sophia, Ruler rather than archon, Life rather than Zoe, etc.

³² Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 115.

³³ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 50

In this study, we shall examine in the first chapter the relationship between these two accounts. By a detailed, synoptic comparison we shall demonstrate that both accounts draw upon the same tradition, that the additional features in OnOrgWld are redactional elements, and that thus the account in NatArch represents the typologically earlier form.

In our second chapter, we shall analyze the Sabaoth account in NatArch. In this analysis, our concern will be to show that the Sabaoth account derives from Judaism (mainly from Apocalyptic Judaism). Since J. Magne has proposed that Phil 2:6-11 and the NT in general, especially the passages on the enthronement of Christ (e.g. Acts 2:32-36; Eph 1:18-21; 4:7-16; Col 1:15-20) have drawn upon and been deeply influenced by the Sabaoth account in NatArch, we shall consider the relationship of the Sabaoth account to the NT and show that it has neither influenced nor been influenced by the NT.34 Our further concern will be to exegete the passage. In our exegesis, we shall utilize the principles of tradition-criticism³⁵ and conclude that the Sabaoth account draws upon two Jewish traditions: heavenly enthronement and the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary to see the divine chariot and/or throne. We shall then propose that the Sabaoth account functions to justify the worth of certain parts of the OT and to evaluate more positively than some other gnostics in the late second century the God of the OT and the Jewish people. We shall also reflect upon the political consequences of maintaining that the ruler of this world is the son of an evil Demiurge. In order

¹⁴ J. Magne, La naissance de Jésus-Christ. L'exaltation de Sabaoth dans Hypostase des Archontes 143, 1-31 et l'exaltation de Jésus dans Philippiens 2, 6-11 (Cahiers du cercle Ernest-Renan, No 83; Paris 1973) especially 23-48. Magne has proposed that NatArch presents a partial rehabilitation of the God of the OT (Kyrios Sabaoth) under the name Sabaoth and Phil 2 a later, complete rehabilitation under the name Kyrios While his proposal of a non-Christian Sabaoth account is theoretically possible, it is not shown to be historically probable. His study as a whole suffers from lack of proper, tradition-critical methodology and from working only with general patterns.

³⁵ By a tradition, we understand a recurrent sequence of motifs. The methodology of tradition-criticism then is to identify and trace a tradition by establishing a relationship among literary units on the basis of context, form, content, and function. Within content are included terminology (i.e. vocabularly, names, titles, specific terms), motifs (also particular combinations of motifs), and the pattern of the motifs. There is also a wider designation of the term tradition in scholarly usage and in our usage, e.g. the wisdom tradition, or apocalyptic tradition, or Jewish tradition, which we understand to mean the "handing on" of related conceptual materials within continuous circles of people.

INTRODUCTION 9

to confirm our view, we shall consider related gnostic literature and the theological issues raised within them.

In our third chapter, we shall examine the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld. Here we shall demonstrate that this Sabaoth account is more developed but uses the same Jewish traditions of heavenly enthronement and ascent of the visionary to the divine chariot and/or throne. Further, we shall show that this account—contrary to Böhlig is not just an interpolation but a carefully redacted piece, which suits the author's purpose. We shall conclude that in accord with influence from Valentinianism the Sabaoth account serves in this document an anthropological function, i.e. to represent a particular class of men, rather than a theological function, and probably dates from the first half of the third century. By his heavenly enthronement, Sabaoth is validated as divinely appointed ruler, but only of the psychic class of men. Since the psychic class of men form the Christian church, we shall see that Sabaoth's enthronement in the seventh heaven has ecclesiological as well as political implications. We shall again investi gate possible relations of this Sabaoth account with the NT. Lastly, we shall consider whether the specific tradition of these Sabaoth accounts is found in other gnostic documents, since such an analysis can be of assistance not only in understanding these Sabaoth accounts but also in tracing the development of this particular tradition and in classifying into groups in a preliminary way the literature of Gnosticism.

CHAPTER TWO

THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE TWO ACCOUNTS: A COMMON TRADITION

A. A COMMON TRADITION

Before analyzing in detail the individual pericopes, it is appropriate to consider the relationship between the accounts as wholes in these documents. As we have previously remarked, the parallels between the accounts indicate that there is a relationship. Specifically, the Sabaoth accounts in NatArch and OnOrgWld share the same tradition. The data, however, are insufficient to determine whether this tradition consisted of oral or written elements or a combination thereof. The conclusion that a common tradition is being used, though, is justified first of all because of the identity of topic considered in both accounts, namely, Sabaoth. Although the conception of Sabaoth as one of the offspring of the Demiurge is familiar in gnostic thought (e.g. Iren. Adv. haer. 1. 30), the conception of Sabaoth as enthroned above him is not.

This conclusion is further justified because the structure or sequence in the accounts is the same. It appears as follows:

- 1) the repentance of Sabaoth 95(143).13-18//103(151).32-104(152).6
- 2) the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth 95(143),19-25//104(152),6-31
- 3) creation of the throne/chariot of Sabaoth-- 95(143).26-28//104(152).31-105(153).16
- 4) creation of the angels- 95(143).28-31//105(153).16-106(154).3
- 5) the instruction of Sabaoth—95(143).31-34//104(152).26-31 and 106(154).3-11
- 6) the separation into right and left 95(143).34-96(144).3//106(154).11-19

There are two minor elements, which disturb this identity of sequence. First, the giving of a name of Sabaoth appears in NatArch as part of section "2", the ascent and enthronement, whereas in OnOrgWld it appears within "1" the repentance of Sabaoth. Second, section "5" the instruction of Sabaoth is reduplicated in OnOrgWld; it appears once within the enthronement of Sabaoth and then again later at the point corresponding to NatArch. It will be argued shortly that within OnOrgWld the giving of a name to Sabaoth and the first occurrence of the instruction of Sabaoth can be explained as intentional alterations

on the part of the redactor. If such be true, these minor differences in sequence would not militate against the use of the same tradition but would rather presuppose it. The second occurrence of the instruction of Sabaoth, it will be then argued, is another piece of tradition introduced by the redactor into the account.

The conclusion that the same tradition is being used in both documents is also justified by the verbal identity between the two accounts, an identity which is visible even in the Coptic, although both documents are probably translations from the Greek. Some sixty words of the account in NatArch—and therefore approximately 50% of its account—are shared by OnOrgWld. Since OnOrgWld is a longer account, these same sixty words represent only approximately 14% of its total. The following synopsis shows clearly the amount of detail that is common to both accounts (underscored in unbroken lines are elements that are identical and in broken lines are elements that are common but exhibit a different form or position within the account).

1) The Repentance of Sabaoth—95(143).13-18//103(151).32-104(152).6

LEACHLE TE CY

- 14 <u>ваше нтаречнау</u> атаунаміс мпаг
- 15 гехос етимау <u>адметаноеі адрка</u>
- 17 бүхн ацсіхане ерос ацрэмнеі де
- 18 еграі етсофіа ауш тесшеере нашн

<u> cyrymo ye umhle</u>

- 33 NIAAABAWO NTAPEYCWTM [N]T
 34 CHH NTIICTIC AYZYMNEI EPO[C AY]
- 35 KATAFEINWCKE MITEIWT [MN TMAAY]
- I EXH HULLE NTHICTIC [44] T EOOY NAC
- 2 же астанооу апршне [н]а ванатос
- 3 ми печочови тпістіс де тсофід дс
- 4 сшт мпестинве евох аспшат ажша
- 5 NOYOEIN EBOX 2M TECOYOEIN AYKA
- 6 такріма мпецеішт
- 2) The Ascent and Enthronement of Sabaoth 95(143).19-25//104(152). 6-31

СУВУМӨ ОЕ ИТУ

- 7 ρεμχι ογοείν λαχι ογνοό νεξογείλ
- 8 егоүн ендүндміс тироу мпхдос
- У ДІМ ПЗООУ ЕТММАУ АУМОУТЕ ЕРОЧ ЖЕ
- 10 пхоетс инбом адместе педетыт пка
- II ке там темита иноли у асіхуне т
- 12 терсшие писече мпархігенитшр
- Н потина стиниу угал имосту стис

¹ Cf. Nagel, Das Wesen der Archonten, 15ff and Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 17.

- 19 дүш атсофіа ни хши торпц еграі дү
- 20 канота миод ежи тиегсащее ипе
- 21 пса ипіти ипкатапетасна оуте
- 22 пса нтпе ин пса ипіти ауш ауноу
- 23 TE EPOQ AE THOYTE NHAYNAMIC CA
- 24 ваше же едипса птпе нидунаніс 25 мпхаос же атсофіа каеїста мнод

26 готі де дилеі фшпе датаміо на ф

27 ночноб изарма ихерочвій ецо и

28 чтооу мпросшпон

- 14 пецочовін де днехочсід тироч кш2
- 15 ерод ите пхаос ауш итароущтортр
- 16 тлетье нолное ниоченос Sи дстя
- 17 че ипе тоте тпістіс тсофіа нтарес
- 18 изд ушиоуємос усхоод иствуме
- 19 евох 2н песолоеін истій итьхуц
- 20 Γελος <u>λυτορπη εζρλι ετηλζόλωμε η</u> 21 <u>πε</u> λυωζε ερλτού ζιτεήζη ζως <u>λίλκ</u>ο
- 22 нос палін асхооу нац нкещонт
- 23 нархаггелос ассин тинтеро на ф
- 24 нтпе (н)оуон нім жекаас ецнафшпе
- 25 ипса нере ипинтенооре ннорте
- 26 мпхлос нтаресаваше де ді птопос
- 27 нтанаупаусіс єпна нтецметаноїа
- 28 еті атпістіс † нац нтесшеере нашн
- 29 ин ночноб недочсіл жекалс есна
- 30 тамоц анетшооп тироу 2н тиаг
- 31 WHOYNE
- 3) Creation of the Throne/Chariot of Sabaoth—95(143).26-28//104 (152).31-105(153).16

Smc ehntyd ve nodegodciy

- 32 адтаміо над нфорп ноума нфф
- 33 пе очноб пе ечтаетну емате ечо н
- 34 [саш] чикшв пара нетщооп тироу
- 35 [2н тс]ащее ипе ипито де евох
 - 1 мпедиа нашпе <u>адтамею</u> ноувро
 - 2 HOC EYNOG ΠΕ EUSIXH OYZYPHY EUO
 - 3 η η τοογ μπροςωποί εγμογτε εροφ
- 4 же хероувін пхероувін де оунтац
- 5 милу номочне инорфи ката по
- 6 тоүкоог гиморфи имоүст хүш ги
- 7 норфи имасе ауш зинорфи ррш
- 8 не ин эмиорфи настос эшсте инор
- 9 фн тироу сеегре исета чте иморфи
- 10 аүш саша нархаггелос бүлгератоү
- II зітецэн нтоц пе пиазшиоун еүн
- 12 тац ехоусіа миорфн тироу сеєїре
- 13 нувеснооус евох гар 2м пеетрарна
- 14 аухі түпос нбі пшвєснооус нноу
- 15 те аухі тупос атроурархеі ехи таве
- 16 CHOOYE NACHE NIZEBHOC
- 4) Creation of the Angels -95(143).28-31//105(153).16-106(154).3

SIXN LIBLO

17 NOC ME ETHMAY AGTAMIE ZNKEAFFE

	18 лос мнорфн наракши бүмоүтб бро
	19 оү же сарафін бүт бооу нац ниау
MN SNYLLEYOC	20 ини минсше адтаміо ноуєккансіа
29 енашшоу емнтоу нпе етроургу	21 наггелос гищо ин гитва ениточ
30 пиретен	22 HITE ECTHTONT ETEKKAHCIA ETZH
·	23 тиагшночие ауш оушрпинісе
	24 еүнөүте егоц же пісрана ете пасі
	25 пе пршие етилу епиоуте луш ке
	26 от же тно пехо едтитым епоштир
	27 етді пса нтпе нтиадшиоуне ец
	28 гноос гі оүнан имоц гіжн оүөро
	29 нос ецтаетну 21 бвоур де имоц ес
	30 гноос ибі тпарвенос иппиа етоу
	31 алв гіжи оуфронос ест еооу илц
	32 ауш сеадератоу дітеседніної тса
ауш гифахтиріон ин ги	33 ф(4)е нитреенос ели нутве ирі[е]у
31 хібара	34 га нтоотоу ми гифалтиріон [ми]
	בקדטת שעב בער פססץ אבן ביותגבאתו ב
	2 теума тироу ниаггелос сет еооу нац
	3 хуш сесноу ероц
5) The Instruction of Sabaoth—9:	5(143).31-34//104(152).26-31 and 106

5) The Instruction of Sabaoth—95(143).31-34//104(152).26-31 and 106 (154).3-11

εμερούς δε είχη ογ 4 Θρονός (εν ογλογοείν υνόδ υκλοολε

	ECCKE
	5 пасе имод хүш неми ухау имиад
дүш атсофіа ці тесшеере н	6 2н теклооле еімнті атсофіа тпістіс
ZWHACTPECZHOOC ZI OYNAH MMOG	7 естсево иноцанет фооптироуритиа?
ЕТРЕСТАНОЦ АНЕТШООП [2][N] ТИА2	8 фиолие жектус елиутунето интои
шмоүнє	9 ти иин шіна тинтеро еснамочи евох
4	10 нац ша тсунтелеіз нипнує ипхаос
	П ми ноудундиіс

32

33 34

6) The Separation into Right and Left—95(143).34-96(144).3//106(154).

```
THICTIC AE TCOOIA (A)C
      AYW MIAMENO[C NTE TO]F
                                       12 порхи епкаке асмотте ерои еочнам
                                       13 ммоспархігенетшрає аскалуді бвоур
32 LH YCKYYN SI SBOAL HHON [XIH DO]
Ж оү етимүү үүнөүте 17(ецоүнан)
                                       14 имос хін фооу єтинау ауноутє єоу
                                       15 NAM XE (T) AIKAIOCYNN <u>680YP</u> AE AYMOY
I TE SOH TAM TSBO[A]& TCOMMIE HALAUOC
2 HTADIKIA HTMHTAYOCHTHC (CT) MICA H
                                       If te epoc me tankia etbe haei de aymi
                                       17 тнроу ноукоснос нтеккансіа нтаікаі
FEBRUARY STOYES H
                                       18 OCYNH MN TAAIKIA (EC)AZE E(Z)PAI EXN
                                                                      OYCWNT
                                       19 (тнроу)
```

When one extracts from the two accounts the common elements, one can see clearly the amount of shared tradition. The following presents the wording common to both accounts but follows the order of NatArch. Understood in broken lines are words which although common, are not identical either in their placement within the narrative or their form.

```
13 першире же ствуто
                                              Now his offspring Sabaoth
14 NTAPEQ
                                              when
15 AUMETANOEI
                                              he repented (repentance),
                                                  he condemned
       AUPKATAFEINWCKE
                                              his father and his mother
16 мпечены ти течи 31
17 адсіхане адреумнеї
                                              he loathed he sang songs of
                                                  praise
                                              to Wisdom (her)
18 еграі етсофіа
       TOPH4 E2PAI
                                                  they caught him up
19
                                                  the seventh heaven
20
      тиерсьщие ипе
21
                                                  and they called
22
       ΣΥΟΗΥΑ ω ΥΑ
                                              him the God (Lord) of the Forces
23 ерод же п------ нидунаміс
                                                  above
      HILT NILE (NSE)
                                              of chaos
25 нпхлос
                                                  He made himself
      ран оіматра
27 ночноб изарма ихероувін єчо н
                                              a huge chariot of Cherubim
28 чтооу ипросшпон ин знаггелос
                                              four-faced and angels
29
                                                    infinitely many
         емитоу ипе
                                                  and harps
       2МЧАХТНРІОН МН 2Н
                                              lyres. And Wisdom
31 ківара ауш атсофіа
                                                    her daughter
         τεςψεερε Ν
                                                       on his right
32 ZWH
            51 ОЛИЯ НИОТ
33 етрестаноц анетфооп [2][н]тна2
                                              to teach him about what exist
                                              in the Eighth
34 ωμογν€
                                                    she placed him on his
         ACKAAQ 21 2BOYP
                                                    left.
                                                            Since
          [XIM ΦO]
                                              that day his right has
36 оу етмилу лумоуте
                                                    been called
         [MANYOPST]A
                                                    the left
         T280[Y]P
                                              unrighteousness
 2 NTAAIKIA
```

From this identity of topic (Sabaoth), identity of sequence and identity of wording, one can conclude to the use of a common tradition. On the other hand, the lack of more extensive and more continuous verbal identity and the greater length and detail of OnOrg-Wld prevent one from concluding to literary dependence of OnOrgWld on NatArch or vice versa.

B. Possible Identifications of the Common Tradition

At this point we must consider the possibility that the common tradition behind NatArch and OnOrgWld is part of the book entitled Norea, which is referred to by Epiphanius. In his Panarion 26.1.3-9,² Epiphanius speaks of this book Norea and presents the story connected with this mythological figure Norea. Because of the impressive list of parallels between the contents of NatArch and the story of Norea, scholars have been divided in their assessment of the relationship between NatArch and this book entitled Norea:

- 1) Puech considered them identical.3
- Doresse considered much of NatArch as an abridgement of this book Norea.⁴
- 3) Schenke denied the identity between the two.5
- 4) Böhlig denied the identity between the two and suggested that NatArch knew this book *Norea* and/or its traditions but that it was impossible to decide whether the source of NatArch and this book *Norea* were exactly the same.⁶
- 5) Bullard suggested that the revelation section of NatArch was once "an independent Revelation of Norea, but that it was not the same as that referred to by UW (OnOrgWld) or by Epiphanius."

Surely Böhlig is right in denying that the present form of NatArch can be said to be identical with the *Norea* in Epiphanius. In his reference to this book *Norea*, Epiphanius merely relates the myth associated with the person of Norea. He does not indicate the genre, the limits or necessarily the full contents of this book. Thus, it is impossible to say whether or not this *Norea* mentioned by Epiphanius contained a gnostic reinterpretation of Genesis, as the first half of NatArch does. If with Bullard one considers the possibility that the latter half of NatArch, the revelation section, is identical with *Norea*, the parallels are indeed striking. The following are the details mentioned by Epiphanius and found in NatArch 92(140).3-18:

- 1) Norea is the wife of Noah.
- 2) She fights against the Ruler, the creator of the world.

² Ed. K. Holl I (GCS 25; Leipzig 1915) 27f.

³ H -C. Puech, "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," 120-22

^{*} J. Doresse, The Secret Books of the Egyptian Guarties, 163

¹ H.-M. Schenke, "Das Wesen der Archonten," 662-63

⁶ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Litel, 311

^{&#}x27; Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 101

[&]quot; I am grateful to B. Layton for calling this point to my attention

- 3) Her husband, Noah, obeys the Ruler.
- 4) She reveals the existence of the powers above.
- 5) The creator seeks to destroy her in the flood.
- 6) She is not allowed to enter the Ark.
- 7) She burns the Ark three times (only two are recounted in NatArch).
- 8) Noah must rebuild it.

However, there are also differences in the source of Epiphanius, which must be noted:

- 1) Barbelo is the name of the mother above rather than Wisdom.
- 2) There is no mention of the repentance, ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth, the offspring of Ialdabaoth.
- 3) Norea teaches that what has been stripped from Barbelo, the mother above, must be regathered from the rulers. This motif is missing in NatArch.

Thus, it is clear that the revelation section of NatArch, even if it existed as an independent Revelation of Norea, is not the same as *Norea* in Epiphanius. Rather, one would have to say that both the Revelation of Norea and the book *Norea* in Epiphanius stem from the same stream of gnostic tradition. Thus also, for the purposes of our own concern here, the Sabaoth account in NatArch and OnOrgWld is not a part of the *Norea* referred to in Epiphanius.

A final possibility that we must consider here is that the common tradition about Sabaoth behind NatArch and OnOrgWld is part of the First Book of Norea or the First Logos of Norea, referred to in OnOrgWld 102(150).10f. and 24f. First, as Böhlig has suggested, these references are well taken as applied to the same piece. Second, neither NatArch nor any of its parts is this First Book or Logos of Norea, since the further and more exact knowledge concerning the names and occupants of the seven heavens, supposed to be found in it, is not in NatArch. Third, it appears more probable that this First Book or Logos of Norea is not identical with NatArch or its parts but uses the same tradition. Thus, again, the First Book or Logos of Norea cannot be proved to be the written source behind the common tradition concerning Sabaoth in NatArch and OnOrgWld.

C. THE EARLIER STAGE OF THE TRADITION

If the two accounts derive from the same tradition, a further question is raised. Which account reflects a stage in the tradition,

Böhlig, Die kopusch-snostische Schrift ohne Titel, 32.

which is historically earlier? The mere observation that OnOrgWld is longer and fuller by no means establishes it as later. In the following pages it will be argued that OnOrgWld represents the later stage since its account contains internal contradictions and variations which can be identified as redactional elements. NatArch, on the other hand, presents a simpler, more consistent account in which the variations from OnOrgWld cannot be identified as redactional elements and therefore represents an earlier stage of the tradition.

As we begin our detailed analysis of the various sections, we turn first to the section on the repentance of Sabaoth. According to NatArch 95(143).14f it is "the strength of that angel" which prompted the repentance of Sabaoth, whereas in OnOrgWld 103(151).33f it is "the voice of Faith." This phrase in OnOrgWld exhibits secondary elements of the author and therefore represents the later stage of the tradition. Sophia, a single designation, had been the name of the OT hypostasis of Wisdom since the LXX translation (e.g. Prov 8:22-31; Sir 24:1-7; Wis 8:20). Through association with $\pi i \sigma \tau i \varsigma$, although the reason for that association is as yet unclear, 10 Wisdom received a double name Faith-Wisdom, e.g. in NatArch 87(135).7-8; 94(142).5-6; 95(143).6. The origin of the name is still remembered in the formula "Wisdom, she who is called Faith" which occurs in NatArch 94(142). 5-6; Eug CG III, 3: 82.5-6; and SJC BG 8502: 103.7-9). In OnOrgWld, on the other hand, the origin has been forgotten so that the formula is inverted to "Faith, she who is called Wisdom" (98[146].13-14) and Faith alone can function as the name, as here (cf. also 99[147].2 etc.). NatArch, on the other hand, does not use the title Faith alone.

The "voice" of Faith is also redactional since it refers to the previous utterance of Faith concerning the immortal Light-Man, who is a major element in the author's own theology (103[151].15-28; cf. 104[152].2-3). To demonstrate this, we must first discuss the motif of light—and its opposite, darkness—in the treatise as a whole. This contrast between light and darkness expresses the basic dualism of the author's theology. In enunciating its central theme, the treatise has argued that something did exist before chaos (97[145].24ff). If one will grant the author that chaos is darkness and therefore a shadow, he believes that he can prove that the light existed previously (98[146].23-27):

the Aeon (ἀιών) of truth has no shadow within, for

¹⁰ Cf. Gal 3 for the hypostatization of Faith.

the light (OYOEIN) which has no measure is throughout it. Its outside is shadow. It is called darkness (KAKE).

This theme, then, of the contrast between light and darkness pervades the text. The term "light" (OYOEIN) occurs 41 times and "darkness" (KAKE) 17 times in the text. Within the Sabaoth account alone light occurs 6 times (and once more in the phrase "to receive light," x1 OYOEIN) and darkness twice. On the other hand, in NatArch the basic contrast is not between light and darkness. The realm above the veil is termed imperishability (TMNTATTAKO) rather than light—e.g. 94(142).4f. 11 That which is below the veil is termed more frequently matter (ΰλη) than darkness -e.g. 94(142).4-12. Naturally enough, though, such a familiar contrast as light versus darkness is presupposed and does occur, e.g. 94(142).30-34. The motif of light occurs 7 times and that of darkness 4 times but note that in 3 of the 4 instances the term appears in the phrase "the authorities or rulers of darkness" rather than in contradistinction to the light: 86(134).22; 87(135).14; 92(140).23; and 94(142).33. However, neither term occurs in the Sabaoth account of NatArch.

One further illustration may show that the theme of light vs. darkness is part of the author's own theology and contribution to his treatise. This illustration derives from the pericope concerning the tree of the knowledge of good and evil in NatArch and OnOrgWld. NatArch draws upon the biblical texts (Gen 2:17; 3:15, 22) and speaks of the tree of knowledge of good and evil at 88(136).28-30 and inverts the order to evil and good at 90(138).1,10. Similarly, OnOrgWld at 119(167).2-4 maintains the inversion and speaks about knowing the difference between evil and good men. But at 120(168). 26-29 OnOrgWld diverges from both the biblical text and NatArch to state that Adam knows the difference between "light and darkness."

In addition to and related to the importance of light for the author of OnOrgWld is the importance of the immortal Light-Man. Faith in OnOrgWld 103(151).19-28 in her response to the blasphemy of the Demiurge proclaims that this Light-Man will appear in his fashioning and trample upon him. 12 Sabaoth praises Faith that she

¹³ Cr. also 87(135) 1, 2, 12, 20, 88 (136) 18, 93(141) 29, 94(142) 5. Even in 96(144) 22 where the light occurs, it is the imperishable light and the light is opposed to matter rather than darkness (96)[144] 181).

¹² A further indication that this pericope derives from the hand of the redactor is the occurrence of the term συντελεία to indicate the end of time. It occurs frequently

has instructed him about this immortal Light-Man (104[152].1-3). Later that light does come from the Eighth, with the form of a man in it, and that angel is henceforth called the Light-Adam (108[156].2-22). After revealing himself upon the earth, the Light-Adam returns toward the light (111[159].29-112[160].1) but is unable to enter the Eighth because of the fault with which his light has been mixed. Therefore, he builds a great Aeon which is in a boundless region between the Eighth and chaos (112[160].10-22), i.e. the middle. In addition to this Light-Adam, the author distinguishes the psychic and choic Adams (117[165].28-36). Then, in accord with this description of the three Adams, for the author there are also three kinds of men and their races until the end of the world: the pneumatic of the Aeon, the psychic and the earthly (122[170].6-9). All souls are at first captured and enclosed in the bonds of matter (114[162].14ff). It is the light of gnosis, however, which makes one aware of the true situation (119[167].12-15). To complete his light theology, the author then adds that at the end of time the light will return to its root (127[175].4f) and the perfect ones will go to the unbegotten (127[175].5ff). Thus, the "voice" of Faith is redactional in this pericope, since it alludes to this theology of the immortal Light-Man, which is characteristic of the redactor's own theology.

Within this section on the repentance of Sabaoth the repetitive statement concerning "the condemnation (or hate) of the father" in OnOrgWld is also a later stage of the tradition. In NatArch (95[143]. 15f) the condemnation of the father is mentioned only once, and the father is simply to be identified as Ialdabaoth (95[143].2ff). OnOrg Wld (103[151].35) uses the exact same terms (καταγινώσκειν and πειωτ), and the father is probably to be identified here as well as Ialdabaoth (101[149].23; 102[150].11ff). The idea is repeated a few lines later (104[152].5f) in a synonymous phrase (λγκλτλκριμλ μπεψειωτ). It is to be noted that here the father is left unidentified and that what makes possible the condemnation of the father is the light from Faith-Wisdom (lines 3ff). Again the idea is repeated in the clause "he hated his father" (λ μμε ατε πεψειωτ 104[152].10). The motif of light has also been recalled as the source of this hate (line 7),

throughout the work in this usage in the phrase TCYNTEAGIA MTAIGM (seven times: 110[158] 13, 114[162],24; 121[169] 26f; 122[170] 6, 33, 123[171] 30, 123[173] 32), TCYNTEAGIA MTKOCMOC (122[170],7f); TCYNTEAGIA FAP NHGTN2BHYG (103[151],25), TCYNTEAGIA Blone (117[165],11; 123[171],19), and TCYNTEAGIA NHTHYG MTXAGC MN NOYAYNAMIC (106[154],10f).

and here the father is identified as darkness. As the previous discussion would indicate, the contrast between light and darkness suggests redactional expansion. Thereby, the repetition of the condemnation of the father can be understood—to incorporate the earlier tradition and at the same time to articulate the redactor's own dualistic contrast.

In the section concerning the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth there are also several indications that NatArch represents the earlier stage of the tradition. In NatArch (95[143].22-24) Sabaoth receives a name "God of the Forces" as part of his enthronement and after he has been placed in charge of the seventh heaven. In OnOrgWld (104[152].3-10) Sabaoth receives his name "Lord of the Forces" prior to his ascent. The giving of the name appears to be more appropriate after the installation and as part of the enthronement (cf. Phil 2:6-10). Also, it is again the light from Faith-Wisdom, which gives him the great authority over the powers of chaos, which is thus the cause of his name, and which enables him to hate his father, the darkness. Since the redactional element of light versus darkness is present in the motif, it seems more probable that NatArch has preserved the earlier order. Thirdly, in our later discussion we shall see that the odd formulation "God of the Forces" is purposely constructed in NatArch in order to serve the original function of the Sabaoth account, i.e. Sabaoth is to be the God of the OT, a lower God beneath the transcendent God of the Eighth. On OrgWld, on the other hand, has lost sight of this original function and thus returned to the customary name "Lord of the Forces."

The discrepancy over who "catch up" Sabaoth also provides an insight into the earlier stage of the tradition. NatArch 95[143].19f provides—quite consistently with the context—that Wisdom and Life catch him up. In OnOrgWld 104(152).17-21, on the other hand, Wisdom sends seven archangels, who have not been previously mentioned, to catch up Sabaoth. This sudden introduction of the seven archangels intrudes in the narrative; also since the seven archangels are necessary in another passage of the work (105[153].10-16) to reach the number of the seventy-two languages and gods, they appear as part of the interest of the author and thus as redactional elements in this passage. Another indication that the seven archangels derive from the redactor's hand is the presence of the motif of light. It is because of the light, which Sabaoth has, that the powers of chaos make war; and then it is because of the war that Faith-Wisdom from her light sends the seven archangels.

The pericope in OnOrgWld 104(152).22-26 concerning the three further archangels, who are sent to Sabaoth that he might be over the twelve gods of chaos, also represents the redactor's contribution. First, it is not clear why these three other archangels are then sent to Sabaoth; the figure may be a remnant of other calculations. But, just as the seven previous archangels may be attributed to the redactor, so the inclusion of these further archangels is appropriately ascribed to the redactor. Secondly, the motif that Sabaoth has the "kingdom" occurs not only here (line 23) but also in another passage (106[154]. 9-11), which we shall identify as redactional.

One final pericope in this section concerning the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth indicates that OnOrgWld represents the later stage of the tradition. At this point in the narrative, OnOrgWld 104(152).28-31 has Faith give her daughter Life to Sabaoth in order to instruct him concerning things in the Eighth. In similar wording (TECWEEPE $\overline{NZ}WH ... TAMOQ ANETWOOD ... 2N TMA2WMOYNE) NatArch$ 95(143).31-34 places this incident after the creation of the throne/ chariot. There are two signs of redactional elements in OnOrgWld -the name Faith alone (cf. above) and the phrase "with a great authority" (line 29). The phrase occurs in connection with the motif of the light, and the authority itself is derived from the light in 104 (152).4-8—again a sign of the redactor's hand. It is the authority then which is emphasized as the source of Sabaoth's ability to create his throne, chariot and other accourrements (104[152],31). The instruction concerning the Eighth is later alluded to in the angelic church, which is "like the church in the Eighth" (105[153].20-23). If in fact the placement of the instruction of Sabaoth in OnOrgWld is due to the redactor, he accomplishes two things. He explains the source of Sabaoth's creative capacity; but by specifically directing Sabaoth's authority and knowledge to this ability, he also softens the importance of that knowledge for men. In discussing the function of the Sabaoth accounts, we shall see more completely the significance of that change. Briefly, in NatArch the instruction of Sabaoth concerning what exist in the Eighth serves to insure that the God of the OT has communicated some worthwhile revelation in the books of the OT; in OnOrgWld,

¹³ Cf. ApocryJn BG 39.10-19 and CG III, 1: 16.8-13 in which each authority under laldabaoth has seven angels and three powers or forces. In the BG version the number of angels is then given as 360, although the exact number of tabulation is not clear.

on the other hand, this function is bypassed and Sabaoth serves as king over all below him and as the type of the psychic class of men.

The section on the throne of Sabaoth in OnOrgWld is obviously longer. Use of the motif of the seven archangels here and also in 104(152).19f indicates that the section is an expansion of what is found in NatArch rather than that NatArch is a contraction of what is found in OnOrgWld.

In the section on the creation of the angels, OnOrgWld presents a fuller account with its reference first to the creation of Seraphim and then to the creation of the angelic church. There is no clear sign that the material on the Seraphim is a redactional addition to the earlier tradition. However, in the material on the creation of the angelic church there is one indication that OnOrgWld represents the later stage of the tradition. In NatArch 95(143),29-30 the angels are said to "minister" to Sabaoth (ὑπηρετεῖν). The term occurs only once in NatArch and therefore does not appear to be redactional. This same term occurs elsewhere in OnOrgWld at 102(150).23 and 123 (171).7, where laldabaoth is the recipient of the service, but in the parallel passage on the creation of the angels the expression is "to give him glory" († εοογ). The presence of this expression in the passage previously identified as reflecting the author's own theology (104 [152].1-3 "he gave her glory for she instructed them about the immortal Man and his light") and its frequency throughout the work suggest that it is a part of the redactor's material. 14

Also within this section on the creation of the angels in OnOrgWld, the pericope concerning the creation of Jesus Christ (105[153].25-33) appears as part of the redactor's contribution. It is not necessary to the context. Rather, introduction of the right/left schema with Christ and the Holy Spirit overloads the scene and appears as a later development based on the righteousness or life/unrighteousness set. Elsewhere in the treatise the author refers to Christ (114[162].17) or the Savior (124[172].33) and alludes to the NT (125[173].14-19). Also, of course, there is no creation of Jesus Christ at this point in NatArch.

As we previously suggested, NatArch 95(143).31-34 preserves the earlier placement in the tradition of the section on the instruction of

¹⁴ It is not possible, however, to separate θπηρετείν as preserved for Ialdabaoth and † εσογ as preserved for figures associated with the light. To be sure, Faith at 104(152).1, Sabaoth at 105(153).19, 31 and 106(154).1, 2, and Adam after he has received a breath from Wisdom-Life at 115(163).23 are given glory. But Ialdabaoth can also be said to "receive glory" as at 103(151).5, 8; cf. 120(168).33f.

Sabaoth, as opposed to the first report of it in OnOrgWld 104(152).26-31. The second report in OnOrgWld 106 (154).3-11 then appears as another piece of tradition, which the redactor has incorporated into his text. First of all, the pericope is obviously a reduplication. Secondly, it contradicts the preceding report in that the former states that Life was given to Sabaoth to instruct him, while this latter pericope introduces the motif of the cloud and states that no one was within the cloud with him except Faith-Wisdom, whose role was to instruct him. Thirdly, it contradicts the following pericope as well, which states that rather than being alone, Sabaoth also has Ialdabaoth beside him. Fourthly, only in this pericope is the title rendered as Wisdom-Faith rather than Faith-Wisdom. This is particularly strange in a work where the title has been explained as "Faith, she who is called Wisdom" (98[146].14) rather than the customarily opposite - as we have previously discussed. Thus, the pericope is clearly an extra piece of tradition that interrupts the context. However, the pericope is also manifestly the work of the redactor rather than a later interpolator. The second purpose clause---"so that the kingdom might remain for him until the consummation (συντέλεια) of the heavens of the chaos and their powers" betrays the theological concern and the terminological usage of the author in the term συντέλεια.15 Thus, at least this second purpose clause stems from the hand of the redactor.

In the final section concerning the separation into right and left, NatArch 95(143).31-34 again exhibits the earlier stage of the tradition. It is consistent with the preceding account that Life and the angel that cast laldabaoth into Tartarus are scated at the right and left. The right was then called Life and the left became a type of unrighteousness. On the other hand, OnOrgWld 106(154),11-18 begins with a contradiction. Faith-Wisdom is said to separate Sabaoth from the darkness (line 11f), although he has previously already been snatched up by the seven archangels (104[152],19-21). One notes also in the phrase "from the darkness" the hand of the redactor. Thirdly, introduction of the motif of righteousness appears as a slight interruption in the narrative since it has not been previously mentioned. Further, the term is significant for the author of OnOrgWld, since the righteousness is later said to fashion Paradise (110[158], 2-13) within which grows the olive tree which will cleanse the kings and high priests of righteousness (111[159].2ff).

¹⁵ Cf. supra, n. 12.

In conclusion, then, NatArch exhibits the earlier form of the tradition, which is common to it and to OnOrgWld. In the two interruptions in sequence—the giving of the name and the instruction of Sabaoth—NatArch preserves the earlier form. OnOrgWld, on the other hand, shows clearly a greater number of internal contradictions and redactional touches and thus must be deemed the later form of the tradition. In the following chapters, then, we shall exegete first the Sabaoth account in NatArch and then that in OnOrgWld in order to understand more precisely the motifs which are used, the traditions which are drawn upon, and the functions which are assigned to these Sabaoth accounts.

CHAPTER THREE

THE SABAOTH ACCOUNT IN NATARCH

A. Exegesis

In NatArch the Sabaoth account is set within the revelation discourse of the Angel Eleleth to Norea. The discourse itself follows the pattern:

- 1) a mountain is the scene of the revelation 92(140).14
- 2) the appearance of the revealing angel from heaven 93(141).2-3
- 3) his self-presentation 93(141).6-10, 19
- 4) the revelations occur mainly in question and answer form 93(141).32ff

In response to the request of Norea that he teach her about the authorities—their capacity, their matter, and their creator—he reveals the myth of Wisdom (94[142].4ff). Imperishability exists above in the infinite aeons. Ultimately, because Wisdom desired to fashion a product alone, there came forth a shadow which became matter. From this matter the Demiurge took shape. For his blasphemy the Demiurge laldabaoth is at first rebuked by a voice from above (94[142].23ff). He then builds a great aeon and begets seven offspring (94[142].34ff). Because of his second blasphemy, he is cast into Tartarus (95[143].4ff). The Sabaoth account then follows, after which laldabaoth begets envy and thereby enables all of the heavens of chaos to be filled (96 [144].3ff). Then the angel Eleleth responds to questions of Norea as to whether she belongs to matter and how long a time must pass (96[144].17ff).

Within this discourse and within the presentation of the myth itself, the Sabaoth account forms a distinct unit. Since Sabaoth is presented as a child of Ialdabaoth, this unit is tied with what precedes it; and yet the focus of interest is now different—Sabaoth rather than Ialdabaoth. The unit closes when Ialdabaoth returns as the center of interest in 96(144).3.

¹ In this particular revelation discourse, the revelation is not accompanied by signs of the ophany nor is there a curse formula at the end, as one might expect (cf. the description of the pattern by H. Koester in H. Koester and J. M. Robinson, *Trajectories Through Early Christianity* [Philadelphia 1971] 194-95).

1. The Repentance of Sabaoth 95(143).13-18

пецфире де са 14 вашо птарециау атдунаніс ппаг 15 гелос етпиау ацметаноєї ацёка 16 тагеїншске ппецеїшт нії тецнааў

17 булн ацсіхане єрос ацёгуннеї де

18 еграї етсофіа ауш тесшеере пишн

Now (δέ) when his offspring
Sabaoth saw the force (δύναμις) of
that angel (ἄγγελος), he repented (μετανοείν) and
condemned (καταγινώσκειν) his father, and his
mother,

matter (ἥλη). He loathed (σικχαίνειν) her. But he sang songs of praise (ὑμνεῖν) up

to Wisdom (σοφία) and her daughter Life (ζωή).

The particle δέ links this new section with the preceding material. Sabaoth is here presented as one of the seven offspring of Ialdabaoth (95[143].2-3, 11), who represent the seven planets of astrology.² Unlike OnOrgWld 101(149).21 ff and Iren. Adv. haer. 1. 30, the names of the other offspring are not given. Although there is no hint within this section itself that Sabaoth is androgynous, all of the offspring have previously been identified as such (95[143].3). In the clause, "when he saw the strength of that angel," the author then refers to the previously related punishment of Ialdabaoth (lines 10-13) as the motive for the repentance of Sabaoth.

In this pericope as well as in the tractate as a whole, Ialdabaoth emerges from the conflation of three figures: that of the God of the OT, the leader of the fallen angels and the god 'Ôlam. First of all, Ialdabaoth is clearly identified as the God of the OT. In his mouth there is placed the claim of Yahweh to be the only God, a claim found in Deut 4:35 and 32:39 and frequently in 2 Isa (e.g. 43:10f; 44:6; 45:5f, 18, 21f; 46:9; cf. also Exod 20:5 and Joel 2:27). Here the claim is considered as blasphemy and bespeaks the devaluation of that OT God.

Secondly, Ialdabaoth is also clearly identified as the leader of the fallen angels. He is called Samael (94[142].25), a name which is given to one of the fallen angels and/or their leader in the intertestamental literature and the Targumim (e.g. as the angel of death in TargPs-Jon on Gen 3:6; as a tempter in Mart Isa 1:8, 11f; 2:1ff; and as the equal to Satan in Asc Isa 2:1 and 3 Bar 4:8). Further, motifs that are

² Cf. Bullard, Hypostasis of the Archons, 103-07.

¹ This same adscription is given to God at Quintan IQS 11 18; IQH 7:32; 10:9, 12:10

⁴ Cf. W. Bousset and H. Gressmann, *Die Religion des Judeniums*, 4te Aufl. (HzNT 21; Tübingen 1966) 254, n. t. In Iren. *Adv. haer*. 1.30.9 the serpent cast down is called Michael and Samael (ed. W. W. Harvey 1857; reprint Ridgewood 1965; I. 236).

appropriate to the leader of the fallen angels are applied to him. His sin, for example, is that of blasphemous rebellion (94[142].21 ff and 95[143].4ff). In late Jewish tradition, the fall of the angels was originally associated with Gen 6:1-4 and the benê 'elîm, who took to wife the daughters of men; but their sin was that of lust for women and the revelation of the heavenly secrets (1 Enoch 6:2; 9:6f). Subsequently, because of influence from the tradition about Lucifer the sin was considered as blasphemous rebellion. In its origin, the tradition about Lucifer derives from that of Athtar of ancient Canaanite myth, who attempted to fill the throne of Baal but was found inadequate and therefore had to descend and rule in the underworld, just as the morning star retreats before the rising sun. 5 Isa 14:12-20 uses this tradition in its taunt against the king of Babylon and brings out the blasphemy in verse 14b: "I will make myself like the Most High" (cf. Ezek 28).6 This same tradition is then applied to the rebellion of the leader of the fallen angels in Vita Adae et Evae 15:2f, as Michael speaks to the devil:

And Michael saith, "Worship the image of God but if thou wilt not worship him, the Lord God will be wrath with thee." And I said, "If He be wrath with me, I will set my seat above the stars of heaven and will be like the Highest."

Again this tradition occurs in 2 Enoch 29:41 (Rec. A):

And one from out of the order of angels, having turned away with the order that was under him, conceived an impossible thought, to place his throne higher than the clouds above the earth, that he might become equal in rank to my power. And I threw him out from the height.

It was but a short step for the gnostic then to change this rebellious assertion from the claim to be equal to God to the claim to be the only God. In particular, as the God of the OT was devalued, this step was

⁵ L. R. Clapham, Sanchuniathon: The First Two Cycles (Ph.D. diss., Harvard University 1969) 150-53. He draws principally here upon Ugaritic Text 6.1 (49.1).

^{*} Clapham. Sanchuniathon, 152f. The otherwise helpful articles of W. Förster are deficient in that they do not take into account the Ras Shamra material: G. von Rad and W. Förster, διάβολος, TDNT 2 (1964) 71-81; W. Förster, σατανᾶς TDNT 7 (1971) 151-63.

⁷ Text in W. Meyer, "Vita Adae et Evae," *Abhandl phil-philol. Classe Akad. Wiss.* 14 (Munich 1878) 226. Translation from R. H. Charles, *APOT* 2, 137.

^{*} APOT 2 447 In Apoc Abr 14; 2 Fnoch 7/3 (Rec. A); and 2 Enoch 18:3 the mont of rebellion is present, but the blasphenious desire to be equal to or higher than God is not present; in Asc Isa 4:1-8 Beliar uses the claim, which appears in the mouth of laldabaoth in gnostic writings. Cf. also Bousset. Die Religion des Judeniums, 1335.

made easier by considering the Yahwistic claim "to be the only God" as the blasphemy itself.

In reference to the origin of Gnosticism, we note that this motif of the blasphemous rebellion of the leader of the fallen angels derives not from the OT but from later Judaism. Further, this motif cannot be said to have influenced or to have been derived from the NT, since it is lacking there.⁹

A further motif appropriate to the leader of the fallen angels is that he is "bound and cast into Tartarus" (95[143].11 f). Frequently in the intertestamental literature, the leader of the fallen angels is portrayed as bound and cast into the abyss, e.g. 1 Enoch 88:1:

And I saw one of those four who had come forth first, and he seized that first star which had fallen from the heaven, and bound it hand and foot and cast it into an abyss.¹⁰

Bullard in his commentary has correctly noted that Tartarus in this context is somewhat strange. ¹¹ Usually, the fallen angels are kept in a place of internment (e.g. the desert in 1 Enoch 10:4 or the abyss in Jub 5:5f; 10:7-9; 1 Enoch 14:5; 88:3) and only at the end of time are they cast into the lower part of the abyss, the place of punishment (e.g. 1 Enoch 21:7-10; 90:24ff). However, the prior consignment of the fallen angels to Gehenna or Tartarus is not completely unattested. It occurs in the hymn of chapter 60 of Ps.-Philo's *Liber Antiquitatum Biblicarum*, a hymn which shows such close affinities to gnostic language (vv. 2f):

There were darkness and silence before the world was, and the silence spoke, and the darkness became visible. And then was thy name created, even at the drawing together of that which was stretched out, whereof the upper was called heaven and the lower was called earth. And it was commanded to the upper that it should rain according to its season, and to the lower that it should bring forth food for man that should be made. And after that was the tribe of your spirits made. Now therefore, be not injurious, whereas thou are a second creation, but if not, then remember Hell (lit. be mindful of Tartarus) wherein thou walkedst. Or is it not enough for thee to hear that by that which resoundeth before thee I sing unto man? Or forgettest thou that out of a rebounding echo in the abyss (or chaos) thy creation was born?¹²

W Förster, σατανάς, TDNT 7 (1971) 156-58

¹⁰ R. H. Charles, The Book of Enoch, 2d ed. (Oxford 1912) 189

¹¹ Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 109

¹² Text in G. Kisch, *Pseudo Philo's Liber Antiquitatum Biblicarum* (Publications in Medieval Studies 10; Indiana 1961) 261. Translation from M.R. James, *The Biblical Antiquities of Philo* (New York 1917) 232-33. Marc Philonenko ("Remarques sur un

As a final motif, the motif that from him comes death is also appropriate to the leader of the fallen angels. ¹³ As we previously mentioned, Samael can also be considered as the angel of death. Of course, the difference is that in this gnostic text death is considered as an offspring of Ialdabaoth.

Lastly, the figure of Ialdabaoth arises from the tradition concerning the god 'Olam/Aiōn of ancient Canaanite theogonic myth. In a recent dissertation L. R. Clapham has demonstrated the reliability of the account of Sanchuniathon, translated by Philo Byblos and preserved in Eusebius' Praeparatio evangelica 1.10, for reconstructing ancient Canaanite theogonic myth. He has been able to do so by an examination of new material—the Ras Shamra tablets, a newly-found Babylonian theogony, the Hittite myths, the Sefire treaty the Sefire treaty the theogonic witnesses to covenant lawsuits, e.g. Mic 6:2a.

In the ancient Canaanite myths there is to be distinguished first of all the theogonic myth from the cosmogonic myth.¹⁸ In the former the origin of the gods is presented and the myth is characterized by the language of procreation, by pairs whose names are abstract or natural opposites, and by gods whose abode is now the netherworld. They are the old gods, the dead gods, whose influence nevertheless is still felt in this world. In the latter type of myth the conflict or war is presented from which the victory of life and order comes. These are the younger or executive gods, whose cult is at present observed. Conflict among the gods can occur between the succeeding

hymn essènien de caractère gnostique," Semitica 11 [1961] 43-54) has argued that the hymn is both Essene and gnostic. However, he has only succeeded in showing an affirmty of language between the hymn and Gnosticism.

¹³ Cf. Bousset, Die Religion des Judentums, 253, n. 2.

¹⁴ L.R. Clapham, Sanchuniathon: The First Two Cycles.

¹⁵ W.G. Lambert and P. Walcot, "A New Babylonian Theogony and Hesiod," *Kadmos* 4 (1965) 64-72. The tablets date from the 7th-4th c. B.C. according to the authors.

¹⁶ Especially the works of H. G. Guterbock: Kumarh: Mythen von churritischen Kronos, aus den hethitischen Fragmenten zusammengestell, übersetzt und erklärt, (Istanbuler Schriften, No. 16; Zürich-New York 1946); "The Hutte Version of the Hutrian Kumarbi Myths: Oriental Forerunners of Hestod," AJA 52 (1948) 123-34; "The Song of Ullikummi: Revised Text of the Hittite Version of a Hurian Myth," JCS 5 (1951) 135-61; 6 (1952) 8-42. These Hittite tablets date from 1400-1200 B.C.

¹⁷ J.A. Fitzmyer, *The Aramaic Inscriptions of Sofire* (Rome 1967). The three steles and the treaties upon them date from the 8th c. B.C.

¹⁸ I am indebted in what follows to the as yet unpublished paper of F. M. Cross, Jr., "Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic." Cf. also his book Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic. Essays in the History of the Religion of Israel (Cambridge 1973) 40-43.

generations in the theogony or between the younger gods and the old gods - especially between the head of the younger gods and the old gods. When the old gods are bound and cast into the netherworld, the victory for the young gods and for life and order is achieved.

In Canaanite myth then one can reconstruct that the promordial pair consisted of the East Wind (Qodm) and Chaos (Bahot). From the desire and union of East Wind with Chaos there resulted the second pair *'Olamu and *'Olamtu, the masculine and feminine forms of the epithet "Ancient" or "Eternal." In Greek the term is translated as Aion and can be seen, for example, in Euseb. Praep. evang. 1.10.7:

Then, he says, there was begotten of the wind Kolpia (κολπία) and his wife Baau (βάαυ) (this, he explains, is Night) Aion. 19

The final pair of the theogony then was Heaven and Earth. Thereupon the cosmogonic gods, El, Dagon (Baal) and Ashtarte followed.

In this gnostic text the similarity in basic principles to the Canaanite myth is striking. Wisdom takes the place of East Wind (94[142].5). However, this is not surprising in the light of late Jewish presentation of Wisdom as a spirit (e.g. Wis 1:6f; 7:22-24) and of gnostic exeges of the ruth of Gen 1, e.g. ApocryJn BG 44:19-45:10:

Then the mother began (ἄρχεσθαι) to move (ἐπιφέρεσθαι) when she knew her fault, that her partner (σύζυγος) had not agreed (συμφονεῖν) with her when she was damaged (ψέγειν) in her fulness.

But (δέ) I said, "Christ, what is to move (ἐπιφέρεσθαι)?"

But (δέ) he laughed. He said, "Do you think that it is as Moses said 'over the waters?' No!" ²⁰

¹⁴ Cf. Clapham, Sanchuniathon, 80ff for an analysis of this passage as well as the translation. In these pages Clapham follows the suggestion of Albright that ΚΟΛΠΙ is a corruption of ΚΟΔΜ, the figure of Canaanite myth; Baau he then derives from Bohu.

²⁰ Text from W.C. Till, Die gnostischen Schriften des koptischen Papyrus Berolinensis 8502 (1U 60), Berlin 1955) 128-31, et. CG II, 1, 13-13-21, CG IV, 1: 20.29-21.8; in CG III, 1 pages 19 and 20, where this account would appropriately fall, are missing. Cf. also the identification of Wisdom and the Spirit in the Barbelognostics in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.29.4 (ed. Harvey 1, 225). Cf. also O. Betz, "Was am Anfang Geschah," Abraham unser Vater: Festschrift für Otto Michel, ed. O. Betz, M. Hengel and P. Schmidt (Leiden 1963) 34-39.

The second principle is the shadow, which became matter and equals chaos. Because of Wisdom's will or desire, from that chaos comes Ialdabaoth (94[142].4-95[143].11).

As Clapham has pointed out, the name Ialdabaoth probably comes from two parts, *Ialda* and *baoth*, which mean "son of chaos." *Ialda* then would come from the root *yld* with a frozen accusative ending upon it and *baoth* would come from the same root as biblical $b\bar{o}h\hat{u}$. Originally the form of $b\bar{o}h\hat{u}$ was *buhwu in Hebrew or *bahwu in Phoenician. By the process of normal vowel development in Phoenician, the final short vowel would be dropped and the first vowel *a would be lengthened by stress to \bar{o} to produce $b\bar{o}hw\rangle b\bar{o}h\hat{u}$. Similarly, baoth in the gnostic name probably represents the feminine form of the same noun: *bahwatu\bahwat\ba

Lastly, laldabaoth is overcome and cast into the netherworld (95[143]. 11-13). In the Greek mythology, which is dependent upon the Semitic myths,²² the old gods are bound and cast into the netherworld, which is explicitly identified as Tartarus, e.g. Hes. *Theog.* 713-35, 850-68.²³ Therefore, laldabaoth in this gnostic document is formed from the fusion of three figures. Or, better said, the God of the OT has been devalued by identifying him with the evil leader of the fallen angels and with the old, dead god laldabaoth and thereby presented as the source of this evil world.²⁴

Before we can rest with this assertion, it is necessary to consider the possibility of influence from Canaanite myth upon a gnostic document because of the obvious and lengthy time span involved. First of all, it must be said that the myths were still known in the Graeco-Roman period. Philo Byblos lived from A.D. 64-140. Further elements of Canaanite myth are also preserved by Damascius in *De princ*. 125.3 and attributed to Mochus and Eudemus. ²⁵ Secondly, recent studies have focused on the recrudescence of myth in apocalyptic. P. Hanson, for example, has shown the resurgence of Canaanite myth

²¹ Clapham, Sanchuniathon, 39ff.

²² Cf. Lambert and Walcot, "A New Babylonian Theogony and Hesiod."

²³ Hesiod, "Theogony," *The Homeric Hymns and Homerica*, ed. and tr. H. G. Evelyn-White (LCL; Cambridge 1959) 130-33 and 140-43.

²⁴ Bullard's statement is thus true that this episode of the Demiurge is "the result of Jewish legend being worked into a previously existing myth" (*The Hypostasis of the Archons*, 50f). But it should be modified somewhat in that the myth itself is also adapted to the legend.

²⁵ Damascius, *Problèmes et Solutions touchant Les Premiers Principes*, trad. A.-Ed. Chaignet (reprint Bruxelles 1964) 2.129-30.

in 3 Isa and Zech 9.²⁶ Similarly, scholars have concluded to the ancient Canaanite myth concerning El and Baal as the most probable history-of-religions background to the Ancient of Days of the Son of Man in Dan 7.²⁷ Thirdly, on philological grounds the name Ialdabaoth derives from West Semitic lore. Fourthly, it is important to note that the genre is the same—a theogonic and cosmogonic myth. Lastly, just as the royal cult carried mythical elements which were used in apocalyptic, so the apocalyptic groups could have carried these same elements to the gnostics.²⁸ On these grounds it seems reasonable then to postulate that ancient Canaanite myth, transmitted over the centuries, has influenced this gnostic document.

It is necessary to note, however, that these myths not only re-surface but that they are also reformulated and re-applied and thus, to this extent, can be said to be secondary myth. As we mentioned previously, Wisdom takes the place of East Wind in relation to chaos. Further, as in the biblical transformation of the ancient cosmogonic myth, there is a first principle, the Great Invisible Spirit (93[141].21-22) or the Father (96[144].19-20), who is superior to Wisdom and chaos. Further, Wisdom is here considered as androgynous. Her desire then is not a hetero-sexual one for chaos; it is rather the aberrant will to make a work alone without her partner in the Ogdoad (94[142].6-7). The result of this errant desire is then matter, which is chaos and out of which Ialdabaoth proceeds. Next, it is Wisdom who by her angel defeats Ialdabaoth; he is not defeated by one of his own offspring or one of the younger gods as in Canaanite myth. We shall see the reapplication when we discuss the function of the Sabaoth account.

Recently, an alternate hypothesis to the preceding has been offered by G. Scholem.³¹ In his article he has criticized sharply those scholars

²⁶ P. Hanson, *The Dawn of Apocalisptic* (Philadelphia 1975); idem. "Jewish Apocalyptic Against its Near Eastern Environment," *RB* 78 (1971) 31-58; idem, "Old Testament Apocalyptic Reexamined," *Interpretation* 25 (1971) 454-79.

²⁷ J. A. Emerton, "The Origin of the Son of Man Imagery," JTS N.S. 9 (1958) 225-42; C. Colpe, δ υίος τοῦ ἀνθρώπου, TDNT 8 (1972) 400-30; F. M. Cross, Jr., Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic, Essays, 16-17.

²⁸ Hanson, "Jewish Apocalyptic Against its Near Eastern Environment," 34ff.

²⁹ Cf Jonas, "Delimitation of the Gnostic Phenomenon," Le Origini dello Gnosticismo. 100-01.

³⁰ For the significance of the myth of the androgyne, see M. Eliade, Mephistopheles and the Androgyne studies in Religious Myth and Symbol, tr. J. M. Cohen (New York 1965) 78-124.

[&]quot;G. Scholem, "Jaldabaoth Reconsidered," Mélanges d'Histoire des Religions offerts à Henri-Charles Puech (Paris 1974) 405-21.

who derive laldabaoth from "son of chaos." He accuses them of philological inexactness in deriving the terms from non-existent Hebrew or Aramaic words. He then notes that in the Nag Hammadi documents (e.g. NatArch and OnOrgWld) chaos is called the mother of Samael, but the name laldabaoth is not used in these pericopes, Lastly, Scholem proposed that Ialdabaoth derives from two terms: the Aramaic active participle valed meaning "to beget" and the personal name Abaoth which originated as an abridged form or substitute of Sabaoth and which was used in magical circles. Ialdabaoth then is the secret name of Samael and means "the begetter of [S]abaoth" or "the begetter of Abaoth." The name for Scholem is probably connected with the fact that laldabaoth creates six or seven powers in the gnostic sources. Of these Scholem contends that Sabaoth or Abaoth was important since he occupied the main role among the powers and since the word sums up all the powers. The tale of Sabaoth's repentance is also taken by Scholem as a sign of Sabaoth's importance.

In response, one should note that Scholem does not consider the possible Canaanite background or the philological analysis of Clapham, who has recourse to the Phoenician rather than Hebrew or Aramaic language. Here one must grant to Scholem that Clapham's analysis ultimately rests on a hypothetical feminine form of the noun. Secondly, while Scholem is correct in observing that the name laldabaoth is not used, for example in NatArch 87(135)6-8, it is still remarkable that the figure known ultimately as Samael/Saklas/Ialdabaoth is here associated with origin from chaos, i.e. a son of chaos. Thirdly, it is not clear that Sabaoth is the most important of the powers for all the gnostics. For some gnostics Adonaios can be the most important power (e.g. GrSeth CG VII, 2; cf. ch. 4). The repentance of Sabaoth also does not prove that Sabaoth is the main figure among the powers, if our interpretation of the Sabaoth passage is correct. Rather, Sabaoth's repentance answers a particular need in the late second century for some gnostics (see infra). Lastly, Scholem's proposal involves a play upon words whether Sabaoth or Abaoth was the term combined with yālēd. If Sabaoth was used, it is indeed conceivable that Sabaoth could function as both the personal name of one god and the plural noun for many powers or gods. But then the omission of the "S" in Sabaoth is to be explained in Ialdabaoth. If Abaoth was used, it is clear that Abaoth could function as the personal name of one god (as Scholem has demonstrated) but it is less clear that Abaoth

would have the further connotation of a plural noun for many powers or gods in the name laldabaoth. In conclusion, then, the origin of the name laldabaoth from the terms meaning "son of chaos" still seems to us the more likely hypothesis in accord with the interpretation of Clapham.

Sabaoth also arises from the conflation of three figures: those of the God of the OT, the leading angels, and the apocalyptic visionary. First of all, the name is clearly drawn from the OT God, Yahweh Sabaoth, as well as, of course, the portrayal of him upon a chariot of cherubim (Ezek 1, 10; Isa 6).

Secondly, the tradition concerning a leading angel, especially Michael, has influenced the figure of Sabaoth. In NatArch, Sabaoth is presented as a figure less than the high God who is against Satan (laldabaoth) from primordial time, enthroned, bears the name of the God of the OT, has power over chaos, and is the maker—and thus leader—of angels. In later Judaism similar features are ascribed to Michael or a leading angel. For example, Michael is the prince over Israel (Dan 10:13, 21; 12:1; 1 Enoch 20:5) and is the opponent of Satan—e.g. T Dan 6:1-4 (cf. NatArch 95[143].20ff):

And now, fear the Lord, my children, and beware of Satan and his spirits. Draw near unto God and unto the angel that intercedeth for you, for he is a mediator between God and man, and for the peace of Israel he shall stand up against the kingdom of the enemy. Therefore is the enemy eager to destroy all that call upon the Lord. For he knoweth that upon the day on which Israel shall repent, the kingdom of the enemy shall be brought to an end.³²

In the teaching of Qumran he is also the "Prince of Light," the "Spirit of Truth," who from primordial time is opposed to the "Prince of Darkness," and the "Spirit of Error" (1 QS 3:13-25). 33 He also appears at Qumran (1 QM 17:6-8), at least in the eschatological battle, as the angel who is installed in power over Satan, the Prince of Darkness (cf. NatArch 95[143].20ff):

³² Text in R. H. Charles, *The Greek Versions of the Testaments of the Twelve Patriarchs* (Darmstadt 1960) 140 and translation from Charles, *APOT* 2, 335. Cf. W. Lucken, *Michael* (Göttingen 1898) 24-30 (cf. also Adam and Eve 12-17).

[&]quot;For the identification of Michael as the Prince of Fight, cf. F. M. Cross, Jr., The Ancient Library of Quinran and Modern Biblical Studies (rev. ed. New York 1961) 210-16 and Y. Yadin, The Scroll of the War of the Sons of Light, tr. B. and C. Rabin (Oxford 1962), 235f and O. Betz, Der Paraklet (Arbeiten zur Geschichte des Spätjudentums und des Urchristentums 2, Leiden 1963) 64-69.

- 6. He will send eternal assistance to the lot to be redeemed by Him through the might of an angel: He hath magnified the authority of Michael through eternal light
- 7. to light up in joy the house of Israel, peace and blessing for the lot of God, so as to raise amongst the angels the authority of Michael and the dominion
- 8. of Israel amongst all flesh.34

Although Michael does not bear the name of the God of the OT, in late Judaism a leading angel can be so described. Thus the angel Yaoel appears in the Apoc Abr 10: "Go, Jaoel, and by means of my ineffable name raise me yonder man, and strengthen him (so that he recover) from his trembling." ³⁵ Further, the "lesser Yahweh" of 3 Enoch 12:5; 48C:7; 48D:1, 102 and *Pistis Sophia* 1. 7 both derive ultimately from Jewish speculation upon an angel bearing that name. ³⁶ However, it must be admitted that there is no evidence of a leading angel who bears the name of Sabaoth. ³⁷

Michael is lastly the master over chaos (1 Enoch 20:5; cf. NatArch 95[143].23-25) and leader of the angels (1 QM 17:7; cf. NatArch 95[143].28).³⁸ In conclusion, then, it seems clear that the figure of a leading angel, especially Michael, has contributed to the portrayal of Sabaoth in this account.

Thirdly, the figure of the apocalyptic visionary has influenced the portrayal of Sabaoth. Later, in considering the tradition underlying this pericope, we shall discuss in greater detail the terminology and the pattern of motifs within the tradition concerning the apocalyptic visionary. For the moment it can be summarily stated that in apocalyptic the seer is taken up, receives a vision of the divine throne and/or chariot, and is then given revelation concerning secret mysteries. The seer himself can also be installed in heaven in a position of authority (e.g. Enoch in 1 Enoch 69-71; cf. also 2 Enoch 20-22). In the related traditions concerning Moses, he can sit upon the divine throne (e.g. Ezekiel the Tragedian in Euseb. *Praep. evang.* 9.29) and also be called God and king (theos kai basileus, Philo De vita Mosis 1.158). Similarly,

³⁴ Yadin, The Scroll of the War, 340f.

³⁵ G. H. Box, The Apoculrpse of Abraham (London 1919) 46.

³⁶ Cf. Odeberg, 3 Enoch, 188-92 for discussion of the matter. The references to the "httle Yao" may be found in C. Schmidt-W.C. Till, Kopusch-gnosusche Schriften, 3. Aufl. (GCS 45, Berlin 1962).

[&]quot;However, cf. in Josh 5.14-15 the 'ar s'ha" YHW'H. This reference was pointed out to me by Professor Cross.

³⁸ Cf. Lueken, Michael, 32-43.

Sabaoth is taken up, placed in charge of the seventh heaven, receives the name God of the Forces, fashions his own chariot, and then receives a revelation from Life.

In conclusion, then, Sabaoth has been formed from these three figures. Or, perhaps again better said, in these gnostic documents the God of the OT has been split in two—into a father who is totally evil and into an offspring, who is rehabilitated through Wisdom.

To return to the text from these lengthy discussions of laldabaoth and Sabaoth, we note that since Sabaoth had seen the angel cast his father down to Tartarus (95[143].10-15), he repented. In this context, the "strength of that angel" serves to terrify Sabaoth, to instill fear in him. Here, then, "to repent" (μετανοεῖν) is used in the sense familiar to Diaspora Judaism of a religio-ethical conversion, a change in one's relation to God.³⁹ In this case, however, there is no sin on the part of Sabaoth but rather his turning away from the blasphemous claim of laldabaoth and his turning toward Wisdom.

Besides repenting, Sabaoth condemned his father, namely, Ialdabaoth (95[143].20.40 Further, matter is identified as his mother and equally condemned as hostile to the heavenly realm. The metaphor that "matter is a mother" is not present in the OT or NT. However, in Plato's *Timaeus* within the universe the principle which receives forms is described as Μητήρ τοῦ γεγονότος (51A) and also as τιθήνη (49A and 52D).⁴¹ Then, Philo in a section alluding to the *Timaeus* draws upon this metaphor and identifies the receptive principle as matter. He utilizes the metaphor in De ebrietate 61 in an ethical context, in which he allegorically discusses the soul. Noticeable here, however, is the depreciation of matter as something negative. In sections 56-64 Philo is treating of the soul (ψυχή) and its relation with apparent goods. He admires the soul that confesses that it cannot withstand these but praises the mind (διάνοια), such as Sarah, who has no part with the mother's side and has only male parentage (Gen 20:12). Then in section 61 Philo describes Sarah in these words:

³⁹ Instead of ἐπιστρέφειν, μετανοεῖν becomes the translation equivalent of the OT and in the later translations of the OT and in the later translations and/or compositions of the apocrypha and pseudepigrapha. Cf. J. Behm and E. Würtheim, μετανοέω, μετάνοια, *I DNT* 4 (1967) 989-95.

⁴⁰ Although the term καταγινώσκειν is rare in the LXX, it occurs at Deut 25:1 in the sense of courtroom condemnation

⁴¹ Plato, *Timaeus*, tr. R. G. Bury (LCL; Cambridge 1966) 112-13, 118-19, and 124-25.

She is not born of that material substance perceptible to our senses, ever in a state of formation and dissolution, the material ($\ddot{\upsilon}\lambda\eta$) which is called mother ($\mu\eta\tau\dot{\eta}\rho$) or foster-mother or nurse of created things by those in whom first the young plant of wisdom grew; she is born of the Father and Cause of all things.⁴²

Similarly, in Leg all 2.51, when speaking about Levi, Philo uses this same metaphor of matter as a mother but in this case with the mind (vous) considered as the father. Here it should also be noted that Levi leaves both father and mother since his portion is God. Philo writes:

This man forsakes his father and mother ($\mu\eta\tau\dot{\eta}\rho$), his mind and material ($\ddot{\theta}\lambda\eta$) body, for the sake of having as his portion the one God, "for the Lord himself is his portion" (Deut 10.9).⁴³

Although this metaphor of "matter as a mother" then is not ultimately from Judaism, its usage by Philo indicates that its presence in this gnostic document could be mediated through Jewish circles.

Next. Sabaoth is said to loathe (σικχαίνειν) his mother matter.⁴⁵ Then, in contrast, he is said to sing songs of praise up to Wisdom and her daughter Life. Usually in the OT it is God who is the object of praise, except for Prov 1:20 and 8:3 where Wisdom in the LXX is praised.⁴⁶ In this change in object from the usual, one sees in miniature the significance of Wisdom for Gnosticism.⁴⁷ Further, if in fact the Sabaoth account derives mainly from apocalyptic literature, we already see mirrored in this pericope a contributing factor to the rise of Gnosticism—the combination of wisdom and apocalyptic traditions.

⁴² Philo, *De ebrietate* 61, ed. L. Cohn and P. Wendland (Berlin 1897) 2. 181; translation F. H. Colson and G. H. Whitaker, LCL (1960) 3, 349.

⁴³ Text in Cohn-Wendland, 1, 100 and translation from LCL (1962) 1, 257,

⁴⁴ Cf. also NatArch 94(142).12-18 in which matter is also considered as feminine and produces the abortion, who is laldabaoth. I am grateful to B. Layton for refining my understanding of these passages.

⁴⁵ The term σικχαίνειν does not appear in the LXX, Philo, or NT but does appear in the transation of Aquila.

⁴⁶ The Hebrew pn "to cry out" is rendered passively so that Wisdom is praised. Cf. G. Delling, ῦμνος κτλ, TDNT 8 (1972) 493-98. Also in the NT it is God who is either explicitly or implicitly the object of praise (Matt 26:30; Mark 14:26; Acts 16:25; Heb 2:12).

⁴⁷ Cf. U. Wilckens, σοφία, TDNT 7 (1971) 509, who writes that the Wisdom myth belongs to the basic foundation of the gnostic systems. However, this remark is appropriate only to certain systems based on a female principle within the Jewish and Christian forms of Gnosticism; cf. the systems based on a male principle in Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, I. 335-51.

2. The Ascent and Enthronement of Sabaoth 95(143).19-25

19 ауш атсофіа ни хшн торпц єзраї ац

20 кабіста йноц едії тнегсаціце йпє 21 пса мпітії йпкатапетасна оуте

22 пса нтпе нн пса нпітн ауш ауноу

23 те егод же пноуте ппаунаніс са

24 вашо же едипса нтпе ппаунаміс

25 ппхаос же атсофіа каніста пноч

And Wisdom and Life caught him up and gave him charge (καθιστάναι) of the seventh heaven below the veil (καταπέτασμα) between Above and Below. And they called 48

him God of the Forces (δύναμις) Sabaoth, because it is above the Forces (δύναμις) of

the Chaos (χύος) that he is because Wisdom put him in charge (κυθιστάναι).

Now that Sabaoth has repented and praised Wisdom and Life, they catch him up and place him in charge of the seventh heaven, where he is given a divine name and later fashions a chariot for himself and receives instruction concerning the eighth heaven. When we ask what tradition or traditions lie behind this material, the answer must be that two traditions from Judaism have been conflated here: the tradition concerning the apocalyptic visionary and the tradition concerning heavenly enthronement.

We begin with the tradition concerning the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary. First of all, we note that the term "to catch up" or "to snatch up" (τωρπ ερρλι άρπάζειν)⁴⁹ is used in apocalyptic contexts for the translation to heaven (e.g. Enoch in Wis 4:11; Adam in Apoc Mos 37) or for the mystic rapture of the visionary (e.g. Paul in 2 Cor 12:2, 4).⁵⁰ Next, as for the chariot and instruction or revelation by Life, ultimately the material derives from the prophets Ezekiel (1, 10 and 43:3) and Isaiah (6), who have a vision of the divine chariot (πρμα) and/or throne (πρμα). But, then, within apocalyptic Judaism, the visionary is first snatched up or taken up, given a vision of the divine throne and/or chariot and then provided with a revelation concerning secret mysteries. For example, in 1 Enoch, Enoch in his dream vision is lifted up into heaven by the winds (14:8) and brought into a house within a house where he saw "a lofty throne: its

⁴⁸ The active translation "they called him" seems to me preferable to the passive translation "he is called" proposed by Layton, since the other verbs in the pericope are active, since the tense is perfect, since Wisdom and Life are available as the subjects and since the giving of the name seems to be part of the enthronement scene. If the verb were to be translated as "he is called," I should think that one would expect a present tense as in the clause "since he is up above the Forces of chaos."

⁴⁹ Cl. W.E. Crimi, A Coptic Dictionary (Oxford 1962) 440b.

⁵⁰ See also I Thess 4.17 and Rev 12:5 Cf. W. Förster, ἀρπαζω, TDNT 1 (1964) 472-73. Note that in Wis 4:11 the verb refers not to the death (sic Förster 472, n. 2) but to the translation of Enoch.

appearance was as crystal, and the wheels thereof as the shining sun; and there was the vision of cherubim" (14:18).51 As in Ezechiel, the association here of wheels and a throne indicates that the motifs of chariot and throne have been united. Enoch then receives revelation first in the form of audition. He is charged to bring the word of the Lord to the Watchers (14:24-16:4). Then he receives revelation in the form of vision and interpretation. He is taken through the cosmos and through Sheol in order to see the hidden places and treasuries, while the angel accompanying him explains all to him (17-36). Similarly, in the T Levi, in a dream-vision Levi ascends to heaven at the bidding of an angel (2:7). As he ascends through the three heavens their contents are revealed to him and explained by the accompanying angel (2:8-3:10). Upon arriving at the highest heaven, he is given a vision of the Most High upon his throne of glory (5:1). Then Levi receives the revelation that is more important for this document: "Levi, I have given thee the blessings of the priesthood until I come and sojourn in the midst of Israel" (5:2; cf. 8:2-19; 14:7; 16:1; 17-18).⁵² Again in 2 Enoch, Enoch is taken up by angels (3:1) through the various heavens (3:2-19:6). Through vision and audition the contents of these heavens are revealed to him by the angels. Then finally he beholds the throne of the Lord and the glory of his face (20-22). Enoch himself is then transformed from his earthly garments (22:4-12). He is instructed first by the angel Pravuil or Vretil (23:1-6); then, after being seated at the left of the Lord near Gabriel, he is given the major revelation as he is instructed by the Lord concerning the origins of the cosmos (24-33).

Also in Apoc Abr one finds this pattern. In c. 15 Abraham is taken up by an angel and given a vision of the divine throne and chariot (17-18):

"And as I stood alone and looked, I saw behind the living creatures a chariot with fiery wheels, each wheel full of eyes round about; and over the wheels was a throne; which I saw, and this was covered with fire, and fire encircled it round about, and lo an indescribable fire environed a fiery host. And I heard its holy voice like the voice of a man." ⁵³

In both vision and instruction by the Lord, the universe and also the history of mankind are then revealed to Abraham (19-29). Interestingly enough, for our purposes, the vision of mankind consists of multitudes of people on the right and multitudes on the left (21-22, 27). The

¹¹ Charles, APOT, 2, 197.

⁵² Charles, APOT, 2, 307.

⁵³ Box, The Apocalypse of Abraham, 63.

history of the world is then told from this perspective with those of the right representing the people of God and those of the left representing the nations (21-29), some of whom are to be saved, and some damned (22).

Likewise in Test Abr this pattern is discernible. Abraham is lifted up by Michael into the heavens (10, Rec. A; 8, Rec. B) and receives a vision of a throne. However, here there are two thrones, one for Adam (11, Rec. A; 8, Rec. B) and one for Abel (12-13, Rec. A; cf. also 11, Rec. B, where the second throne, however, is not explicitly mentioned). Also through vision and through the instruction of Michael a revelation is given to Abraham, especially about the judgment of souls after death (11-14, Rec. A; 8-12, Rec. B). Again, for our purpose, it is important to note that there is an angel on the right who represents the righteous and an angel on the left who represents the wicked (12-14, Rec. A). From these two late pieces of apocalyptic literature, Apoc Abr and Test Abr, one can conclude that the motif of separation into right and left became incorporated as a final part of this tradition concerning the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary in late Judaism.

As one considers this pattern of the ascent of the apocalyptic seer, his vision of the throne/chariot and reception of revelation, it is important to note that there are variations. The seer may behold not only God upon his throne but also some other important figure upon a throne (e.g. Adam or Abel in Test Abr 11-12, Rec. A). Secondly, the seer himself may be transformed into one like an angel and seated in heaven (Enoch in 2 Enoch 22). Or the seer may be himself installed in a position of power, i.e. enthroned (e.g. Enoch in 1 Enoch 69-71). The revelation may then consist in a vision of the judgment that is given by the enthroned figure (e.g. Test Abr 11-12, Rec. A). Lastly,

⁵⁴ This same pattern can be found in Christian apocalyptic material. For example, in Rev John ascends (4:1), sees the throne (4:2-11) and then receives revelation by vision and audition (5:1-22:7). In Asc Isa after Isaiah ascends (7:2f), he sees the praise of the Lord but not the glory of the Lord itself (10:1-3) and then receives the revelation concerning the future descent of Christ into the world, his life and death and reascent (10:7-11:36).

⁵⁵ Box dates the Apoc Abr between the fall of Jerusalem and the early decades of the second century (*The Apocalypse of Abraham*, XVI) and the Text Abr in its original form to the first half of the first century A.D. (G. H. Box, *The Testament of Abraham*, London 1927, XXVIII). Schmidt dates the short recension of Test Abr to the same period and proposes the first half of the second century A.D. for the longer recension (F. Schmidt, *Le Testament d'Abraham*, Diss. Strasbourg 1971, 1. 119-20).

the judgment upon men may be made in terms of a distinction between right and left (e.g. Apoc Abr 21-39; Test Abr 12-14, Rec. A).

It is clear then that the Sabaoth account draws upon this tradition of the ascent of the apocalyptic seer. The terminology is the same (τωρπ εζρλι/ἀρπάζειν, ἄρμα). The sequence of motifs is the same: ascent, the chariot/throne, revelation by instruction and the separation into right and left. Here Sabaoth not only ascends but is also installed in a position of power. As we have seen, the variety within the tradition of the apocalyptic seer also provides examples of this possibility.

While the main and direct influence upon the Sabaoth account derives then from apocalyptic literature, we would not exclude but rather include further influence from Diaspora Judaism. Specifically, some traditions concerning Moses, which are themselves related to the traditions found in apocalyptic literature, portray Moses as seated upon God's own throne (Ezekiel the Tragedian in Euseb. *Praep. evang.* 9.29) and given the name of God and king (Philo *De vita Mosis* 1.158). However, in these passages the reference is to a throne rather than chariot and there is no mention of separation into right and left.

Specifically new in the Sabaoth account are the context of time (i.e. as the origin of the universe), the application of this tradition to the son of the Demiurge rather than to a mortal, his repentance prior to ascent, and the fashioning of rather than simply the vision of the chariot. Also new is the fact that Wisdom and Life take Sabaoth aloft rather than an angel or angels as in apocalyptic literature (e.g. Apoc Abr 15). Again, in this alteration we see in miniature the confluence of the wisdom and apocalyptic traditions.

After his ascent, Sabaoth is placed in charge of the seventh heaven. In translating the phrase as "installed him over the seventh heaven," Bullard 56 has failed to see that underlying the Coptic usage κλθι СΤΗΜΙ εχη is the Greek idiom καθίστημι ἐπί "to place in charge of." 57

⁵⁶ Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 37.

³⁷ καθίστημι appears frequently in the Hellenistic period in the sense of "to place in charge of," or "to set in an office" or "to install" (cf. W. Bauer, Griechisch-deutsches Wörterbuch zu den Schriften des Neuen Testaments und der übrigen urchristlichen Literatur, 5. Aufl. (Berlin 1958) 771. The verb can be used absolutely with only an accusative object, e.g. Tit 1:5, but appears more frequently with the preposition ἐπί (cf. A. Oepke, καθίστημι, TDNT 3 [1965] 444-47). This idiom καθίστημι ἐπί is then rendered as καθίστημι ἐπι is then frendered as καθίστημι ἐπι is the Sahidic NT at Matt 25:21. Besides installation as king, e.g. Ps 2:6 LXX, the term can apply to other offices (e.g. high priest 1 Macc 10:22 LXX) or responsibilities (e.g. Matt 25:21).

Subsequently Sabaoth will receive a name, fashion a chariot, and henceforth have the right hand called life and the left hand called unrighteousness.

It seems to us that the Sabaoth account here conflates the tradition concerning heavenly enthronement with that of the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary. When Sabaoth is placed in charge of the seventh heaven, he is installed as king although he is not given the title. We shall see that Sabaoth then functions to rule over those who are not gnostics, while the gnostics belong to the "kingless race" (97[145].4-5).

Recent studies, especially those of P. Hanson, have strikingly illuminated the myth and ritual pattern which underlies enthronement material in Judaism. ⁵⁰ Basically the myth relates that in response to a threat the divine warrior appears, defeats his enemies, returns to assume his kingship which is evidenced in the building of his temple, and then manifests his reign. Within the Mesopotamian realm

In the NT καθίστημι also appears frequently in the same senses noted above. However, it does not occur in the scenes of heavenly enthronement (e.g. Phil 2:9 ὑπεροψοῦν; Eph 1:22 ὑποτάσσειν; δίδωμι κεφαλήν; Heb 1:3 καθίζειν ἐν δεξιῷ).

⁵⁸ By heavenly enthronement, I mean installation in heaven in royal power, whether in fact the person sits on a throne or not. For the sake of terminological clarity, I also follow the distinctions of G.W.E. Nickelsberg, Jr., who writes: "Hereafter, I use 'exaltation' to mean exaltation to authority, 'assumption' to mean the translation of the soul or spirit to heaven immediately upon death, and 'ascension' and 'elevation' to mean a literal going up to heaven, with no specification of time (before death, immediately after death, or at the time of a future resurrection)." His remarks are found in Resurrection, Immortality, and Eternal Life in Intertestamental Judaism (HTS 26; Cambridge 1972) 82, n. 134. To this list of terms one should also add "installation of a prophet" as the transfer of authority to the prophet. It would be further helpful to distinguish not only the terms but also the traditions of enthronement, installation as prophet, and exaltation. Besides over-utilization of Mesopotamian parallels and under-utilization of Canaanite material, the basic flaw, for example, in Geo Widengren's book The Ascension of the Apostle and the Heavenly Book (Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis 7; Uppsala 1950) is the failure in the period of the classical prophets to distinguish installation of a prophet from enthronement of a king. In this regard, he is followed by J. P. Schultz, "Angelic Opposition to the Ascension of Moses and the Revelation of the Law," JQR 61 (1971) 282-308. On the installation of a prophet, see F. M. Cross, Jr., "The Council of Yahweh in Second Isaiah," JNES 12 (1953) 274-77; G. E. Wright, "The Lawsuit of God: A Form Critical Study of Deuteronomy 32," Israel's Prophetic Heritage: Essays in Honor of James Mullenhurg, ed. B. W. Anderson and W. Harrelson (New York 1962) 41-43; K. Baltzer, "Considerations Regarding the Office and Calling of the Prophet," HTR 61 (1968) 567-81. For the tradition of exaltation, particularly in some intertestamental texts, see Nickelsberg, Resurrection, Immortality and Eternal Life.

⁵⁰ P. Hanson, *The Dawn of Apocalyptic*; idem, "Jewish Apocalyptic Against its Near Eastern Environment"; idem, "The Old Testament Apocalyptic Reexamined."

the classical statement of this myth occurs in the Enūma Eliš.⁶⁰ This same mythical pattern is found as well in a simplified form in the Apsu-Ea conflict of tablet I: i.e. threat (37-58), combat-victory (59-70), and temple built (71-77).⁶¹ Also in the Baal cycle from Ugarit, Hanson has found the same ritual structure as the most common reconstruction of the Baal-Yam conflict.⁶²

Israel as well drew upon the myth and ritual pattern of this material but directed it towards its own historical experience. Thus, Israel interpreted the Conquest in terms of the triumph of Yahweh as the Divine Warrior. In one of the earliest examples of Israelite poetry, Exodus 15, we find this same pattern in a hymn from the League, which celebrates the ritual conquest. Specifically, as Hanson suggests, the pattern is as follows: 63

Combat-Victory (vv. 1-12)
Theophany of Divine Warrior (8)
Salvation of the Israelites (13-16a)
Procession and Building of Temple (16b-17)
Manifestation of Yahweh's Universal Reign (18)

```
<sup>60</sup> Hanson presents the pattern in detail as follows in The Dawn of Apocalyptic, 302: Threat (1:109-11:91)
```

Combat-Victory (IV: 33-122)

Theophany of Divine Warrior (IV:39-60)

Salvation of the Gods (IV:123-46; VI:1-44; cf. VI:126-27, 149-51)

Fertility of the Restored Order (V:1-66; cf. VII:1-2, 59-83)

Procession and Victory Shout (V:67-89)

Temple Built for Marduk (V:117-56; VI:45-68)

Banquet (VI:69-94)

Manifestation of Marduk's Universal Reign (anticipated: IV:3-18; manifested: VI:95-VII:144)

61 Hanson, The Dawn of Apocalyptic, 303.

Threat (2.1[137])

Combat-Victory (2.4[68])

Temple Built (4[51])

Banquet (4.6.39 ff.[51])

Manifestation of Baal's Universal Reign (anticipated: 2.4.9-10[68]; manifested: 4.7.9-12(51))

Theophany of Divine Warrior (4,7.27-39[51])

Fertility of Restored order (anticipated : 4.5.68-71[51]; effected : 4.7.18-30[51]; cf. 6.3.6-7, 12-13[49]).

⁶² In detail Hanson provides the following pattern in The Dawn of Apocalyptic, 102:

⁶³ Hanson, The Dawn of Apocalyptic, 301. Cf. F. M. Cross, Jr., and D. N. Freedman, "The Song of Miriam," JNES 14 (1955) 237-50; and Cross, Canoanite Myth and Hebrew Epic, Essays, 16-17.

The psalms, and particularly the enthronement psalms (Ps 47, 93, 95-99) demonstrate that the old mythic patterns were kept alive in the royal cult at Jerusalem. Thus in Ps 47, for example, the victory of Yahweh is portrayed in the opening verses (2-5). The procession or ascent of the Lord (v. 6) is followed by the acclamation of Yahweh as king (vv. 7-8). In the following verses (9-10), then, his universal reign is made manifest. Similarly, in the royal psalm, Ps 2, this pattern is maintained with the added motif that the Davidic king has been adopted by Yahweh as his son (v. 7; cf. also Ps 110).

Within proto-apocalyptic this material again re-surfaces. As Hanson has shown, the oracle in Zech 9 recapitulates the ancient myth and ritual pattern and the League pattern of ritual conquest. ⁶⁵ In his dissertation, W. Millar has extended this analysis to the cycles of the Isaiah Apocalypse (Isa 24-27) and shown that the same pattern is visible in this material, i.e. Yahweh's battle and victory (Isa 24:1-13, 18c-23; 25:10-12; 26:1-27:1), the procession with the Ark to the temple (26:1-8), and the beginning of reign with the victory feast upon the mount (Isa 25:6-8). ⁶⁶

It is also now clear that the dream-vision of Dan 7, an example of full-blown apocalyptic, reflects ancient Canaanite myth. The picture of the transcendent God, the Ancient of Days, has been presented in El-language, while the one like a son of man, the symbol for the true Israel in v. 27, has been presented in Baal-language.⁶⁷ However, the pattern remains the same.⁶⁸ The threat to the divine council is present in the emergence of the four beasts from the sea (vv. 3-8). The victory occurs through the judgment and destruction of the beasts (vv. 9-12). The enthronement of this one like a son of man and the manifestation of his reign occur through his presentation to the Ancient

Temple Secured (8)

Victory Shout and Procession (9)

Manifestation of Yahweh's Universal Reign (10)

Salvation: Captives Released (11-13)

Theophany of Divine Warrior (14)

Sacrifice and Banquet (15)

Fertility of Restored Order (16-17)

⁶⁴ Hanson, The Dawn of Apocalyptic, 307.

⁶⁵ Specifically, he sets forth its pattern as follows in *The Dawn of Apocalyptic*, 315f: Conflict-Victory (vv. 1-7)

⁶⁶ W. R. Millar, Isaiah 24-27 and the Origin of Apocalyptic (Ph.D. diss., Harvard University 1970) 95 ff, 156-75, 190 ff.

⁶⁷ Emerton, "The Origin of the Son of Man Imagery"; Colpe, ὁ υίος τοῦ ἀνθρώπου; Cross. Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic; Essays, 16-17.

^{**} Hanson, "Old Testament Apocalyptic Reexamined," 474ff.

of Days and installation in royal power: "And he came to the Ancient of Days and was presented before him. And to him was given dominion and glory and kingdom, that all peoples, nations, and languages should serve him; his dominion is an everlasting dominion, which shall not pass away, and his kingdom one that shall not be destroyed" (Dan 7:13b-14).

The vision of 1 Enoch 71, with its Son of Man and Head of Days, is apocalyptic and obviously draws consciously upon Dan 7. Here the apocalyptic seer Enoch, after being translated in spirit to heaven and being shown by Michael the temple of the Lord and his throne, is proclaimed to be the Son of Man. He is the one who is enthroned as the Son of Man; he is the one who is installed in this position of power and authority. His reign then is characterized by peace, righteousness and length of days:

He proclaims unto thee peace in the name of the world to come; For from hence has proceeded peace since the creation of the world, And so shall it be unto thee for ever and for ever and ever. And all shall walk in thy ways since righteousness never forsaketh thee: With thee will be their dwelling-places, and with thee their heritage, And they shall not be separated from thee for ever and ever and ever. And so there shall be length of days with that Son of Man, And the righteous shall have peace and an upright way In the name of the Lord of Spirits for ever and ever"

(vv. 15-17)⁷⁰

In this passage concerning Enoch, then, we see the conflation of two traditions, that of the ascent of the apocalyptic seer and vision of the throne of the Lord and that of the heavenly enthronement. It is because of the conflation of these two tradition that the motifs of the threat, battle and victory of the Divine Warrior, are omitted in favor of the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary from this scene of heavenly enthronement.

In two other instances we find the conflation of these two traditions outside apocalyptic literature but within the literature of Diaspora Judaism. In both cases, it is Moses who is the seer. The first instance

⁶⁴ V. 14a perhaps echoes the adoption formula of Ps 2:7.

⁷⁰ Charles. The Book of Enoch (1912) 145-46. At the underlined thee or thy, I have followed the reading of the text rather than Charles' emendation and translation into the third person, him or his. 2 Enoch 22:6, Targ Ps-Jon on Gen 5:24 and 3 Enoch witness the possibility of such an exaltation of Enoch; cf. also Bousset, Die Religion des Judentums, 353-54, who has argued for the reading of the text rather than for emendation.

occurs in Ezekiel the Tragedian, probably an Alexandrian dramatist of the 2d c. B.C.,⁷¹ wherein Moses recounts to his father-in-law a dream that he has had:

Methought upon Mount Sinai's brow I saw
A mighty throne that reached to heaven's high vault,
Whereon there sat a man of noblest mien
Wearing a royal crown; whose left hand held
A mighty sceptre; and his right to me
Made sign, and I stood forth before the throne.
He gave me then the sceptre and the crown,
And bade me sit upon the royal throne,
From which himself removed. Thence I looked forth
Upon the earth's wide circle, and beneath
The earth itself, and high above the heaven.
Then at my feet, behold! a thousand stars
Began to fall, and I their number told,
As they passed by me like an armed host:
And I in terror started up from sleep. 72

The biblical starting point for this composition by Ezekiel is obviously the ascent of Moses on Mt. Sinai to receive the Law from God (Exod 19f and 24). However, equally clearly, Ezekiel has expanded upon that biblical incident by presenting God there as sitting upon a throne with crown and sceptre ⁷³ and by portraying Moses as receiving these emblems of royalty, a vision of the universe and the homage of the stars. Cerfaux has seen in this passage an influence from Orphism. ⁷⁴ However, in the proposed Orphic fragments there is neither

⁷¹ Fragments from Ezekiel's drama *The Exodus* were taken over by Alexander Polyhistor (80-40 B.C.) and thence preserved in Eusebius, *Praep. evang.* 9.29 and Clement of Alexandria, *Stromateis* 1.23.155. Cf. E. Schürer, *Geschichte des jüdischen Volkes im Zeitalter Jesu Christi.* 4. Aufl. (Leipzig 1909) 3.502 and W. Meeks, *The Prophet-King: Moses Traditions and the Johannine Christology* (NovTSup 14; Leiden 1967) 149 In what follows I am also indebted to the seminar paper of J. Robertson, "Ezekiel the Tragedian: Scholia," N.T. Seminar Papers, Harvard Divinity School, May 8, 1970.

⁷² Text in Eusebius, *Die Praeparatio Evangelica*, hrsg. K. Mras (GCS 43.1; Berlin 1954) 529; trans. from E. H. Gifford, *Eusebit Pamphili. Evangelicae Praeparationis*, vol. 3, part 1 (Oxford 1903) 470. J. Strugnell in "Notes on the Text and Metre of Ezekiel the Tragedian's 'Exagoge'," *HTR* 60 (1967) 451, n. 6, suggests plausibly that the text in line 11 should be emended from παρέδωκε to πάρδωκε in order to secure the proper metre.

[&]quot;The "man of noblest mien" must represent God; cf. the Ancient of Days in Dan. 7.

⁷⁴ L. Cerfaux, "Influence des Mystères sur le Judaisme Alexandrin avant Philon," Le Muséon 37 (1924) 54-58. As Orphic fragments, he refers in this article (pp. 36ff) to ps-Justin, Cohortatio ad Graecos 15 and De Monarchia 2; Clement of Alexandria,

a parallel in form nor in content.⁷⁵ On the other hand, the influence of biblical and apocalyptic tradition upon this scene is clear. Regarding the form of this passage, one should first note the dream with its interpretation by another person in Gen 37:9f (cf. the allusion here to Joseph's dream in the motif of the "stars" paying homage to Moses) and by an angel in Dan 7 as well as the dream-vision in 1 Enoch 14. In drawing upon this form from biblical and apocalyptic tradition Ezekiel Tr has retained it here, since it is also appropriate to Greek drama. 76 Concerning its content, like the apocalyptic seer, Moses after his ascent sees the divine throne and then receives as his revelation a vision of what is upon the earth, beneath the earth, and above the heaven (cf. 1 Enoch 14ff; 2 Enoch 3ff). Probably the motif of homage of the stars derives from Gen 37:9, while the motif of the stars which form the host of heaven and whose number can be told comes from Isa 40:26. In his wide-ranging study, Meeks has shown that the motif of Moses' ascent on Mt. Sinai as his enthronement as king occurs not only in intertestamental literature but also in Rabbinic and Samaritan literature and plausibly suggests an early exegetical tradition as the source of these disparate phenomena.⁷⁷

The function of the dream-vision is then made clear in the interpretation rendered by Moses' father-in-law:

Stromateis 5.14.123-24; and Eusebius, Praep. evang. 13.13.12.5. He is followed in this view by E. R. Goodenough in By Light, Light. The Mystic Gospel of Hellenistic Judaism (New Haven 1935) 290f and in Jewish Symbols in the Greco-Roman Period (New York 1964) 9. 101.

⁷⁵ The form of the Orphic fragments is not that of a dream as here in Ezekiel Tr. The Orphic fragments contain a vision of the Lord upon his heavenly throne; however, there is no enthronement of the seer.

⁷⁶ A. Kappelmacher in "Zur Tragödie der hellenistischen Zeit." Wiener Studien: Zeit. für klussische Philologie 44 (1924-25) 78f has provided examples of the use of dreams in Greek dramas (e.g. the dream of Atosia in Aeschylus, Persians) but also noted that interpretation of the dream by unother person is not customary. Rather, dreamers usually interpret their own dreams. For interpretation by another person he can only point to one drama, Brutus of Accius; in addition he refers to the Roman Practe viata and Cicero, De divinatione 1.44. Cf. also B. Snell, "Ezechiels Moses-Drama," Antike und Abendland 13 (1967) 154-55, who points to the dream of Jacob or Joseph as the inspiration of this passage, since the dreams of Greek drama are those of ill fate rather than heavenly enthronement. Meeks, however, only points to Greek tragedy, The Prophet-King, 148.

⁷⁷ Meeks, *The Prophet-King*, 194; cf. Deut 33:5 as a scriptural starting point for Moses as king. For the motif of sitting upon the throne of Yahweh, can the inspiration be such a passage as 1 Chr 29:23 (cf. 1 Chr 28:5), when transposed to a heavenly setting (cf. Dan 7)?

This sign from God bodes good to thee, my friend. Would I might live to see thy lot fulfilled! A mighty throne shalt thou set up, and be Thyself the leader and the judge of men! And as o'er all the peopled earth thine eye Looked forth, and underneath the earth, and high Above God's heaven; so shall thy mind survey All things in time, past, present and to come. 78

Moses is to set up a "mighty throne." We suggest the hypothesis that this "mighty throne" represents not only the dynasty but also the kingdom or nation, which Moses is ultimately to found when he leads the people out of Egypt (cf. 2 Sam 3:10 and 1 Kgs 2:4). This throne is to be more than just the men whom he will "lead and judge"; it is to be the enduring Jewish nation, to which even the diaspora Jew was related. For Ezekiel Tr the Jewish people are not only God's chosen people (cf. *Praepar. evang.* 9.29.8; Mras [GCS 43.1] 530.23-27), but also by the heavenly enthronement of Moses the nation is validated as divinely established. Although Moses sits upon the throne and receives the emblems of kingship, he does not receive the title king, probably in order to remain closer to the biblical text and also to reserve the title king for the king of Egypt (e.g. *Praepar. evang.* 9.29.8; Mras [GCS 43.1] 530.30f). 80

⁷⁸ Text Mras (GCS 43.1) 529-30; tr. Gifford, Eusebu Pamphili, 470.

⁷⁴ Cf the similar idea in Aristobulus : τὴν ἐξαγωγὴν τὴν ἐξ Αἰγύπτου των Ἑβραίων, ἡμετέρων δὲ πολιτων - Eusebius, *Praepar. evang.* 13.12.1, Mras (GCS 43.1) 190f.

⁸⁰ In the final scene of the drama, a marvelous bird most probably the phoenix appears. It is difficult to find the exact reason for the appearance then of this bird, and thus various suggestions for it have been made in the past, R. Van den Broek on the basis of his extensive study The Mvth of the Phoenix according to Classical and Eurly Christian Traditions (Études Préliminaires aux Religions Orientales dans l'Empire Romaine 24; Leiden 1972) 122, has offered the most plausible explanation, i.e. the appearance of the phoenix marks the beginning of a new era (his use, here, however, of the much later Coptic Sermon on Mary as an interpretative aid is methodologically questionable). In support of this interpretation, one may point to the appearance of the phoenix at the re-accession of Seleucus I to power in 312 B.C. and the inauguration of the Seleucid era (cf. Pliny, Historia naturalis 10.4-5, tr. H. Rackham, LCL, Cambridge 1940, 3, 294-95) and at the attempt to introduce a new calendar during the reign of Ptolemy III Euergetes (cf. Tacitus, Annals 6.28; tr. J. Jackson, LCL, Cambridge 1937, 3. 200-03; cf. also Van den Broek, 103-09). If this interpretation is correct, it would seem to tie together the beginning (the enthronement scene) and the end of the drama. Although it is true that only in later literature does the phoenix appear in order to mark the accession of a new king (cf. Van den Brock, 115ff), yet here it is probably the installation of Moses as king, the choice of a people, and the foundation of the nation by the events of the Exodus, which together mark the inauguration of the new era. In Praepur. evang. 9.29.16 (Mras [GCS 43.1] 538.2f) this bird is described as the βασιλεύς δὲ πάντων δρνέων, behind whom all the other

The interpretation, which Moses' father-in-law gives to the vision, also provides an insight into a further function of this scene. The vision by Moses of what is upon the earth, under the earth, and above the heaven is interpreted to mean that Moses' mind will survey "all things in time past, present, and to come." It is important to note the change in this interpretation from the vertical to the horizontal, from the cosmological to the historical. We suggest that Ezekiel has incorporated the apocalyptic tradition's interest in cosmological secrets in the dream-vision but re-interpreted that material and applied it to Moses' legacy to his people, the Law. As in a similar interpretation in Philo, which we shall see presently, "the things in time past" refer to Genesis; those in "the present" to Exodus through Deuteronomy; and those "to come" at least to the foretelling of his death in Deut 31 and the future events for the twelve tribes in Deut 33. Just as the vision of the apocalyptic seer validates not only himself but also his words and the books that circulate in his name (cf. Dan 12:4, 9; 1 Enoch 104:9-13; 2 Enoch 33:3-10; 36:1-2), so the vision of Moses authenticates him and the books that circulate in his name, i.e. the Pentateuch.⁸¹ Thus, through this scene of heavenly ascent and enthronement those whom Moses leads out of Egypt and their descendants are guaranteed to be the divinely founded nation and God's chosen people with His sacred scriptures.

The second instance within diaspora Judaism of the ascent and enthronement of Moses occurs in Philo's treatise *De vita Mosis* 1.158:

Again, was not the joy of his partnership with the Father and Maker of all magnified also by the honor of being deemed worthy to bear the same title? For he was named god and king of the whole nation, and entered, we are told, into the darkness where God was, that is into the unseen, invisible, incorporeal and archetypal essence of existing things. Thus he beheld what is hidden from the sight of mortal nature, and, in himself and his life displayed for all to see, he has set before us, like some well-wrought picture, a piece of work beautiful and godlike, a model for those who are willing to copy it. Happy are they who imprint, or strive to imprint,

birds hovered in fear. Is this a symbolic statement that the new nation of Israel is to rule over the other peoples?

^{**}I W. Meeks, in his essay "Moses as God and King," Religions in Antiquity: Essays in Memory of Erwin Ramsdell Goodenough, ed. J. Neusner (Leiden 1968) 367-69, stresses the function of the ascent and vision as the validation of the prophet and the guarantee of esoteric tradition attached to his name. We would extend that insight and apply it to exoteric material as well as to books, which circulate in the prophet or seer's name. Thereby, the books, which diaspora Judaism particularly revered, the Pentateuch, are given the same guarantee.

that image in their souls. For it were best that the mind should carry the form of virtue in perfection, but, failing this, let it at least have the unflinching desire to possess that form.⁸²

Once again the biblical starting point is the ascent of Moses upon Mt. Sinai. As in Ezekiel Tr, this ascent of Moses is considered as his enthronement. Strikingly new is the fact that Moses receives a name and that name is "god." From De sac. 8f we can see that Philo's exegetical basis for attributing this name to Moses was Exod 7:1 "See I make you as God to Pharaoh" **3 and that Philo attributed this name quite seriously to him. **4 In De sac. 8f Philo argues against attributing to Moses the common biblical phrase "N. died and was added to his people." His reason is that since God cannot be added to and since Moses is God, therefore Moses cannot be added to. However, in Quod det. 161-62 Philo uses this same scriptural text to demonstrate that the usage here is not literal: "when Moses is appointed 'a god unto Pharaoh,' he did not become such in reality, but only by a convention is supposed to be such." **85 Rightly then can Meeks conclude from these passages as follows:

Furthermore, while the biblical text is used in "The Sacrifices of Abel and Cain" to show that Moses' translation was the return of the perfect soul to the One who Is, Philo's other descriptions of Moses' assumption clearly depict the apotheosis of a divine *man*, not the return of an incarnate deity as Goodenough suggests. The distinction is important: while Philo does vacillate in his portrait of Moses, now elevating him virtually to a "second god" again restricting him to the sphere of the human, the vacillation remains with the compass of the θεῖος ἀνήρ. 80

At his enthronement Moses is not only named god but also king. He was king of all the people who departed with him from Egypt, king of a nation destined to be consecrated above all others (*De vita Mosis* 1.147ff).⁸⁷ But he is king also over the whole world:

And so, as he abjured the accumulation of lucre, and the wealth whose influence is mighty among men, God rewarded him by giving him instead

⁸² Text and tr. F. H. Colson, LCL (Cambridge 1966) 6. 356-59.

⁸³ LCL (1968) 2. 98-101. Philo's version of Exod 7:1 is δίδωμι γάρ σε θεὸν φαραώ.

⁸⁴ Cf. also De poster. C. 28; De gig. 47ff; Quod deus immut. 23; De conf. 30f; Q Exod 2, 40

^{*1} LCT (1968) 2 309

^{**} Meeks, The Prophet-King, 105. Goodenough refers to the incarnation of Moses in his An Introduction to Philo Judaeus, 2d ed. (Oxford 1962) 145.

^{•7 &}quot;The appointed leader of all these was Moses, invested with this office and kingship" LCL (1966) 6, 353; cf. Ezekiel Tr above.

the greatest and most perfect wealth. That is the wealth of the whole earth and sea and rivers, and of all the other elements and the combinations which they form. For, since God judged him worthy to appear as a partner of his own possessions, He gave into his hands the whole world as a portion well fitted for his heir. Therefore, each element obeyed him as its master, changed its natural properties and submitted to his command.⁸⁸

As the basis for this gift of kingship to Moses, Philo offers three reasons, which Meeks has appropriately termed the haggadic, the philosophical and the mystic.⁸⁹ The haggadic reason consists in the fact that Moses was destined to receive the kingship of Egypt and yet willingly renounced it for the sake of God's people. Therefore, he was appropriately granted by God the kingship over them (*De vita Mosics* 1.148-49). Secondly, as the philosophical reason, Moses was appointed king "on account of his goodness and his nobility of conduct and the universal benevolence which he never failed to show." ⁹⁰ Thirdly, he was appointed king as the paradigm of all those who achieve the mystic ascent and vision. ⁹¹

In this respect, the tradition concerning the ascent of the seer is particularly significant. Like the apocalyptic seer, Moses ascends to heaven, but his vision here in *De vita Mosis* 1.158f is not of the throne of God and what is upon the earth and under the earth. Rather, Moses entered into the darkness where God was, "into the unseen, invisible, incorporeal and archetypal essence of existing things"; and thus he "beheld what is hidden from the sight of mortal nature." It is important to notice the dualism that is expressed in this passage. The divine realm is the realm of the essential over against which the earthly is merely "child's play." However, although he considers the earthly of less value, Philo is not anti-cosmic as the gnostics. For him God is still the creator of the universe (*De vita Mosis* 1.212f).

The form which expresses this ascent and enthronement is no longer the dream-vision as in Dan 7 and Ezekiel Tr. The narrative description, which Philo employs for this scene, is due no doubt to the genre within

⁸⁸ De vita Mosis 1.155-56; LCL (1966) 6, 356-57.

Meeks, The Prophet-King, 108ff.

⁹⁰ De vita Mosis 1,148; LCL (1966) 6, 353.

⁹¹ De vita Mosis 1.158-59; LCL (1966) 6. 356-59. Cf. Mceks, The Prophet-King, 111; Goodenough, By Light, Light, 205ff.

⁹² De vita Mosis 1.190. "Such, too, is the nature of the mind of those who have tasted of holiness. Such a mind has learned to gaze and soar upwards, and, as it ever ranges the heights and searches into divine beauties, it makes a mock of earthly things, counting them to be but child's-play, and those to be truly matters of earnest care." LCL (1966) 6, 375.

which he is writing, the treatise. Perhaps, it is due also to the desire to stress the reality of Moses' own ascent and mystic vision as the paradigm for others.

While Philo discussed Moses as king in his first book of the *De vita Mosis*, in the second book he treats the other offices which are proper to Moses, namely, legislator, high priest and prophet. His editorial comments—such as, "And of them it may be justly said, what is often said of the virtues, that to have one is to have all" (*De vita Mosis* 2.7)⁹³—indicate that for Philo the enthronement of Moses as god and king is equally his installation in these other offices. As Goodenough has shown, Philo draws upon the Hellenistic notion of the king as the "living law" in his portrayal of Moses as legislator. For our purposes, it is of interest merely to note in addition the distinction which Philo makes within the Law given through Moses:

They (the sacred books) consist of two parts: one the historical, the other concerned with commands and prohibitions, and of this we will speak later, after first treating fully what comes first in order. One division of the historical deals with the creation of the world, the other with particular persons, and this partly with the punishment of the impious, partly with the honouring of the just. 95

Again from the ideology of Hellenistic kingship, Moses is portrayed not only as king but also as high priest. 96 From Jewish tradition then Moses is portrayed as a prophet (cf. Deut 18:15-22 and 34:10). 97 For our purposes, again, the distinction, which Philo introduces into the oracles given through Moses, are of interest:

Now I am fully aware that all things written in the sacred books are oracles delivered through Moses; but I will confine myself to those which are more especially his, with the following preliminary remarks. Of the divine utterances, some are spoken by God in His own Person with His prophet for interpreter ($\xi \rho \mu \eta \nu \epsilon \dot{\nu} \varsigma$), in some the revelation comes through question and answer, and others are spoken by Moses in his own person, when possessed by God and carried away out of himself. The first kind are absolutely and entirely signs of the divine excellences, graciousness and

⁹³ LCL (1966) 6. 453-55.

⁹⁴ νόμος ἔμψυχος, cf. E. R. Goodenough, "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," Yale Classical Studies 1 (1928) 55-102; idem, By Light, Light, 196f.

⁴¹ De vita Masis 2.46-47; LCL (1966) 6-470-71

⁴⁶ Cf. Goodenough, By Light, Light, 190; Meeks, The Prophet-King, 113-15.

[&]quot;Meeks, The Prophet-King, 130, notes perceptively that the ideology of Hellenistic kingship does not provide a parallel or basis for associating the king with a) prophecy or b) heavenly enthronement.

beneficence, by which He incites all men to noble conduct, and particularly the nation of His worshippers, for whom He opens up the road which leads to happiness. In the second kind we find a combination and partnership: the prophet asks questions of God about matters on which he has been seeking knowledge, and God replies and instructs him. The third kind are assigned to the lawgiver himself: God has given to him of His own power of foreknowledge and by this he will reveal future events. Now, the first kind must be left out of discussion. They are too great to be lauded by human lips; scarcely indeed could heaven and the world and the whole existing universe worthily sing their praises. Besides, they are delivered through an interpreter ($\xi \rho \mu \eta \nu \epsilon i \varphi$), and interpretation ($\xi \rho \mu \eta \nu \epsilon i \varphi$) and prophecy are not the same thing. 98

In his further presentation Philo characterizes the question-and-answer oracles as mixed (μικτήν ἔχοντες δύναμιν). ⁹⁹ Then, after various examples in which Moses foretold future events (2.246ff), Philo concludes with a reference to the oracles prophesied by Moses before his death (e.g. Deut 33-34) some of which have already taken place and others of which are awaited. ¹⁰⁰

If we reflect then upon the function of the scene of the ascent, vision, and enthronement of Moses in the light of Philo's total presentation of Moses, it becomes clear that this scene serves to validate that Moses is the paradigm of the mystic who ascends for the vision of God. More important for our purposes, it serves to authenticate that Moses is the divinely selected founder of God's chosen nation and people and that the books which he has written (*De vita Mosis* 1.4; 2.11), the Pentateuch, 102 are the divinely inspired sacred scriptures, even though there are distinctions as to the exact relationship of the divine to the various parts of these books.

⁹⁸ De vita Mosis 2.188-91; LCL (1966) 6. 543.

⁹⁹ De vita Mosis 2.192; LCL (1966) 6, 544-45.

¹⁰⁰ De vita Mosis 2.288-91; LCL (1966) 6. 593 ff.

¹⁰¹ Cf. Meeks, "Moses as God and King," 369. Meeks is reluctant here to give complete assent to Goodenough's view in By Light, Light, 205ff, concerning an organized, Jewish, cultic mystery with Philonic ideas; cf. also A.D. Nock, "The Question of Jewish Mysteries," Essays on Religion and the Ancient World, 1, 459-68; originally published as a review of By Light, Light in Gnomon 13 (1937) 156-65. However, Goodenough in his later reflections quite rightly stresses that by a Jewish mystery he means not distinct rites or initiations to which even Jews had to be especially admitted but rather a set of teachings which would re-interpret the normal Jewish festivals and consider them as leading the "initiate" out of matter into the eternal (cf. An Introduction to Philo Judaeus, 154f).

¹⁰² For Philo, the Pentateuch is particularly the divinely revealed document; although the prophets and writings were also inspired, they were of less value. Cf. Goodenough, By Light, Light, 77f; and H. A. Wolfson, Philo (Cambridge 1947) 1, 140.

For our comparison with the Sabaoth account we shall find it important to note that in this portrayal of Moses in Philo the two traditions of the ascent of the seer and heavenly enthronement are conflated, that the mortal figure who ascends receives the name god and the title king, that he sees what is not apprehensible by reason, i.e. the invisible, and that this ascent and vision function to validate the Pentateuch. Further, we note that Moses functions as a judge (De vita Mosis 2.214-18), although not while he is ascended.

As in I Enoch, Ezekiel Tr and Philo, so the Sabaoth account but now as a part of a myth of origins within a revelation discourse conflates these two traditions. We have already discussed the tradition of the apocalyptic seer with respect to the Sabaoth account. Concerning the tradition of heavenly enthronement we note first of all that Sabaoth ascends. However, due to the influence of the apocalyptic seer tradition, the term is דשףה εצף /άρπάζειν rather than עלה αναβαίνειν as, for example, in Ps 46(47):6. Sabaoth's enthronement in the sense of installation in power rather than physically sitting upon a throne—is most clear in that he is placed in charge of the seventh heaven. The giving of a name to him in this context may also be part of his enthronement, as we shall discuss below. As in ancient Near Eastern myth and in Exod 15, the reference to the making of the symbol of authority occurs next. Although in these older materials one finds as this symbol either the temple or the throne, the identification of throne and chariot in Israelite tradition enables this change here simply to a chariot. We shall also see below that the separation into right and left and the immediate calling of right as life and the becoming of the left as a type of unrighteousness, can be considered as the beginning of or manifestation of Sabaoth's rule. Thereby, Sabaoth is installed as king of the seventh heaven and all the heavens below as well as of all those on earth who are represented by him; the gnostics, meanwhile, remain as those not subject to his rule but rather belong to the "kingless race."

As we return to the text from this lengthy discussion of the traditions involved in the Sabaoth account, we note that since Sabaoth is placed in charge of the seventh heaven the late Jewish and early rabbinic tradition of a plurality of heavens, more commonly seven, ¹⁰³ is thus

¹⁰³ E.g. Γ Levi 2f and Apoc Mosis 35; cf. H. L. Strack and P. Billerbeck, Kommentar zum Neuen Testament aus Talmud und Midrasch (Munich 1969) 3, 531-33; H. Traub and G. von Rad, οὐρανός, TDNT 5 (1967) 511f.

modified into an ogdoadic structure, which reserves the eighth heaven for the high god. This particular motif of the Ogdoad as opposed to the Hebdomad, is widespread in Gnosticism and probably derives from astrological speculation.¹⁰⁴

Sabaoth is in charge of the seventh heaven but below the cosmic veil, which separates the infinite acons from the lower acons (94[142]. 9-12). This motif of the cosmic veil derives ultimately from the veil before the inner tent of the desert shrine (e.g. Exod 26:33) and then later from the veil before the Holy of Holies of the Jerusalem Temple (2 Chr 3:14). In interestamental Judaism, this earthly veil was transposed into the cosmic veil, which separates heaven and earth and also has upon it the images of the universe (cf. especially Josephus War 5.212-14, 19; Ant. 3.180-81 and Philo De vita Mosis 2.74; Q. Exod. 90f). This motif of the cosmic veil is not clearly expressed in the NT. Thus when found in Christian gnostic documents, this motif provides a lucid example of the debt of Gnosticism to a Judaism that is not mediated to it through the NT. 105

Since Sabaoth is just below the cosmic veil, he is now described as between "Above" and "Below." From an astrological point of view, this realm of the universe would correspond to the realm of the fixed stars, which is above the seven planetary spheres. ¹⁰⁶ Whether or not Nagel is correct in assuming τὰ ἄνω and τὰ κὰτω as behind the Coptic, ¹⁰⁷ it is only in intertestamental Judaism that one finds the phrase used absolutely rather than as in the LXX ἐν τῷ οὐρανῷ ἄνω καὶ ἐν τῇ γῇ κὰτω (e.g. Exod 20:4; cf. Isa 8:21). Philo, for example, uses the phrase absolutely in *Quod det. pot. insid. soleat* 85. ¹⁰⁸ Similarly,

¹⁰⁴ R. Reitzenstein, *Poimandres* (Leipzig 1904) 53f; J. Kroll, *Die Lehren des Hermes Trismegistos* (Münster i. W. 1914) 304-10; and F. J. Doelger, "Zur Symbolik des altchristlichen Taufhauses," *AntuChrist* 4 (1934) 172f and 181, who concludes to Pythagorean influence; F. Cumont, *AntuChrist* 5 (1936) 293f.

¹⁰⁵ G. MacRae, Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic, 30-114. In the Synoptics (Mark 15:38 par.) the veil is spiritualized to represent the Old Covenant and in Heb (6:19f; 9:1-14; 10:19f) the veil is allegorized to refer to the death of Christ. There is a possibility that the author of Hebrews also had in mind the heavenly veil in his allegory. However, the motif is not presented so clearly that it could have functioned as the source of gnostic imagery. For the OT veil, cf. also F.M. Cross, Jr., "The Priestly Tabernacle," The Biblical Archaeologist Reader, ed. G.E. Wright and D.N. Freedman (New York 1961) 201-28.

¹⁰⁶ Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 103. Note also that τὸ μέσον in Test Abr 12 (Rec. A) represents the realm for the soul that is neither totally good nor totally evil.

¹⁰⁷ Nagel, Das Wesen der Archonten, 79.

¹⁰⁸ Ed. Cohn-Wendland I. 277: είς τὸ ἄνω προυγαγών.

in the NT τὰ ἄνω and τὰ κἀτω are contrasted in John 8:23 (ὑμεῖς ἐκ τῶν κὰτω ἐστέ, ἐγὼ ἐκ τῶν ἄνω εἰμί). 109 In this gnostic text, however, the contrast is no longer between heaven and earth as in the OT, or between the Father and the world as in John (8:23, 26), but between the infinite aeons and the seven heavens of chaos (96 [144], 10-11).

After installation, Sabaoth is given a name as part of his enthronement. In the OT reception of a new name was probably part of the ceremony of enthronement for the king of Israel. However, this aspect of enthronement was not mirrored in the psalms concerning the enthronement of Yahweh (e.g. Ps 47) nor in the later scenes of heavenly enthronement in apocalyptic (e.g. the Son of Man in Dan 7 or 1 Enoch 71) but is present in Philo's portrayal of the enthronement of Moses (*De vita Mosis* 1.158). It appears appropriate here in NatArch, as in Phil 2:9, that the name is given after the ascent (cf. OnOrgWld 104[152].9f). Yet, it cannot be argued that NatArch has influenced or been influenced by Phil 2:9, since there is no equivalence in the terminology used for the bestowing of the name.

In this case, the name given is, of course, drawn from the God of the OT. However, it appears here in the odd formulation, "the God of the Forces, Sabaoth," rather than the expected "Lord of the Forces." We shall see that this odd formulation is not by accident. Rather, the customary formula is altered purposely in order that the "God of the Forces" might indicate a second, lower God beneath the high God worshipped by the Gnostics.

The explicative $x \in$ is then added and provides an opportunity to indicate the appropriateness of the name. Sabaoth is "the God of the Forces," since he is spatially above them. These forces are not as in the OT the angelic host of heaven, which Yahweh has created (Isa 40:26), or the heavenly army, which accompanies him in war

¹⁰⁹ Cf. Col. 3:1, 2 for τά ἄνω,

Testament (Munich 1958) 208ff. Note that the term used here in the Coptic μογτε can translate καλείν, έπικαλείν, φωνείν, ονομάζειν (Crum, 192b) and that the major example pointed to by von Rad uses καλείν (Isa 9:5b καὶ καλείται το δνομα αυτού), although in the formula καλείν τὸ δνομα. In the NT, cf. Phil 2:9 where the formula is έχαρίσατο αυτφ τὸ δνομα.

¹¹¹ Cf preceding footnote

¹¹² Frequent, of course, in the OT is the liturgical address κύρια, ὁ θεός τῶν δυνάμεων (e.g. Ps. 58[59]: 6). However, only in one instance is the κύρια omitted, Ps. 79(80): 14 ὁ θεός τῶν δυνάμεων ἐπίστρεψον δή. Similarly, at Qumran in one instance the phrase appears as [אלוד צבאורות] (1 QSb 4:25); cf. also 2 Enoch 52:1, Rec. A.

(Judg 5:14).¹¹³ The forces in this case are the demonic offspring of Ialdabaoth in the remaining six heavens and also in the nether world. In accord with the gnostic devaluation of the world, these regions together—rather than merely the nether world—are entitled chaos.¹¹⁴ This motif of one being "above the forces" is found also in the NT in the portrayal of Christ (Eph 1:20 f. ὑπεράνω πάσης ... δυνάμεως; cf. Rom 8:38; 1 Cor 15:24; 1 Pet 3:22) and thus cannot be used to establish the independence of the Sabaoth account from the NT.¹¹⁵

The pericope closes as the author adds again that it was Wisdom who installed Sabaoth. Thereby, his secondary importance is reinforced.

3. Creation of the Throne/Chariot of Sabaoth 95(143).26-28

26 POTI AE ANAEI WWITE AUTAMIO NAU

27 почноб прарма пхероувін є 40 п 28 4 тооу мпросшпон Now (δέ) when (ὅτι) these events had come to pass, he made himself a huge four-faced (πρόσωπον) chariot (ἄρμα)

The following pericope presents the creation of a chariot by Sabaoth and for himself. "Now when these events had come to pass" serves as a simple connective clause. 116 This chariot is described by the adjective, four-faced, which derives from Ezek 1:6, 10 and 10:14, and by the formulaic expression, the chariot of Cherubim, which expression does not occur in Ezek 1 and 10 but does refer to the vision in these chapters. 117 It should be noted that the presentation of Yahweh

of cherubim

¹¹³ Cross, Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic. Essays, 68-71. The term "host of heaven" can also mean in the OT the heavenly bodies, i.e. sun, moon, stars (2 Kgs 17:16; 21:3, 5; 23:4f; Ps 33:6; Isa 34:4; Dan 8:10) In intertestamental material δυνάμεις can refer to a class of angels (e.g. T Levi 3:3; 3 Bar 1:8).

dependence upon Greek and Greek-speaking Jewish traditions conceives of Tartarus as the lowest, punitive place and the Abyss as the entire underworld (cf. Bauer, ad. loc.). Chaos, which also denotes the nether abyss in Greek tradition (cf. Liddell-Scott, 1976) but which appears rarely in Greek-speaking Jewish literature (not in this meaning in the LXX and only twice in Philo, *De acter. mundi* 17f) is now applied by the gnostic to the whole world below the eighth aeon. In the NT, the term chaos does not appear.

^{****} One should note, as Grundmann has observed, that the idea of Satan in the NT is not associated with the term δύναμις; W. Grundmann, δύναμα, δύναμις κτλ., TDNT 2 (1964) 308, n. 80.

The reading should be "when" (δτε) rather than "because (δτι) these events had come to pass," since the causal relationship is inappropriate. See Layton in "The Hypostasis of the Archons," (1974) 419, ad loc

¹¹⁷ Ezek 43:3 ή δρασις του άρμα ου τίδον, κατά την δρασιν ήν είδον έπί του ποταμού του χυβάρ. 1 Chr 28:18 το παράδειγμα τοῦ άρματος τών χερουβίν. Sir 49:8 Ιεζεκιηλ ός είδεν δρασιν δοξής ήν ὑπέδειζεν αὐτῷ ἐπι άρματος χερουβίν. Cf. Apoc Mos 22:3; Test Abr 9, 10 (Rec. A).

upon the chariot of Cherubim in Ezekiel is a specifically Israelite feature in contrast with Near Eastern mythology. 118 In the Canaanite background El was pictured as sitting upon his throne, the throne of Cherubim, in the midst of the divine assembly. 119 It was Baal then who was portrayed as riding upon the war chariot, the deified clouds, toward the holy war. 120 In the vision of Ezekiel the presentation of the chariot is most influenced by Baal language. Baal's war chariot predominates but it has been combined with El's throne of Cherubim. Just as El epithets influenced the understanding of Yahweh in the early period, so the later resurgence of Baal material influenced the combination of these motifs of El's throne of Cherubim and Baal's war chariot and their application to Yahweh in the sixth century protoapocalyptic of Ezek 1 and 10.121 Yahweh was thus presented as warrior and king. This association of throne and chariot was maintained in Judaism, as is attested by 4Q S1 40.24.3 ("the structure of the chariot throne")¹²² and Apoc Abr 18 ("a chariot with fiery wheels ... over the wheels was a throne").123 This gnostic document preserves the

¹¹⁶ I am indebted to Professor Cross for this basic insight, which was given in an oral communication.

¹¹⁹ M. H. Pope, El in the Ugaritic Texts (VTSup 2; Leiden 1955) 45-46.

¹²⁰ A. Kapelrud, *Boal in the Ugaritic Texts* (Copenhagen 1952) 93-94; U. Oldenburg, *The Conflict Between El and Ba'al in Canaanite Religion* (NumenSup, Altera Series 3; Leiden 1969) 75-76.

¹²¹ For the ninth century resurgence of Baal material, cf. Cross, Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic: Essays, 190-94. On the Cherubim and the throne of Cherubim, cf also W. F. Albright, "What Were the Cherubim?" The Biblical Archaeologist Reader, ed. G. E. Wright and D. N. Freedman (New York 1961) 95-97.

¹²² J. Strugnell, "The Angelic Liturgy at Qumran, 4Q Serek Šīrôt 'ōlat Haššabat," International Organization for the Study of the Old Testament. 3d Congress, Oxford 1959, Congress Volume (VTSup 7; Leiden 1960) 335-37.

Box. The Apocalipse of Abraham, 62; cf. 1 Enoch 14:18. Professor M. Smith has graciously called my attention to the magical papyri, gems, and amulets in regard to this portrayal of Sabaoth. Within the magical papyri, Sahaoth appears frequently as a deity (some 82 occurrences) and is often invoked, but there is no presentation of Sahaoth with a chariot of Cherubim. Within the gems and amulets, there is indeed a gem in the British Museum (BM 56044) with a human figure driving a chariot, which is drawn by two serpents. Above the figure one finds inscribed lao, and on the bevel there is written Abrasax. On the reverse of a bloodstone representing the Sun and the Moon in their chariots (BM 56147) one finds the inscription: Iao, Sabaoth, Ahrasax, The Existent One, Lord, protect me. Further, in a gem published by King there is the solar deity, who is cock-headed and anguipede and who drives the chariot by four horses; underneath there is inscribed Sahao(th). While it is possible that magical traditions have influenced the presentation of Sahaoth in NatArch, it is difficult to prove since such motifs as the four-faces and the myriads of angels in combination with the chariot of Cherubim are not found on the gems or amulets but rather in apocalyptic traditions and thus point to influence from there and since in the related OnOrgWld

same feature in that Sabaoth, an El title, is associated not with a throne but with a chariot, the chariot of Cherubim.

Usually in the OT the motif that Yahweh sits upon his throne is part of the enthronement, after he has ascended—e.g. Ps 47:8. However, as we pointed out earlier, in ancient Near Eastern mythology and in Exod 15:17 the motif is rather that a temple or abode is built for the deity, again as part of the enthronement. The fact that Sabaoth makes the chariot (as Yahweh makes his abode in Exod 15:17), that the chariot is for himself, and that the chariot functions as the throne in Israelite and Jewish literature, indicates to us that Sabaoth is thereby being enthroned in this pericope.

The Cherubim are not here considered as a separate class of angels as in 1 Enoch 61:10 ("the Cherubim, Seraphim and Ofannim"; cf. 71:7). To this expression, the chariot of Cherubim, is then added the adjective "huge." This phrase is not found in the OT but in 1 Enoch 14:10, 16 the adjective "large" or "huge" is applied to the two houses within which the throne-chariot is kept.

This motif of the chariot of Cherubim has not influenced and cannot be derived from the NT, since there is no mention in the NT of the chariot of the Lord. Only the "throne" is presented (e.g. Rev 4:6f). Similarly, the term Cherubim occurs only once in the NT but in the description of the Holy of Holies (Heb 9:5). Lastly, although the four creatures are presented in Rev 4:7, it is striking that only one is said to have a $\pi\rho\delta\sigma\omega\pi\sigma\nu$, the man; the others are merely said to be "like unto." 124

4. Creation of the Angels 95(143).28-31

ми гилггелос 29 енафшоу емптоу нпе етроургу 30 пнретеі ауш гйфалтнріон міі гіі 31 ківара and infinitely many angels (ἄγγελοι), to act as ministers (ὑπηρετεῖν), and also harps (ψαλτήριον) and lyres (κιθάρα)

lao and Sabaoth are considered as two distinct rulers and there is no reference to Abrasax. Cf. K. Preisendanz and A. Henrichs, eds., Papvri Graecae Magicae I-II (2. Aufl.; Stuttgart 1973-74); C. W. King, Antique Gems and Rings (London 1872) 2.46 and pl. VIII, 1; H. B. Walters, Catalogue of the Engraved Gems and Cameos, Greek, Etruscan and Roman in the British Museum (London 1926) 148 and # 1308; C. Bonner, Studies in Magical Amulets (Ann Arbor 1950) 29-32, 127-36, 172; E. R. Goodenough, Jewish Symbols in the Greco-Roman Period (Bollingen Series 17; New York 1953) 2.259-61 and vol. 3, # 1116, 1127.

¹²⁴ E.g. 4:7 το ζφον το πρώτον δμοιον λέοντι whereas in Ezek 1:6, 10 and 10:14 it is clearly τέσσαρα πρόσωπα.

Angels are also fashioned and described as "many" and "infinite." If εμπτογ μπε translates ἀναρίθμητος as is probable, 125 then it is noteworthy that this expression does not occur in the LXX or Philo or the NT in connection with angels but seems to derive from Jewish apocalyptic. 126

The text draws upon the tradition whereby angels are presented as accompanying the chariot-throne (e.g. Apoc Moses 22) and portrays the function of the angels as to minister. If ὑπηρετεῖν was in the Greek original, then it is significant that ὑπηρετεῖν plays almost no role in the LXX or the NT. It does not occur as the term for the angelic service of God. Only with Philo are angels spoken of as God's ὑπηρέται. 127 Instead, the term for "the ministering angels" seems to have been λειτουργεῖν (e.g. T. Levi 3:5), 128 a term which in later Greek translations of the OT can be rendered as ὑπηρετεῖν (e.g. Num 4:23 Sym). Thus, again, the terminology used in NatArch appears to derive from late Judaism rather than the OT or NT.

Created with the angels are also harps and lyres as the instruments for them. Although these instruments are frequently mentioned together in the LXX, they are not there associated with angels. ¹²⁹ In the NT the $\kappa i\theta\alpha\rho\alpha$ are associated with the angels (Rev 5:8; 14:2).

5. The Instruction of Sabaoth 95(143).31-34

ауш атсофіа ці тесщеєре п 32 жин астресумоос зі оунам миоц 33 етрестамоц анетщооп [2][n] тмаз 34 щноуне And Wisdom (σοφία) took her daughter Life (ζωή) and had her sit upon his right to teach him about the things that exist in the Eighth (heaven).

In resumption of line 25 the text presents Wisdom as taking her daughter Life and seating her in the position of honor, the right hand. Her task is specifically to teach Sabaoth. Here Life replaces the

¹²⁵ Heb 11:12, Sah., has ετεμμτα μπε for ἀναρίθμητος. Crum, 527b gives ἀναρίθμητος for ατμπε but does not list the expression εμμταμ-μπε.

¹²⁶ Cf. 1 Enoch 40:1 "And after that I saw thousands of thousands, and ten thousand times ten thousand, I saw a multitude beyond number" (Charles, *The Book of Enoch*; 1912; 77); 4 Ezra 6:3 "numberless armies of angels" (Charles, *APOT* 2. 574; cf. also 2 Bar 21:6; 59:11. For the biblical background of this motif, one may consult the positive formulation in Isa 40:26: "Lift up your eyes on high and see: who created these? He who brings out their host by number, calling them all by name; by the greatness of his might, and because he is so strong in power not one is missing." This reference was pointed out to one by Professor Cross in private communication.

¹²⁷ E.g. De poster. C. 92; De mutat. nom. 87; Quod Deus immut. 158. Cf. K. H. Rengstorf, ὑπηρέτης, ὑπηρετέω, TDNT 8 (1962) 534 ff.

¹²⁸ Charles, The Greek Versions of the Testaments of the Twelve Patriarchs, 34.

¹²⁹ Gen 4:21; Job 21:12; Ps 56(57):8; Ps 80(81):2; etc.

angelus interpres found in apocalyptic literature in such a context (e.g. Uriel in 1 Enoch 19:1; Michael in Test Abr 10, Rec. A). It is indicative of the important role of Wisdom in the myth that it is she who does the placing. Further, it is significant that she places her daughter Life as the instructoress rather than an angel to represent righteousness, as in Test Abr 12 (Rec. A). As Böhlig has pointed out, the basis of the identification between Life and instructoress lies in a Semitic word-play. The name of Eve (תְּיִה), which is related etymologically in Gen 3:20 to the word meaning "live" (תְיִה), has been associated with the Aramaic word of the same sound meaning "instruct" (אַיִּה). Eve's name then is translated as zoē in the LXX, which in turn is here translated as Life. 130

The significance of this "teaching about the things that exist in the Eighth" is signalled when one contrasts it with the mode and content of revelation to the apocalyptic seer. The main revelation for the apocalyptic seer is, of course, the vision of the divine throne and the Godhead upon it (e.g. 1 Enoch 14; 2 Enoch 20-22). Secondly, nothing remains hidden to the seer in heaven or in the cosmos; all the secrets of the universe are shown or laid bare to him (e.g. 1 Enoch 14-37; 2 Enoch 24-33), which revelation may later be communicated in special books (e.g. 1 Enoch 104:11-13; 2 Enoch 40:1-8; 54:1; 68:1-3). Here in this document the gnostic dualism makes its presence felt. Entrance into the divine world is not offered to Sabaoth since he is one born ultimately from evil matter. He must remain below the veil. Thus a vision as well as interpretation of a vision of the divine world are impossible; instead, Sabaoth receives instruction concerning the Eighth, the realm of imperishability (94[142].5). On the other hand, in this revelation to Sabaoth there is no mention of the secrets of the lower world. The total concern here is with the divine realm.

This pericope has neither influenced nor been derived from the NT. To be sure, Christ is there seated at the right hand of the Father (e.g. Mark 14:62 par; Acts 2:34). However, no one is placed at this right to instruct him nor, of course, is there mention of an Eighth in the NT.

¹³⁰ The Semitic word-play is carried further to associate the serpent and the instructor; cf. Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Fitel, 73-74. Also B. Pearson, "Jewish Haggadic Traditions in The Testimony of Truth from Nag Hammadi (CG IX, 3)," Ex Orbe Religionum: Studia Geo Widengren oblata, ed. J. Bergman, K. Drynjeff and H. Ringgren (Leiden 1973) 1, 463-64.

6. The Separation into Right and Left 95 (143).34-96(144).3

1 же хмн улм таво[Л]ь усммие и тлиос 32 сн ускууд Si Sborb инод [Жін фо] улм шіушеуо[С иде до]ь

2 й талікіл й тийтаувентис (ет) йпса н

3 тпе. птаушшпе за тоуезн

And the angel (ἄγγελος) [of] wrath (ὁργή) she placed upon his left. [Since] that day, [his right] has been called

Life ($\zeta \omega \dot{\eta}$); and the left has come to represent ($\tau \dot{\omega} \pi o \varsigma$)

the unrighteousness (ἀδικία) of the realm of absolute power

above. It was before your time that they came into being.

In this pericope concerning the separation into right and left, the final elements in the ascent and vision of the apocalyptic seer and in the enthronement scene have been conflated. First of all, in the description of the chariot/throne in late Jewish apocalyptic, a final element is the portrayal of angels on the right and left. No doubt this motif has its origin in the OT presentation of Yahweh as seated upon his throne with the host of heaven on his right and left (1 Kgs 22:19//2 Chr 18:18; the tester who comes before the Lord should also be noted in this passage). That this picture was still vivid in late apocalyptic is shown in Adam and Eve 25:3: "And many thousands of angels were on the right and left of that chariot."131 In the OT the distinction between right and left can also indicate positive and negative value, as in Eccl 10:2 ("A wise man's heart inclines him toward the right, but a fool's heart toward the left"). 132 Within late apocalyptic and particularly in association with the vision of the divine throne/chariot, this distinction and its valence was also kept. Thus in Apoc Abr, after Abraham has received his vision of the divine throne/chariot (c. 17-18), he sees mankind divided into multitudes of people on the right side and on the left (c. 21 f). Here the right side represents Israel and the left side represents the heathen some of whom are to be saved and some damned:

And I saw there a great multitude—men and women and children half of them of the right side of the picture and half of them on the left side of the picture... These which are on the left side are the multitude of the peoples which have formerly been in existence and which are after thee destined,

¹³¹ Text Meyer, Vita Adae et Evac, 229; translation Charles, APOT 2, 140. Cf. also Adam and Eve 21.1 and the probable restoration in IQM 9:14ff, although the throne is not present here.

¹¹² Cf. Ezek 4:4. Philo m Quis rer. div. heres sit 209 (Cohn-Wendland 3-48) gives a list of opposites interesting for our context here: ζωή θάνατος, νόσος ύγεία, λευκόν μελυν, δέξια εύώνυμα, δικαισύνη άδικία, φρόνησις άφρόνησις.

some for judgment and restoration, and others for vengeance and destruction at the end of the world. But these which are on the right side of the picture—they are the people set apart for me of the peoples with Azazel. These are they whom I have ordained to be born of thee and to be called My People. 133

In Apoc Abr the whole history of mankind is then told from this perspective of the division into right and left (c. 21-29).

Similarly in Test Abr, another piece of late apocalyptic literature, this distinction and its valence is presented as a final element in the description of the throne. In this case, the throne is the one upon which Abel sits:

Between the gates there stood a fearsome throne which looked like awesome crystal, flashing lightning like fire. And upon it was seated a wondrous man, looking like the sun, like a son of God. Before him there stood a crystalline table, all of gold and byssus. Upon the table lay a book six cubits thick and ten cubits broad. On its right and on its left stood two angels holding parchment and ink and a pen. Before the table sat a luminous angel, holding a scale in his hand. On his left hand there sat a fiery angel altogether merciless and severe, holding a trumpet in his hand, holding within it all-consuming fire for the testing of the sinners.

And the wondrous man who sat upon the throne was himself judging and sentencing the souls. The two angels of the right and of the left were recording. The one on the right was recording the righteous deeds, the one of the left the sins, and the one who was before the table who was holding the scale was weighing the souls, and the fiery angel who was holding in the fire was testing the souls.

Then Abraham asked the Archistrategos Michael, "What are these things that we see?"

And the Archistrategos said, "These things that you see, O holy Abraham, are judgment and recompense."

And behold, the angel who was holding the soul in his hand brought it before the judge and the judge said to one of the angels who were attending him, "Open this book for me and find me the sins of this soul."

And he opened the book and he found that its sins and righteous deeds were equally balanced, and he delivered it neither to the tormentors nor to those who were saved, but set it in the middle. 134

Secondly and with respect to heavenly enthronement, as Mowinckel states it, a final element in the enthronement scene is the description of "the state of things, which will now come about, or in an ideal sense has already come about ... his (Yahwch's) enemies are going to be struck with awe, whereas his people shall rejoice in his righteous

¹³³ Box, The Apocalypse of Abraham, 67-69.

¹³⁴ Test Abr 12 Rec. A; Stone, The Testament of Abraham, 28-31.

and luck-bringing rule." ¹³⁵ That this element persisted in the enthronement tradition may be seen in Ps 47:8f ("God reigns over the nations; God sits on his holy throne. The princes of the people gather as the people of the God of Abraham"), Dan 7:14b ("his dominion is an everlasting dominion, which shall not pass away, and his kingdom one that shall not be destroyed") and I Enoch 71:16 ("And all shall walk in thy ways since righteousness never forsaketh thee: With thee will be their dwelling-places, and with thee their heritage, and they shall not be separated from thee for ever and ever"). ¹³⁶ The final element in the enthronement scene could also be that Yahweh comes to judge (e.g. Ps 96:13).

In this pericope, then, we shall now see in detail that the motifs concerning the distinction between right and left as part of the description of the throne/chariot and the beginning of rule by the enthroned have been conflated and reworked to suit gnostic purposes.

Since Life's role at the right of Sabaoth has already been expressed, the Angel of Wrath—as Layton has restored the text—is then simply placed at the left. Sabaoth's right hand (in a probable restoration) is then given a name. Consistent with the myth, the name is Life, which results in this unusual contrast between ζωή and ἀδικία. From Jewish literature and from the NT one would customarily expect the contrast between δικαιοσύνη and ἀδικία or even between ἀλήθεια and ἀδικία. 137 In the Wisdom tradition, when Wisdom leaves the world, then unrighteousness abounds (1 Enoch 42:3; 4 Ezra 5:10). Here Wisdom can also be identified with life (Zoē, Prov 8:35) but life is not hypostatized. Thus the Wisdom tradition is not the direct source of this contrast. Rather, the contrast here between Life and unrighteousness is probably a gnostic creation and the result of the hypostatization of Life and her role as instructoress of Sabaoth. 138

The left is then said to represent the unrighteousness or to be a type of injustice, a type not in the sense of a hermeneutical term or

¹³⁵ S. Mowinckel, The Psalms in Israel's Worship (Oxford 1962) 1, 184.

¹³⁶ Charles, The Book of Enoch (1912) 145. Once again 1 have followed the text with the and thee rather than the emendation of Charles to the third person.

¹³⁷ Cf. G. Schrenk, ἀδικία, *TDNT* 1 (1964) 153ff; in the NT cf. John 7:18; Rom 3 5, 2 Thess 2:10, etc.

¹³⁸ One could consider it from the other point of view, namely that the expected contrast would be between life and death (Deut 30:15) or life and punishment (Matt 25-46). The change from one of these terms to doixin could perhaps then be seen as related to the "rulers of unrighteousness" (93[141].1 and 7). However, this seems less likely since the interest of the author is focused upon Life and would more easily represent his own contribution than "unrighteousness."

heavenly original but in the sense of an image, a copy. It appears odd at first that the angel, who punished laldabaoth and therefore served the forces of good and is now associated with Life and the rehabilitated Sabaoth, should be considered negatively in association with ἀδικία. But note the change! The left rather than Sabaoth's left, i.e. the angel, has become the image of unrighteousness. Sabaoth's left is not called unrighteousness. Secondly, this association becomes understandable in the light of the angel of punishment in later apocalyptic; he too stands at the left of the chariot (e.g. Test Abr 12, Rec. A). In other words, Sabaoth and his angel are not unrighteous and thus Sabaoth's left cannot be called unrighteous. Rather, one aspect of Sabaoth's rule is to punish unrighteousness through this angel; Sabaoth is, in effect, a righteous deity with a righteous angel. "The left" then becomes not a heavenly prototype but a copy, an image, of that original unrighteousness perpetrated by Ialdabaoth.

That the blasphemy of Ialdabaoth should be termed ἀδικία is appropriate, since in the LXX it can represent unrighteousness in the sense of lying or untruthfulness (e.g. Ps 51[52]:5; 118[119]:69).¹³⁹ As we have already mentioned, in the Wisdom tradition when Wisdom withdraws from the world, the world is said to be left in unrighteousness. Further, in Jewish apocalyptic, the whole period preceding the Messianic revelation can be summed up as a time of unrighteousness (e.g. 4 Ezra 4:51 ff; 1 Enoch 48:7; 91:5ff). For the gnostic the interest lies in showing that the unrighteousness of the world is bound up with pre-historic events, with the tyranny of Ialdabaoth. That tyranny took place above, not in the sense of within the pleromatic world but merely above the Abyss (cf. 95[143].10-13) and in the presence of Wisdom and Life as well as Sabaoth.

As his translation shows, Layton has correctly seen that the final line of this section, line 3, is a sentence in the second tense rather than a relative clause. With this final sentence, "it was before your time that they came into being," the angel Eleleth concludes one section of the myth of origins and resumes speaking directly to Norea. Thereby the dramatic setting of the dialogue between Eleleth and Norea is sustained and carried forth—cf. 93(141).4, 11, 18; 96(144).15, 19.

Again this pericope cannot be said to have influenced or to have been derived from the NT. To be sure, Christ appears enthroned in

¹³⁰ Cf. G. Schrenk, adikia, TDNT 1 (1964) 153f.

the NT and separates the sheep from the goats, the former on the right and the latter on the left (Matt 25:33-46). The just sheep then are said to receive "eternal life" while the goats receive eternal punisment. However, the context is entirely different there. In the NT the scene is the coming of the Son of Man and therefore the final judgment, whereas in NatArch it is the pre-cosmic period and the establishment of the structures of the universe. Further, the motif concerning a heavenly figure or angel standing on the right and left of the Son of Man is missing. It seems more likely that both the NT and NatArch derive from a common Jewish background than that they are mutually related.

The sections of the Sabaoth account when exegeted show clearly that the material of the Sabaoth account derives from Judaism. The terminology and the motifs can be explained as drawn from the literature of Judaism. The pattern followed here is the same as that pertaining to the apocalyptic seer in Judaism: ascent, vision (here: making) of the chariot, instruction or revelation, separation into right and left. Thus one is justified in concluding that the pericope uses the Jewish tradition of the ascent and vision of the throne/chariot by the apocalyptic seer. Similarly, the pattern and thus the Jewish tradition of heavenly enthronement are in evidence here: ascent, enthronement, and the beginning of rule.

Although the material used in the Sabaoth account derives from Judaism, we shall argue subsequently on the basis of its function that the Sabaoth account is a Christian composition. However, the Sabaoth account itself has not been influenced by the NT. The Jewish traditions used in this account have not been mediated by or through the NT to the Christian circles responsible for the Sabaoth account. There is no evidence that the ascent of Paul (2 Cor 12:2ff) or John (Rev 4:1ff) has influenced this account. Secondly, although the tradition of enthronement is applied to Christ in the NT, there is no indication that the NT has influenced the Sabaoth account. In the NT Christ's enthronement is associated with his parousia (1 Cor 15:23ff; Mark 14:61f; Matt 25:31ff) or with his resurrection/ascension (e.g. Phil 2:6-11; Rom 8:34; Col 3:1; Eph 1:20; Acts 2:33f; John 12:32) and not with the creation of the world. Further, the determinative

¹⁴⁰ In Col 1:15ff Christ's rule over all things is presented in the context of creation but on the basis of his being the image of God and his mediation in creation rather than his enthronement. Then in v. 18 he is portrayed as "first among all" on the basis of his resurrection.

motifs that are applied to Sabaoth are not in the NT applied to Christ. Repentance by Christ is not part of his enthronement. Nor is he "snatched up"; rather he ascends (άναβαίνειν e.g. John 20:17), is taken up (ἀναλαμβάνειν 1 Tim 3:16) or is exalted (ὑψοῦν e.g. Phil 2:9; Acts 2:33f; John 8:28). Nor is Christ placed in charge (καθίστημι) of the heavens; rather he sits at the right hand of the Father (κάθημαι e.g. Acts 2:34; Col 3:1). Nor is he given the name "God of the Forces"; rather he is called Lord (Phil 2:11). He is not given Life as his instructoress nor is he instructed concerning the Ogdoad. Lastly, as we have seen, a number of the minor motifs found in the Sabaoth account are not present in the NT. These motifs are as follows: matter as mother, loathing (σικχαίνειν), seven heavens, the heavenly veil, chaos, the Cherubim-chariot which is four-faced, infinitely many angels, angels who minister (ὐηρετεῖν), the harps of angels, a heavenly or angelic figure on the right and the left sides of the enthroned person, and the contrast between life and injustice.

These Jewish traditions concerning the ascent of the apocalyptic seer and heavenly enthronement have also been redacted in several ways by their re-use in the Sabaoth account of this document. First of all, the context has been changed. The ascent and the enthronement are placed within the account of the creation of the world. Secondly, the traditions are redacted in that the pattern is altered. The pericope concerning the repentance of Sabaoth is added as a preliminary to his ascent. Thirdly, the understanding of the world is different in the reuse of these traditions. Anti-cosmic dualism is clearly involved in the view that the world arose from the fall of Wisdom. Lastly, also strikingly new is the antipathy to the God of the OT that is expressed in the demotion of him on the one hand to the evil Demiurge Ialdabaoth and on the other hand to his repentant son Sabaoth.

B. Function

Concerning the function of the Sabaoth account in this document one should note first that the Sabaoth account is part of the pre-cosmic myth and second that the concern of the document is with the realm of imperishability and the origin, structure and ultimate fate of the entire cosmos. Within that framework then the reality of the rulers, among whom is Sabaoth, is presented.

The exact function of the Sabaoth account is not explicitly stated. In the further questions of Norea to Eleleth, after the Wisdom myth has been recounted, there is no added reference to Sabaoth. He does not appear to act as intercessor, mediator or revealer.

We propose that the Sabaoth account functions in a manner similar to the passages concerning Moses in Ezekiel Tr and Philo. Here, however, the account serves to authenticate not the prophet who composed but the God who revealed himself in the books of the OT. The books are validated as containing revelation about the realm of the Eighth because of the instruction of Life, even though the God who revealed himself was not from the Eighth. Secondly, the God of the OT is shown to be the one who rules this world and to be not completely evil, even though he is the offspring of an evil father laldabaoth. Thirdly, the Sabaoth account serves to evaluate theologically the Jewish people as belonging to this repentant ruler Sabaoth. In order then to support this interpretation of the function of the Sabaoth account, it will be necessary to consider some related gnostic literature and to observe the theological issues debated therein.

First of all, however, it must be said that the Nag Hammadi tractates have rendered suspect the clear differentiation of the gnostics into sects on the basis of distinct doctrines by the Church Fathers. Rather the documents contain within themselves teachings attributed to different sects ¹⁴¹ and thereby indicate that the mythologoumena were widely shared among the various branches of Gnosticism. Publication of the entire corpus from Nag Hammadi and further analysis will be necessary before a new classification is possible.

In the meantime, F. Wisse has provided an acceptable working definition of at least one sect, the Sethians, ¹⁴² within the branch of Syro-Egyptian Gnosticism. He derives his criterion from Epiphanius' presentation (*Pan.* 39) and characterizes their teaching as containing two basic elements: the evil origin of the world and of the non-gnostics and the heavenly origin of the race of Seth. These basic teachings

¹⁴¹ For example, the ApocryJn in its four versions (BG 8502; CG II, 1; III, 1; IV, 1) surpasses the bounds of the Barbelognostics when this sect is identified on the basis of Iren. *Adv. haer.* 1.29. Cf. Wisse, "The Nag Hammadi Library and the Heresiologists," 205-23.

¹⁴² F. Wisse, "The Sethians and the Nag Hammadi Library," The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Fighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers, ed. Lane C. McCianghy, (SBL 1972). 2. 601-07. He correctly dismisses the account in Hippolytus (Ref. 5.19-22) as an adequate criterion for defining the Sethians. The very document which Hippolytus refers to as the source of their teachings, "The Paraphrase of Seth," is probably mistakenly named by him and should rather be entitled as "The Paraphrase of Shem" as CG VII, 1.

can then be expressed with a variety of mythologoumena by the different gnostic authors.

NatArch as a whole and the Sabaoth account in particular, if they cannot be characterized as stemming from the Sethians, at least belong to the circle of those gnostics who share common traditions with the Sethians. Thus, in order to present the function of the Sabaoth account within the document, we shall first consider the Sethian document, ApocAd (CG V, 5) and then the report in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, concerning unnamed gnostics, who nevertheless share some features with the Sethians, before considering NatArch itself. In considering these accounts we shall pay particular attention to their teaching concerning the God of Israel, the revelation in Israel's sacred books, and the people of Israel.

ApocAd 143 in its basic literary form is a testament, 144 in which Adam instructs his son Seth concerning the revelation which he has received. The evil Demiurge according to this revelation will try to destroy the race of gnostics through a flood and then through fire and brimstone. In each case, however, they will be saved, and in a third event an Illuminator will come to redeem men.

The text is definitely Sethian and has been accepted as such by scholars. Discussion of the document, however, has led to divergence of opinion on two issues: first, whether the document presents an example of non-Christian Gnosticism 146 and second, whether the document is early. 147

¹⁴³ A. Böhlig and P. Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammodi im koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo (Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift der Martin-Luther-Universität; Halle-Wittenberg 1963) 86-117.

¹⁴⁴ Cf. P. Perkins, "Apocalyptic Schematization in the Apocalypse of Adam and the Gospel of the Egyptians," *The Society of Biblical Literature*, One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers, ed. Lane C. McGaughy (SBL 1972) 2, 591-95.

¹⁴⁵ Cf. Böhlig-Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V, 86f; Wisse, "The Sethians and the Nag Hammadi Library," 606.

¹⁴⁶ Böhlig in his introduction to the edition (Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V, 90ff) and subsequently has expressed the view that ApocAd is not a Christian document: i.e. A. Böhlig, "Die Adamapokalypse aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi als Zeugnis jüdisch-iranischer Gnosis," OriensChrist. 48 (1964) 44-49; and A. Böhlig, "Jüdisches und iranisches in der Adam-apokalypse des Codex V von Nag Hammadi," Mysterion und Wahrheit (Arbeiten zur Geschichte des späteren Judentums und des Urchristentums Band 6; Leiden 1967) 149-61. His views have received support from K. Rudolph in his review of the Böhlig-I abih edition in 171 2 90 (1965) 359-62; from G. MacRae in his articles "The Coptic Gnostic Apocalypse of Adam," Her J 6 (1965) 27-35 and "The Apocalypse of Adam Reconsidered," The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers, ed. Lane C. McGaughy, (SBL 1972) 573-80; and from Luise Schottroff, "Animae naturaliter salvandae: Zum Problem

Our concern is particularly with the latter issue: whether the document is early. It is more probable that ApocAd is early since its speculation upon the gnostic hierarchy of beings is less elaborate, it stays mainly within the narrative framework, it does not try to explain everything, ¹⁴⁸ and its schematization is close to that of apocalyptic material. ¹⁴⁹ When taken together these indications point to an early date of ApocAd. Hopefully, our consideration of the Sabaoth account will also reinforce that conclusion.

Before examining the ApocAd, we should first discuss the relationship

der himmlischen Herkunft des Gnostikers," Christentum und Gnosis, hrsg. W. Eltester (BZNW 37; Berlin 1969) 65-97.

On the contrary, in their reviews of the Böhlig-Labib edition, the following have argued for a Christian provenience of the tractate: J. Daniélou, in RSR 54 (1966) 285-93; A. Orbe in Greg 46 (1965) 169-72; and H.-M. Schenke in OLZ 61 (1966) 32-34. W Beltz in his Habilitationsschrift Die Adam-Apokalypse aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi Jüdische Bausteine in gnostischen Systemen (Humboldt-Universität: Berlin 1970) has also defended the Christian derivation of the tractate in its present form.

Since the tractate GrPow (CG VI, 4) has also shown that in a literary setting of predictive prophecy a document can be Christian without there being explicit acknowledgement, the issue at present revolves around whether in ApocAd there are "explicit Christian allusions or veiled ones that are specifically Christian" (MacRae, "The Apocalypse of Adam Reconsidered," 575) and also whether the cluster of alleged allusions is possible in a non-Christian document: e.g. the Illuminator who is punished in his flesh (77.16-18), his name is taken upon the water (83.5f; cf. 77.19), the Holy Spirit (77.17f), water of life in a baptismal context (84.7f). It seems that final judgment upon this issue will only be possible when all of the gnostic documents are available and when each of these alleged allusions has been studied in terms of its function within the documents and of its place within the development of Gnosticism.

14' Böhlig (Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V, 95), Kasser, (R. Kasser, "Textes Gnostiques: Remarques A Propos des Éditions Récentes du Livre Secret de Jean, et des Apocalypses de Paul, Jacques, et Adam," Le Muséon 78 [1965] 91), MacRae ("The Apocalypse of Adam," 576), Perkins ("Apocalyptic Schematization in the Apocatypse of Adam," 591ff) and Rudolph (in his review of the Böhlig-Labib edition, 361) have all stressed the early nature of the document. Schenke (in his review of the Böhlig-Labib edition, 32), Beltz (Die Adam-Apokalypse aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi, 220-22) and Schottroff ("Animae naturaliter salvandae," 82), however, have argued that it is late. Beltz, in particular, has set forth the arguments for this position and claimed that ApocAd is contemporaneous with the acknowledgedly late GEgypt, since the obscure elements in ApocAd can be clarified by the fuller GEgypt. However, it is equally possible that GEgypt is a later development of material in ApocAd. He has secondly argued for a late date because of Manichaean material, which he finds in 82.4-83.4. However, again this material could just as well be pre-Manichaean material, which was taken over by the Manichaeans rather than vice versa. For our purposes, it is worth noting that this alleged Manichaean material occurs in the excursus on the fourteen sayings concerning the Illuminator, which are probably a later addition to the basic document. Thus, even if Beltz were correct, the Grundschrift, in which we are interested, could still be early

¹⁴⁸ Cf. MacRae, "The Apocalypse of Adam Reconsidered," 576.

¹⁴⁹ Cf. Perkins, "Apocalyptic Schematization in the Apocalypse of Adam," 591 ff.

between ApocAd and NatArch. There is no question of literary dependence here, but both tractates do share common gnostic traditions. For example, in names both tractates definitely call the evil Demiurge Saklas (ApocAd 74.3, 7; NatArch 95[143].7) and probably relate Seth to the gnostics (ApocAd 85.24; NatArch probably 91[139].31). 150 Secondly, both tractates share common mythologoumena. Adam and Eve are androgynous at first and possess the divine element (ApocAd 64.6-12; NatArch 89[137].3-11). The separation of Eve from Adam causes the loss of the divine element (ApocAd 64.20-30; NatArch 89[137].3-11). Eve, as the spiritual woman, teaches Adam (ApocAd 64.12f; NatArch 89[137].11-22).

For our comparison with NatArch it is important to note the views of ApocAd on God—both the supreme God and the lower ruler. The supreme God is entitled God; God, the Eternal; the God of Truth; or the living God.¹⁵¹ On the other hand, the lower ruler, who is drawn from the deity of the OT, is also termed a God and receives the names: God; the God who made us; the Lord, the God who made us; God, the Ruler of the Aeons; God the Almighty (*Pantokratōr*); Saklas, their God; the God of the Aeons; and the God of the Powers.¹⁵²

The lower God functions as the Demiurge of man (66.17-21) and probably implicitly also as the Demiurge of the world. In creating man the Demiurge has given him a spirit of life to make him a living soul (66.21-23; cf. Gen 2:7). However, ApocAd makes clear that this soul perishes and that there is another spirit from above, which brings eternal life (cf. 76.15-27; 77.7-15; 84.1-3).

At the flood, it is the same God, the lower God, who both destroys all flesh and yet quiets his anger and unexplainedly spares Noah (69.2-17; 70.6-15).

¹⁵⁰ Cf. the restoration of the lacuna here by Layton in "The Hypostasis of the Archons," (1974) 409.

¹⁵¹ God (πΝΟΥΤΕ): 72.14; 82.21; 83.13, 21; God. the Eternal (πΝΟΥΤΕ ΠΙϢΑ ΕΝΕ2): 64.13f; 76.22; 85.15; the God of Truth (πΝΟΥΤΕ ΝΤΕ ΤΜΕ): 65.13; and the living God (πΝΟΥΤΕ ΕΤΟΝ2): 84.9f; and possibly also the God of the Aeons (πΝΟΥΤΕ ΝΤΕ ΝΝΕϢΝ): 85.4f, unless the text is emended here to avoid attributing to the supreme God this title which also applies to the lower God and seems to connote the aeons of the evil creation.

¹⁵² God (πΝογτε): 64.7; [66.28]; 70.6, 16; 71.16; 78.15; 81.16; the God who made us (πΝογτε εταφταμίον): 64.17; 65.17f, 31 f; 66.20f, 25 f; the Lord, the God who made us (πχοεις πΝογτε εταφταμίον): 66.14 f; God, the Ruler of the Aeons (πΝογτε παρχών Ντε Νεών) 64.20 f, God the Almighty (πΝογτε ππαντοκρατώρ) 69.[4], 7; 72.25; 73.9; Saklas, their God (Cακλα πεγνογτε) 74.3 f, 7 (without the phrase "their God"); the God of the Aeons (πΝογτε ΝΤΕ ΝΙΕών) 74.26 f; and the God of the Powers (77.4).

After the flood Noah then divides the entire earth, in accord with Gen 9:18f, among his sons Shem, Ham, and Japhet, who are to serve the Pantokrator in fear and slavery (72.15-25). From the seed of Ham and Japhet some 400,000 men enter the land of the true gnostics and dwell with them (73.15-20). When the remaining seed of Ham and Japhet reproach the lower God for this event, he is entitled Saklas. On the other hand, the descendants of Noah through Shem have done the entire will of the lower God (74.17-21), 153 who in this context is named the Pantokrator (72.25; 73.9). There is only the one lower God, however, who is presented under these different titles (cf. 74.3-21 where Saklas is identified as the deity of Ham, Japhet, and also "of the son of Noah", i.e. Shem). It seems probable that the division of the peoples of the world into the descendants of Shem, Ham and Japhet and the particular dedication of the descendants of Shem to the lower God as the Pantokrator indicate that Shem represents the Jews and Ham and Japhet the Gentiles (cf. Gen 10f; Jub 7-8; I QM 2:13-14). 154 The coming of the Illuminator then is to save the souls of those from among the seed of Noah and the sons of Ham and Japhet, who have thought the gnosis of the eternal God in their heart and received a spirit from one of the eternal angels (76.8-27). 155

Finally, it is important for our comparison with NatArch to note how this knowledge is transmitted. It was not placed in a book nor written down (85.5f) but rather angelic beings have brought these words to a rock on a high mountain (85.7-11). These words of imperishability and truth have then not been recognized by all generations of men (85.8-13); but they are the revelation, which Adam gave

¹⁵³ The son of Noah here probably refers to Shem, cf. Beltz, *Die Adam-Apokalypse aus Codex V*, 111

¹⁵⁴ Cf. Behz, Die Adam-Apokalypse aux Codex V, 99-102.

¹⁵⁵ It is probably no accident that the return of the gnostic men to the earth is not mentioned after their second delivery from fire (75.9-76.7). Rather, the emphasis in the tractate is upon the possibility of the remaining descendants of Shem, Ham and Japhet to receive gnosis and the spirit. Does this indicate a propagandistic purpose for the work?

upon a stele to withstand the flood; cf. Jos. Ant. 1.68-70; Adam and Eve 50:1. Although the terms in Josephus are (στήλη/stele) and in Adam and Eve (tabulae/tablets), the terms πέτρα/rock are equally acceptable in this context: e.g. Jub 8:3 the rock upon which the teaching of the Watchers was engraved. Cf. Perkins, "Apocalyptic Schematization in the Apocalypse of Adam," 593 and n. 23. The denial by Beltz of this interpretation presses too far the phrase "not written." Is the sense not that the words were not written in a book but inscribed upon a rock? Otherwise, the reference to a rock is meaningless. Cf. Beltz, Die Adam-Apokalypse aus Codex V, 192.

to Seth and which Seth gave to his seed, and the hidden knowledge of Adam which is the holy baptism of those who know the eternal gnosis (85.19-31). This hidden tradition of words then is the source of gnosis. It stands apart from the Law and the Prophets, and the whole question of the role of the Law and the Prophets is bypassed.

We shall contend in our discussion of Sabaoth in NatArch that these views were later developed further. When the issue of the value of the Law and the Prophets in addition to gnostic revelation was raised, the materials were at hand for a solution. The two different names, Pantokrator (-Sabaoth)¹⁵⁷ and Saklas, were applied to two different rulers; and the former came to represent the God of the Jews, who was considered as not entirely evil and who saved his own people at the flood. Although he was not entirely evil, this God of the Jews could still not impart the spiritual principle from above which gives eternal life.

The second account to consider is Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, before we consider directly the Sabaoth account in NatArch. As Bullard pointed out frequently in his commentary, Irenaeus' account here of the doctrine of an unnamed sect is also closely related to NatArch. The sect to which this teaching belongs has been generally accepted as the Ophites on the basis of the prominence of the serpent within the account and the descriptions of Hippolytus (Ref. 5.6) and Theodoret (Haereticarum fahularum compendium 1.14; ed. PG 83. 363-68), who identifies the Ophites with the Sethians. If the Ophites do not belong to the Sethians proper, they at least certainly share common traditions with them. For example, although the role of Seth is not greatly emphasized, yet those who have the particle of light ultimately derive from him. 158

¹⁵⁷ The Hebrew YHWH s'bā'ōt is translated in the LXX in various ways: as kyrios sabaōth throughout Isa and occasionally elsewhere; as kyrios tōn dynameōn in 1-4 Kgs, Ps, Amos, Zech and Jer; as pantokratōr or kyrios pantokratōr in various places in 2 and 3 Kgs, I Chr, Hos, Amos, Mic, Nah, Hab, Zeph, Zech, Mal, Jer. Sabaoth is also maintained in transliteration in Sib Or 1.304, 316; 2.239; 2 Enoch 21:1; 52:1 as well as in the magical papyri and the curse tablets. Cf. C.H. Dodd, The Bible and the Greeks (London 1935) 16-19; Bousset, Die Religion des Judentums, 312, n. 2; MacRae, Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic, 130: Bauer, Wörterbuch, sub voce. It is doubtful whether Dodd's suggestion (17) is necessarily correct, i.e. that the translation into kyrios sabaōth, as if the two nouns were in apposition, gave rise to the treatment of Sabaoth as a proper name within the gnostic writings and magical papyri, since the other divine names from the OT are also treated individually as proper names (cf. Iao, Adoneus; Iren, Adv haer, 1.30).

may need to be modified; cf. Wisse, "The Sethians and the Nag Hammadi Library," 606. In Irenaeus it is the humectatio luminis, which has fallen from above (30.2; ed.

In particular Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30 shares with NatArch the stress on Wisdom as the one from whom this world derives (30.2; ed. Harvey 1. 228f), the figure of Ialdabaoth (30.4; ed. Harvey 1. 230) and the sons whom he has generated (30.3f; ed. Harvey 1. 229f). In addition Irenaeus here also has the mythologoumena that Eve has a power which leaves her (30.6; ed. Harvey 1. 233), that the mother comes in the serpent (30.7; ed. Harvey 1. 234), and also that the serpent is Wisdom and the wisest of animals (30.14; ed. Harvey 1. 241).

For our purposes again it is important to note the teaching within this account concerning God. In addition to the supreme God who is called the First Man (30.1; ed. Harvey I. 227), the lower deity laldabaoth also claims to be God (30.5; ed. Harvey I. 232) and demands to be worshipped as such (30.10; ed. Harvey I. 237). He resides in the seventh heaven, with his sons in the six heavens underneath. Together they rule both heavenly and earthly things (30.4; ed. Harvey I. 230f). He too breathes a spirit of life into Adam, which in this case serves to deprive laldabaoth of his power and to transfer it to Adam. Samael (who is also named Michael) then is the serpent offspring of laldabaoth who is cast down by him into this world. There Samael generated six sons in imitation of his father's hebdomad, who together with him form the demons that afflict mankind (30.8; ed. Harvey I. 235).

At the flood it is Ialdabaoth who seeks to destroy mankind while Wisdom saves those who are around Noah because of the light within them (30.10; ed. Harvey I. 237). Who exactly is responsible for saving Noah is left unsaid, but probably Ialdabaoth is to be understood. After the flood Ialdabaoth chooses for himself Abraham and his seed, leads his descendants out of Egypt, gives them the Law and makes them Jews (30.10; ed. Harvey I. 237). Ultimately then Christ comes to bring back the particle of light to the perfect Aeon (30.11 ff; ed. Harvey I. 238-40).

Harvey 1, 228) and ultimately needs to be reintegrated in the incorruptible Aeon (30.14; ed. Harvey 1, 241). By the creation of Adam and Eve this humectatio luminis was transferred from Ialdabaoth to Adam to Eve and then back to Prunicos (30.5f; ed. Harvey 1, 232f). After they were driven out of Paradise, Adam and Eve received an ador suavitatis humectationis luminis in order to be reminded of their own (30.8f; Harvey 1, 235f). After the birth of Cain and Abel, it is through the providence of Prunicos that Seth and Norea are born, from whom come the rest of men (30.9; ed Harvey 1, 236). From their descendants many became subject to the lower hebdomad, but Prunicos saved her own, namely, those of the humectatio luminis. At the flood Wisdom saved those who were around Noah in the ark because of the light within them (30.9f; ed. Harvey 236f). Then it is this light to which Christ is sent (30.11f; ed. Harvey 1, 238).

Unlike ApocAd the problematic of how this knowledge reaches one is resolved differently. A hidden, oral tradition, completely independent of the Law and the Prophets is not introduced. To be sure, the Law and the Prophets are attributed to Ialdabaoth and his rulers:

Each of these receives his own herald for the purpose of glorifying and proclaiming God; so that, when the rest hear these praises, they too may serve those who are announced as gods by the prophets.

Moreover, they distribute the prophets in the following manner: Moses, and Joshua the son of Nun, and Amos, and Habakkuk, belonged to Ialdabaoth; Samuel, and Nathan, and Jonah, and Micah, to Iao; Elijah, Joel, and Zechariah, to Sabaoth; Isaiah, Ezekiel, Jeremiah, and Daniel, to Adonai; Tobias and Haggai to Eloi; Michaiah and Nahum to Oreus; Esdras and Zephaniah to Astranphaeus.¹⁵⁹

Nevertheless, this account considers that true knowledge still comes through Moses and the prophets because Wisdom also spoke through them without them realizing it. Thereby she was able to communicate something about the First Man, i.e. the Supreme God, and to prophesy concerning Christ:

Each one of these, then, glorifies his own father and God, and they maintain that Sophia herself has also spoken many things through them regarding the first Anthropos (man) ... The (other) powers being terrified by these things, and marvelling at the novelty of those things which were announced by the prophets.¹⁶⁰

Wisdom was even able to act through Ialdabaoth without his realizing it in order to prepare for the descent of Christ. 161

Prunicus brought it about by means of laldabaoth (who knew not what he did), that emissions of two men took place, the one from the barren Elizabeth, and the other from the Virgin Mary.

If we return then to the first section of Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, we can see examples of the knowledge concerning the First Man which can be drawn from the Law and the Prophets and which was significant for gnostic mythology. The first light is incorruptible (cf. Gen 1:3f). That light is called the First Man, but there is also a Second Man (cf. Gen 1:26), who came from him. The Holy Spirit, the first woman,

¹³⁹ Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30.10; ed. Harvey 1. 237; tr. The Anu-Nicene Fathers (reprint Grand Rapids 1956) 1. 356f.

Adv. haer. 1.30 10f, ed. Harvey 1 2371, tr. The Ante-Nicene Fathers, 1, 357. As Harvey notes in his edition, the phrase et incorruptibilith Acone is only attested in the Clermont manuscript and is probably a later addition, 238, ii. 1. Thus the translator has consigned the phrase to a footnote; cf. 357, ii. 2.

¹⁶¹ Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30.11; ed. Harvey I. 238; tr. The Ante-Nicene Fathers, 1, 357.

is above chaos. From the union of the First Man and the Second Man with her the Third Male, Christ, issued forth (cf. Gen 1:2). She is also called the mother of the living (cf. Gen 3:20).

From this background the material in NatArch becomes much clearer. Here too there is, of course, the Supreme God, e.g. the Father of Truth 86(134).21. The lower God laldabaoth (94[142].21f) also creates offspring for himself to fill each of the heavens below him 95(143).1-4. ¹⁶² He is named Saklas as well as laldabaoth 95(143).7f. Further, he is identified as Samael 94(142).25f and thus the tradition associated with Samael, that he is a fallen heavenly being who is the leader of the demonic forces, is applied to laldabaoth as well. Therefore, laldabaoth is cast down to Tartaros below the abyss (95[143], 10-13), where he begets further offspring (96[144],4-10). Within the myth then place is provided for Sabaoth to assume the role of laldabaoth, to reign over the seventh heaven, and thereby to function as an intermediate deity. There he is given Life and is named the God of the Forces (95[143],19-23 and 31-34).

The role of Sabaoth is not restricted merely to the revelation of Eleleth; rather he functions as well in the Noah story (92[140].4-21). Contrary to ApocAd and Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, NatArch distinguishes between the deity who seeks to destroy all men and the deity who seeks to save Noah. It is Sabaoth, here entitled the Ruler of the Forces, who protects Noah, and Ialdabaoth as the Great One, who along with the other rulers causes the flood. 163 Norea as the representative of

¹⁶² It is an indication of how carefully the myth is constructed that Ialdabaoth here creates seven sons and in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, creates only six. In Iren. Ialdabaoth remains in the seventh heaven; thus he and his six sons form the Hebdomad. In NatArch, since Ialdabaoth is cast out of the heavens, seven sons must be created in order to retain the Hebdomad. Cf. also OnOrgWld 101(149),24-102(150),2 and 106 (154),19-27.

¹⁶³ It is clear that the Ruler of the Forces is equal to the God of the Forces, i.e. Sabaoth, for two reasons. First, only in these two instances is the term "Forces" (δυναμιζ) used in a title and thus the two titles should be referred to the same person. Secondly, the narrative demands a distinction between the leader of the rulers and the Ruler of the Forces. In the narrative all the rulers plan to cause the flood and to destroy all flesh (92[140].4-8). However, the Ruler of the Forces is against this plan (92[140].8-14), insofar as he wants to protect Noah. Later, however, when the rulers come to Norea, there is no indication of division among them (92[140].19-21). Rather their great One is among them and united with them. As 86[134].27-31 shows, their Great One is none other than laldabaoth, who alone claimed to be the one God (cf. 94[142].21-26, 95[143].5 K). Although Bullard in his communitary alludes to the title of Sabaoth, he fails to draw out fully the implications and rests with the assumption that the Ruler of the Forces equals the Demiurge, i.e. laldabaoth (cf. *The Hypostasis of the Archons*, 94). Cf. the commentary of Layton in "The Hypostasis of the Archons, 1975) ad loc.

the race of the gnostics is then associated with the heavenly angel Eleleth (92[140].32ff).

Concerning revelation it is said that when the True Man comes, he will teach the saved about everything (96[144].33-97[145].4), which knowledge will make them immortal 96[144].25-27). In the meantime, Norea has received a revelation from Eleleth but Sabaoth has also received instruction from Life concerning the Eighth, although he is below the veil in the seventh heaven (95[143].19-22 and 31-34).

It seems clear that the same problem is vexing the author of NatArch as vexed the author behind Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, namely, how to account for the aspects of the Law and the Prophets which were acceptable to the gnostics and which taught them, when the texts were correctly interpreted, something about the pleromatic realm. Iren. Adv. hear. 1.30, had solved the problem by having Wisdom speak through the unknowing Ialdabaoth. NatArch has answered the same problem but with a different solution in that the God of the Law and the Prophets is another God than the evil Demiurge. To be sure, he is descended from the Demiurge and a God of fear (95[143].13-15) and yet not entirely evil since he has repented. His elevation to the seventh heaven and instruction then concerning the things of the Eighth make it possible for him to communicate this information to Moses and the Prophets, although he himself is fated never to enter the Eighth. Surely an appropriate tradition—the ascent of the visionary to the chariot and throne of God—has been drawn upon to solve this problem concerning the revelation contained in the books of Israel.

Insofar as Sabaoth saves Noah and is responsible for the revelation in the Law and the Prophets, he is the God of the Jews and they are his special people. That this assessment need not be a mere evaluation of the past people of the OT but could also involve an evaluation of contemporaneous Jewish people is shown by Origen's *Contra Celsum*, in which Origen makes frequent reference to his discussions and debates with Jews on the meaning of scripture. ¹⁶⁴ In contrast the true gnostics belong to the Father of the All 96(144).11-12 and 19-20.

In his commentary, Bullard has suggested that Sabaoth represents the situation of one group among the three possible types of men, namely, the psychics. He considers this passage from a Valentinian background with its three categories of pneumatic, psychic, and hylic men. 163 We shall see that Sabaoth in OnOrgWld does indeed represent

¹⁶⁴ Cf. C. Cel. 1.45; 2.28; 4.2; tr. H. Chadwick (rev. ed.; Cambridge, England 1965).

¹⁶⁵ Bullard, The Hypostasis of the Archons, 110.

the psychics. There the immortal Light-Man resides in the middle and represents the pneumatics (112[160],10-22); Sabaoth dwells in the seventh heaven and signifies the psychics (104[152],20f); and laldabaoth and his offspring abide in the other six heavens and typify the choics or hylics (106[154],19-27 and 122[170],6-9). However, in NatArch the anthropology is less clearly organized and systematized. Further, in NatArch it is the psyche that is said to come from above, from the Imperishable Light, rather than the pneuma (96[144],21 f). To be sure, then, the spirit of truth will come and live within the soul and thus make the soul immortal (96[144],22-26). The elements for the separation of men into these three anthropological categories are all present, but they are not systematized as in OnOrgWld or in Valentinianism. The only separation that we find is the separation into those who have true knowledge, those represented by Sabaoth, i.e. the Jewish people, and those represented by the rulers.

It is also appropriate to his purpose that the gnostic author has drawn upon the tradition of enthronement in portraying the role of Sabaoth. Sabaoth has been placed in charge of the seventh heaven and implicitly in charge of all below. In effect, he has been installed as king—although without the title. Thereby, the people of Israel are subject to him as their king as well as the remaining peoples and rulers. For the gnostic author, unlike Moses' enthronement in Ezekiel Tr or Philo, which established him as the divinely appointed ruler of the world and the leader of the divinely founded people, the enthronement of Sabaoth establishes his rule as part of the evil world and thus indicates the inferiority of him and his subjects to the true gnostics. Although Sabaoth has repented, he is still an offspring of laldabaoth, who remains below the veil.

This notion that the ruler below the Pleroma is a king is a familiar one in gnostic literature. In the TriProt (CG XIII, 2: 43.15-17) at the time of completion and at the time of the coming of the destroyer, the powers are disturbed and their "king" is afraid (cf. also 41.11 ff). Heracleon also considers the Demiurge in the Valentinian system as a king in Frag. 40:

Heracleon seems to say that the "royal officer" (v. 46) was the Demiurge, "for he himself ruled like a king (βασιλεύειν) over those under him. Because his domain is small and transitory he was called a royal officer," he says,

¹⁶⁶ Cf. also ApocryJn BG 8502 41.12-15 in which laldabaoth appoints seven kings over the world and five over the underworld.

"like a petty princeling who is set over a small kingdom by the universal king." 167

Further, in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30.4-5, Ialdabaoth and his descendants sit in order. Therefore Ialdabaoth is at the top, in the seventh heaven. Together they are said to "rule" heavenly and earthly things, a verb which is appropriate to royal dignity (regere).

In contrast, the author of NatArch states that the gnostics are those anointed with the anointing of eternal life from the "undominated race" (97[145].2-5). The gnostics are themselves from the Above, from the Imperishable Light (96[144].21-22). As here, so also in SJC BG 92.4-7, 10-11; 108.11-15 (cf. parallel in Eug III, 3), the "undominated race" are the pleromatic, divine beings. This negative motif emphasizes their radical freedom from entrapment in the evil rule of the world. By their origin and anointing, then, the gnostics are also radically free from the evil rule of this world.

There is a possibility that this negative motif implies its opposite, the positive motif, i.e. that the pleromatic beings are kings themselves and that the true gnostics are also the "undominated race." Thus in OnOrgWld 122(170).6-8 it is stated that there are three men and their races: the pneumatic of the aeon, the psychic and the earthly. After discussing the sending of the innocent spirits into the world (124[172]. 5—125[173].3), the author turns to the true gnostics and states:

Therefore ($\delta \omega \tau \epsilon$) there are four kinds ($\gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma \varsigma$). Three belong to the kings of the Eighth. But ($\delta \dot{\epsilon}$) the fourth kind ($\gamma \dot{\epsilon} \nu \sigma \varsigma$) is a perfect ($\tau \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \epsilon \iota \sigma \nu$) kingless one, which is above them all. For these will go into the holy place ($\tau \dot{\sigma} \pi \sigma \varsigma$) of their father and will be at ease in rest ($\dot{\alpha} \nu \dot{\alpha} \pi \iota \sigma \sigma \varsigma$) with their eternal, unspeakable glory and with an unceasing joy. But ($\delta \dot{\epsilon}$) they are kings among the mortal ($\theta \nu \eta \tau \dot{\sigma} \nu$) as ($\dot{\omega} \varsigma$) immortal. ¹⁶⁸

¹⁶⁷ Text W. Völker, Quellen zur Geschichte der christlichen Gnosis (Sammlung Ausgewählter Kirchen- und Dogmengeschichtlicher Quellenschriften 5; Tübingen 1932) 80; translation W. Förster, Gnosis: A Selection of Gnostic Texts, tr. R. McL. Wilson (Oxford 1972) 1. 177.

¹⁶⁸ OnOrgWld 125(173).3-12; Böhlig, *Die koptisch-gnustische Schrift ohne Titel*, 100-03. Cf. 127(175).4-14. The motif that the gnostics become kings is found in other circles of Gnosticism: e.g. ApocryJas 3 25-27, 10 1-5, GTh Saying 2, 81, ThCont 145 14; DialSav 138.11-15. While the highest God may not be named a king in gnostic documents, note that he or his spirit is termed a μοναρχία in ApocryJii BG 22.18, since no one rules (ἄρχειν) over him. See also the Naassenes and the reference to being a king and kingless in Hipp. *Ref.* 5.8.2, 18, 30 (ed. Wendland; GCS 26; 89-94).

However, it is possible that this positive aspect of the motif is a later development, when it is applied to gnostics while they are in the world. In either case, the claim is made for the radical freedom of the gnostic from the evil rule of this world.

There are also practical, political implications in this view. Although the archai, exousiai and archontes are demonic powers, the terms also carry political references in late antiquity. It is difficult not to see in them and in the gnostic view a rejection of the legitimacy of the governmental system in which the gnostic lived, i.e. the Roman Empire. ¹⁶⁹ This rejection, however, would not imply a revolutionary drive to overthrow the government but rather to expose the false appearance and to establish the gnostics as an elite beyond the political system, as those who alone know the way to salvation. ¹⁷⁰

C. CONFIRMATION OF THE FUNCTION AND THE DATE

We have proposed above that the name of Sabaoth has been chosen for this ruler of the seventh heaven in order specifically to represent

¹⁶⁹ In his article, H. G. Kippenberg ("Versuch einer soziologischen Verortung des antiken Gnostizismus," Numen 17[1950] 211-31) has proposed this view and noted that there is no explicit reference to the political power of the Roman Empire in the gnostic document (225). Since the evil ruler of the world is often portrayed as the God of the OT in gnostic documents, however, did Gnosticism begin as a rejection of the Jewish God and Jewish hegemony by people in the Syria-Palestine area, as Bousset has suggested in Huuptprobleme 321-25, which rejection then would have been secondarily applied to Roman rule when the Romans became the ruling power? However, this question must be considered in conjunction with the possibility that this negative portrayal of the God of the OT arose out of increasing pessimism towards the world and his creation or out of reaction to his unfavorable traits (e.g. envy) rather than as a reaction to his unjust rule.

¹⁷⁰ Kippenberg, "Versuch einer soziologischen Verortung," 231. Cf. also the discussion in Origen C. Cel. 8.68 (tr. Chadwick 504-05). Celsus, the pagan, maintains that all should uphold that there be one king, the one who has received the power from "the son of crafty Kronos," i.e. Zeus. Origen, the orthodox Christian, agrees that there should be one king but denies that he is appointed by "the son of crafty Kronos," since -- as Origen relates --- the Greek myths say that he drove his father from rule and cast him into Tartarus. Rather, the king is to be the one appointed "by God who governs all things and knows what he is doing in the matter of the appointment of kings." If he were to join in the discussion, the answer of the gnostic author of NatArch would seem to be that there is to be one king, the one appointed by Sabaoth, whose father was cast into Tartarus, but that he and his appointee belong to the evil realm of the world and have no ultimate authority over the gnostics. For the identification of laldabaoth-Kronos-Saturn, see C. Cel. 6.31 and Bousset, Haupsprobleme 351-55. Sabsoth and Adonal are identified with Jeus by Celsus, but Origen denies that identification in C. Cel. 5.45 and 6.39. It deserves further study to see if the identification Sabaoth (or Adonai)-Zeus-Jupiter is found in the gnostic documents themselves and to see how vital the discussion of the divine right of kings was in the time of Gnosticism's existence.

the God of the Jews. A consideration of the Gnostikoi, the Archontics, and the Severians—all sects related to the Sethians—makes this evident and also confirms our hypothesis that the basic theological issue involved in the Sabaoth account is the revelation contained in the books of Israel.

Concerning the Gnostikoi, Epiphanius states (*Pan.* 25-26)¹⁷¹ that this sect derives from the deacon Nicolas (*Pan.* 25.1.1); he claims to have encountered personally the sect as a young man and at that time to have read their books (*Pan.* 26.17.4-18.2). The presence of the mythological figures Barbelo (*Pan.* 25.2.2), Ialdabaoth (*Pan.* 25.2.2) and Prunikos (*Pan.* 25.3.2) indeed relates this sect to the Sethians. Their books further associate them with the Sethians. For example, some books are written in the name of Seth; there are *Apocalypses of Adam* (*Pan.* 26.8.1); there is a *Gospel of Eve* in which Eve received the food of knowledge through the revelations of the serpent (*Pan.* 26.2.6). Further, they have a book called *Norea*, the figure who is the wife of Noah and burned the ark three times, because she was refused admittance (*Pan.* 26.1.3-9). The list of rulers is also of interest to us, since Epiphanius reports a dispute concerning the occupants of the last two heavens (*Pan.* 26.10.2-3; cf. 25.2.2):

Now some of them say that Ialdabaoth is in the sixth heaven, but others say Elilaeus. Now they propose that there is another, seventh, heaven in which, they say, Sabaoth is; now others say, "No! But Ialdabaoth is in the seventh." 172

They also had a problem with the OT, although they continued to use it as a source of revelation since they found therein some words from the spirit of truth. Epiphanius expresses their problem in these words (*Pan.* 26.6.1-2):

Now they use both Old and New Testament but they renounce the one who spoke in the OT. And whenever they find a word able to have a sense mimical to them, they say that this is spoken by the worldly spirit. But if any passage is able to be formed into the likeness of their desire—not as the word says but as their deluded mind says—they change this into their own desire and say that it was spoken by the spirit of truth.¹⁷³

¹⁷¹ Ed. Holl (GCS 25.1) 267-300.

¹⁷² Ed. Holl (GCS 25.1) 287; translation mine. In contrast with NatArch, one notes that the myth related here by Epiphanius contains the figure Barbelo and the reference to the need to gather the power from bodies in order to return it to the above. On the other hand, this myth of Epiphanius contains no reference to Sahaoth's repentance, ascent and enthronement in the seventh heaven

¹⁷³ Ed. Holl (GCS 25.1) 282-83; translation mine.

In their resolution of the problem, however, these Gnostikoi maintained that the God of the OT was entirely evil. In particular, in *Pan.* 26.10.6 (cf. also 10.7-11) it is Sabaoth who is portrayed as the evil Demiurge and also as the God of the Jews:

Now some say that Sabaoth has the form of an ass; others say that of a pig. Therefore he says—he commanded the Jews not to eat pork. And they say that he is the maker of heaven and earth, and of the heavens after him and of his own angels.¹⁷⁴

In considering this report of Epiphanius, one should first note that it is late and compilatory, i.e. reflecting a number of views within the sect. Secondly, it is based upon the distant recollections of Epiphanius. Thirdly, the dispute concerning the occupants of the sixth and seventh heaven probably involves something deeper than just a name. It seems quite probable that this account of Epiphanius, with its dispute over the position of Ialdabaoth and Sabaoth echoes attempts to associate the evil Demiurge of the world more clearly with the God of the OT, with the God of the Jews. Since his name appears within the pages of the LXX, Sabaoth could be more easily taken as the God of the OT and of the Jews than the enigmatic figure and name of Ialdabaoth. The reference to the spirit of truth as the author of acceptable portions of the Law and the Prophets is then an alternate view of solving the problem than that of NatArch, which view, however, is similar to that of Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30.

Similarly the Archontics consider Sabaoth as the God of the Jews. As Puech has suggested, the Archontics probably did not fashion a separate sect.¹⁷⁵ At most the Archontics was the Palestinian name for Egyptian gnostics who were related to the Sethians. In our main source for the Archontics, Epiph. Pan. 40,¹⁷⁶ it is stated that Sabaoth is the ruler of the seventh heaven who acts the part of the tyrant over the other rulers (Pan. 40.2.6), who gave the Law (Pan. 40.2.8) and who is thus the God of the Jews. He is also, however, the God of the Christians, who are not gnostics since baptism and the mysteries are associated with his name:

They consider as anotherma the baptismal font, even if some among them have previously been taken and baptized. They reject the sharing and goodness of the mysteries as being alien and done in the name of Sabaoth.

¹⁷⁴ Ed. Holl (GCS 25.1) 287-88; translation mine.

¹⁷⁵ H.-Ch. Puech, "Archontiker," RAC I (1950) 635.

¹⁷⁶ Ed. Holl (GCS 31.2; Leipzig 1922) 80-90.

For, in accord with some of the other sects, they want him to be in the seventh heaven where he is a tyrant and has authority over the others... But they say that if this (soul) is in gnosis and flees the baptism of the church and the name of Sabaoth who gave the Law, it ascends through each heaven.¹⁷⁷

Since the Law was associated with Sabaoth and thus evil, these gnostics found their revelation in another source. Like ApocAd, this revelation derives from Seth, who was brought up on high by the power above and his ministering angels. When he returned to earth, Seth then served the true God and made many revelations, which have been preserved in Books (*Pan.* 40.7.2ff).¹⁷⁸

Lastly, the little known Severians, who are also associated with the Sethians, identify the chief evil ruler as Sabaoth or Ialdabaoth (Epiph. Pan. 45.1.4). ¹⁷⁹ Epiphanius reports that they use apocryphal books but that they also use canonical books, which they search out to interpret in their own distinctive way. Obviously then they found some value in the OT but it is not clear as to how they explained the presence of revelation in the OT. In the abbreviated report of Epiphanius there is then no explicit statement that Sabaoth is the God of the Jews.

To help us confirm further the function and also to determine the date of the Sabaoth account in NatArch, we turn our attention now to the Marcionites and Valentinians. The problem of the OT and the God of the OT was raised in a particularly acute fashion in the second century by Marcion. For him the sacred books of the Jews were to be rejected and replaced by a modified Lukan Gospel, a Pauline corpus, and his own Antitheses, which presented the good God who is unknowable, separate from the world and yet revealed in Christ. The God who is portrayed in the sacred books of Israel, on the other hand, is a second principle, the creator of the world, who is righteous (dikaios) but not good. The revelation contained

¹⁷⁷ Epiph. Pan. 40.2.6 and 8. Ed. Holl (GCS 31.2) 82-83; translation mine.

¹⁷⁸ Ed. Holl (GCS 31.2) 87-88.

¹⁷⁹ Ed. Holl (GCS 31.2) 199.

¹⁸⁰ Justin Apol. 1.26 and 58; Iren. Adv. haer. 1.27.2-3. A. von Harnack in his classic monograph Marcion: Das Evangelium vom fremden Gott, 2. Aufl. (Darmstadt 1960) discusses the teachings of Marcion in pages 93-152.

Harnack (Marcion, 30°-39°) is correct in insisting that Marcion used the distinction between the two Gods, one agathos and one dikains, and that this usage has been transferred to Cerdo by the heresiologists, who also consider him the teacher of Marcion (Iren, Adv. haer. 1.27.1 and 3.4.2; ed. Harvey 1. 214-15 and 2. 17; Tertullian Adv. Marc. 1.2; ed. A. Kroymann, Pars 3; CSEL 47; Vienna 1906; 292-93). Cerdo,

in these books is then considered by Marcion to be true in itself but related only to this righteous God and his world; there is nothing in these books concerning the good God. Even the prophecies about the Messiah can be considered as true by Marcion, but they again refer only to the Jewish Messiah and not to Christ, who reveals the good God. ¹⁸² As the Creator, the God of these sacred books is the God of all men, but in particular he has chosen the Jewish people and through them desires to be known to all men. ¹⁸³ The world, however, over which he rules is evil since the matter from which it is formed is inherently evil. ¹⁸⁴

Among the disciples of Marcion there are two of particular interest, Megethius and Apelles, because of their treatment of the righteous God and the Jewish people. Megethius alters the teaching of Marcion in one respect. He proposes instead of two principles a three principle system: namely, a good God, a righteous God and an evil God. To these Gods he then refers the Christians, Jews, and pagans. Although the pagans are related to the evil God, yet—as Harnack has observed—the main interest of Megethius was in the pagans rather than the Jews since the redeemer came to free men from this evil God. 185

Apelles, the disciple who broke with his master and founded his own sect, further altered the teaching of Marcion. For him there was only one God. The righteous creator was merely an angel, and the one who spoke to Moses was a further fiery, fallen angel. Similar to Megethius, Apelles refers these three heavenly beings to the divisions of mankind: Christians, pagans and Jews. However, in this case the Jews occupy the lowest place, and their sacred books are in turn further devalued as lies and fables. 186

The Valentinians, 187 who drew upon and further developed vulgar,

on the other hand, would have distinguished between a good and an evil God as is stated by Epiphanius in *Pan.* 41.1 (ed. Holl; GCS 31.2; 90-92) and by Filastrius in *Diversurum hereseon liber* 44 (ed. F. Heylen; CCSL 9.207-324; Turnhout 1957; 235-36).

¹⁸² Tert. Adv. Marc. 3.6; ed. Kroymann, Pars 3 (CSEL 47) 383-86. Cf. Harnack, Marcion, 113-18.

 ¹⁸³ Tert. Adv. Marc. 4.6, 33; ed. Kroymann, Pars 3 (CSEL 47) 432-33 and 529-32.
 ¹⁸⁴ Clem. Alex. Stromateis 3.3.12; ed. O. Staehlin, Bd. 2 (GCS 15; Leipzig 1906) 200-01

¹⁸⁵ Adamantius *Dial.* 1.1-3; ed. W. H. van de Sande Bakhuyzen (GCS 4; Leipzig 1901) 2-7. Cf. Harnack, *Marcion*, 165-67; 56*-63*; 181; 344*-47*.

¹⁸⁶ Rhodon in Euseb, *Hist. eccl.* 5.13.2-7 (ed. E. Schwartz and T. Mommsen, Bd. 2.1; GCS 9.1; Leipzig 1903; 454-59) and in Hipp. *Ref.* 7.38.1-5 (ed. P. Wendland; GCS 26; Leipzig 1916; 224-25) Cf. Harnack, *Marcion*, 194-96, 404*-20*.

¹⁸⁷ Our major sources for the Valentinians are the Fathers both in their direct citations and in their indirect accounts of them. Among the direct citations are the

mythological Gnosticism, ¹⁸⁸ share this same second century concern about the God of Israel, the revelation in its sacred books, and the people of the Jews. However, the Demiurge is not considered in Valentinianism to be hylic and therefore entirely evil. Rather he is psychic and therefore capable of turning to the good. He is particularly presented as a righteous God. ¹⁸⁹ In contrast with NatArch, Valentinianism presents a righteous creator rather than a repentant ruler.

In reference to the sacred books of Israel the Valentinian attitude to the Law is most clearly expressed in Ptolemy's Letter to Flora. There he distinguishes those parts of the Law that are to be attributed to God, to Moses or to the elders. ¹⁹⁰ Only those parts attributed to God are acceptable. He further divides the Law of God into three parts: the pure, the mixed, and the typic or symbolic. Such parts as the Decalogue are pure but need to be perfected. Other mixed sections, such as the law of talion—"an eye for an eye"- although righteous, were given because of the weakness of the people and thus ended by the Son. Finally, parts, such as the Sabbath or fasting, are ended according to their visible or bodily fulfillment but retain a typic or symbolic significance insofar as they indicate the pneumatic realm. ¹⁹¹ Thus the entire Law is not rejected by Ptolemy. Some elements retain their

fragments from Valentinus, which are contained mainly in Clement's Stromateis; the doctrinal letter in Epiphanius' Pan.; Ptolemy's Letter to Flora; fragments from Heracleon's Commentary of John; and fragments from Marcus as representatives of the Italian school. The Excerpta ex Theodoto then are representative of the Oriental branch. Irenaeus in Adv. haer. 1.1.1-8.4 and Hippolytus in Ref. 6.29.1-36.4 offer the indirect accounts. The sources are conveniently gathered in Völker's Quellen zur Geschichte der Christlichen Gnosis, 57-141. Scholarly discussion of the Nag Hammadi corpus has also proposed GTr, GPh and OnRes as derived from Valentinianism. Cf. also Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, 1.362-75; and F.-M.-M. Sagnard, La gnose valentinienne et le témoignage de Saint Irênée (Études de Philosophie Mediévale 36, Paris 1947).

¹⁶⁶ Cf. Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, 1 358 ff; Wilson, The Gnostic Problem, 116 ff; Sagnard, La gnose valentinienne, 446 and n. 1. Note also that in Exc. Theod. 54 and Iren. Adv. haer. 1.7.5 the Valentinians are said to teach that mankind is divided into the descendants of Cain, Abel and Seth. It is Seth, who then represents the pneumatics.

¹⁶⁹ Epiph. Pan. 33.3.5-7 (Völker, 87-88).

¹⁹⁰ Epiph. Pan. 33.4.14 (Völker 89). As a forerunner to these and the following distinctions, cf. the distinctions that Philo introduces concerning the Law in his treatise De vita Mosis 2.188ff: some oracles are from God, some are mixed, and some are from Moses. In De vita Mosis 1.4, Philo states that he has gathered his information concerning Moses from the sacred books and also from the "elders" (presbyteroi) of the nation (LCL; Cambridge 1966, 6, 278f and 542ff). Cf. 1: Fallon "The Law in Philo and Ptolemy: A Note on the Letter to Flora," VC 30 (1976) 45-51.

¹⁰¹ Epiph. Pan. 33.5.1-6.5 (Völker, 89-92).

value, although in need of perfection, while other parts maintain a typic value.

An even more positive evaluation of the sacred books of Israel is presented in the Valentinian discussion of the prophets. Irenaeus presents their view in the following passage:

They maintain, moreover, that those souls which possess the seed of Achamoth are superior to the rest, and are more dearly loved by the Demiurge than others, while he knows not the true cause thereof, but imagines that they are what they are through his favour towards them. Wherefore, also, they say he distributed them to prophets, priests, and kings; and they declare that many things were spoken by this seed through the prophets, inasmuch as it was endowed with a transcendently lofty nature. The mother also, they say, spoke much about things above, and that through him and through the sons which were formed by him. Then, again, they divine the prophecies (into different classes) maintaining that one portion was uttered by the mother, a second by her seed, and a third by the Demiurge. 192

Here one sees that the Valentinians again distinguish. Some prophecies are spoken by Wisdom through the Demiurge and through the souls fashioned by him. In these prophecies there is revelation concerning the realm above. Other prophecies are spoken by the spiritual seed, which comes from Wisdom. And lastly some prophecies are attributed to the Demiurge. Those prophecies from the Demiurge do not reveal the pleromatic realm since he is usually considered to be entirely ignorant of that realm. ¹⁹³ Only when the Savior comes is he to be instructed in the things above. ¹⁹⁴ Prophecies made by him concerning Christ are only prophecies concerning the psychic Christ and not the pleromatic Christ. ¹⁹⁵ In one interesting variant, Wisdom is also said to have instructed the Demiurge previously about the Father and the mystery of the Aeons. However, he has kept this mystery to himself and revealed it to no one. ¹⁹⁶

¹⁹² Iren. Adv. haer. 1.7.3 (Völker, 119); tr. The Ante-Nicene Fathers 1.325f.

¹⁹³ Iren, Adv. haer, 1.5.4 (Völker, 109-10); Hipp. Ref. 6.35.1 (Völker, 134).

¹⁹⁴ Iren. Adv. haer. 1.7.1-2, and 4 (Völker, 118-19). Thereby, the Demiurge ceases his blasphemy but also continues the economy of the cosmos, since it is necessary for the church and since he realizes that at the consummation he is to reach salvation in the place of the Middle. Cf. the similar conception of Basilides in Hipp. Ref. 7.26.1-7 (Völker, 53-54).

¹⁹⁵ Iren Adv. haer 1.7.1-2 (Völker, 118).

Hipp Ref. 6.36.2 (Völker, 1.35). The instruction of the Demiurge in this instance then does not function 10 provide him with information that he might further communicate concerning the pleroma through the Law and the Prophets. Rather it seems to emphasize his righteousness and his role in continuing the economy of the cosmos as in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.7.4 (Völker, 119).

In accord with this concern for the God of Israel and its sacred books, the Valentinians also manifest an interest in evaluating the people of the OT, the Jews. In their consideration of mankind as a whole, the Valentinians distinguish three categories: the hylic, those who are destined to destruction; the psychic, those who have free choice and can thus be either saved or destroyed; and the pneumatic, those who are saved by nature. The pneumatics then are derived from Wisdom and are the gnostics. The psychics, on the other hand, come from the Demiurge and are the Jews 198 and also the orthodox Christians. The hylics then are the pagans who are related to the Cosmocrator, the devil. 200

In conclusion, then, the Sabaoth account in NatArch functions to show that the God of the OT, the ruler of the seventh heaven, is not entirely evil, that he was instructed in the realm above and therefore capable of making revelations concerning it, and that his people were the Jews who therefore were not perfect and thus could not enter the perfect realm.

In considering the date of NatArch, we should first note that the early tractate ApocAd shows no need to introduce a righteous God as the God of the OT. Secondly, the account in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30, whose source must stem from prior to the middle of the second century and is closely related to NatArch, also shows no awareness of a righteous God in the OT. Thus one is led to suggest the middle of the second century as the terminus post quem for the Sabaoth account and NatArch.

Further, the influence of the Marcionites and the Valentinians, both of whom stressed the righteous God of the OT, was greatest in the second half of the second century. The issue of the value of the Law and the Prophets was also of central concern to the Marcionites and Valentinians of that time. The Marcionites, of course, rejected the Law and the Prophets while the Valentinians retained them and reinter-

by nature," see the recent discussion of Schottroff, "Animae naturaliter salvandae," 83-97 and E. Pagels, *The Johannine Gospel in Gnostic Exegesis: Heracleon's Commentary on John* (SBLMS 17; Nashville 1973) 98-113. They agree that the usage of this expression by the Fathers reflects their polemical interest but disagree over the Valentinian interpretation and application of it.

¹⁹⁸ Exc. Theod. 37-38.2; F.-M.-M. Sagnard, Extraits de Théodote (SC 23; Paris 1948) 140-41. Heracleon, Frag 20 (Völker, 73-74)

¹⁹⁹ Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.2 (Völker, 115).

²⁰⁰ Heracleon, Frag. 20 (Völker, 73-74).

preted them. For both heretical groups the Jewish people were associated with that righteous Demiurge. Again NatArch and its Sabaoth account with the same concerns fit most appropriately into this same time period, the latter half of the second century. However, this is not yet to say that Marcionite or Valentinian teaching has had direct influence upon NatArch. If that were so, one would expect the contrast between righteousness and unrighteousness rather than life and unrighteousness on the right and left of Sabaoth, Secondly, in neither Marcionite nor Valentinian teaching does the righteous Demiurge usually receive instruction concerning the upper realm. Thirdly, the proposed source of NatArch, the Revelation of Norea, as reflected in Epiph. Pan. 26.1.3-9, shows no awareness of a repentant, ascended and enthroned Sabaoth. We shall argue in reference to the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld, on the other hand, that there is direct Valentinian influence in the document. Its date in the third century then will provide us with a terminus ante guem for NatArch and its Sabaoth account.

CHAPTER FOUR

THE SABAOTH ACCOUNT IN ONORGWLD

In OnOrgWld the Sabaoth account is also placed clearly within the cosmogony. The central theme for the treatise has been enunciated: that something did exist before chaos, namely, the light. From this came the shadow called darkness and also chaos (97[145].24ff; 98[146]. 26ff). From the darkness, in turn, came matter, the Demiurge and his archontic offspring, including Sabaoth. After the Demiurge's blasphemy, he is reprimanded by Faith. In contrast to NatArch, however, a new element is introduced. The Demiurge is wrong in his claim to be alone since an immortal Light-Man existed before him. He is to appear in their fashioning and tread upon the Demiurge (103[151].19-28). After saying this, Faith revealed her image in the water and then returned to the light (103[151].28-32). Then there follows the account of Sabaoth's repentance and enthronement in the seventh heaven. From his envy then came the demons (106[154].19ff). Later, that light does come from the Eighth, with the form of a man in it, and that angel is henceforth called the Light-Adam (108[156].2ff). After revealing himself upon the earth, the Light-Adam returns toward the light (111[159].29-112[160].1) but is unable to enter the Eighth because of the fault with which his light has been mixed. Therefore, he builds a great Aeon which is in a boundless region between the Eighth and chaos (112[160].10-22), i.e. the middle. The treatise continues then with its re-interpretation of Genesis, the sending of innocent spirits into the world, and the eschatological restitution.

A. Exegesis

The Sabaoth account (103[151].32-106[154].19) forms a distinct unit within OnOrgWld, to such an extent that Böhlig has suggested that it is an interpolation. It is clearly a unit, since the focus of attention throughout is upon Sabaoth and his heavenly entourage, while previously in the treatise Ialdabaoth has been at the center. After the Sabaoth account, the Archigenetor again returns as the subject (106)

¹ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 49f

[154].19). As we have already remarked while comparing the Sabaoth account with NatArch and OnOrgWld and as we shall see in more detail in the course of this exegesis, the unit incorporates further material than what is found in NatArch.

1) The Repentance of Sabaoth 103(151). 32-104(152).6

С787ФӨ УЕ ЦФНЬЕ But $(\delta \hat{\epsilon})$ Sabaoth, the offspring 33 підалаваше птарецсшти [п]т of laldabaoth, when he heard the 34 CHH NTRICTIC AUZYMNEI EPO[C AU] voice of Faith (πίστις), praised (ὑμνεῖν) her. He condemned (καταγινώσκειν) the father and the 35 KATAFEINWCKE HHEIWT [HH THAAY] mother I EXH THE THICTIC [24] TEOOY NAC on account of the word of Faith (πίστις). He glorified her 2 XE ACTAMOOY APPWHE [N]ABANATOC because she informed them of the immortal (ἀθάνατος) Man 3 ий печочовін тпістіс де тсофід дс and his light. Then (δέ) Faith (πίστις) Wisdom 4 сшт нпестинве свох аспшет ажши stretched forth her finger, and she poured forth upon him 5 HOYOEIN EBOX 2H HECOYOEIN AYKA light from her light for a condemnation (κατάκριμα) of his father. 6 такріна нпецеішт

The particle $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$ introduces the change in focus from the preceding account of the blasphemy of Ialdabaoth. As in NatArch, Sabaoth is identified as the offspring of Ialdabaoth (cf. 101[149].30) and the portrayal of him here is also influenced by three figures: the God of the OT, a leading angel and the apocalyptic visionary. Sabaoth hears the voice of Faith and praises her (cf. NatArch 95[143].17). There is no account of an angel who casts Ialdabaoth into Tartarus as in NatArch 95[143].10-13. The view of the author is thus more in accord with the usual apocalyptic notion that it is at the end of time that Ialdabaoth will be cast into the abyss (103[151].21 ff). Rather, the "voice of Faith" refers to the rebuke of the Demiurge by Faith in which she stated that an immortal Light-Man existed before Ialdabaoth and his offspring. He will reveal himself in their creation and tread upon them as they go into the abyss (103[151].20-24).

In this pericope, then, the change to "hearing the voice of Faith" from "seeing the strength of that angel" is a redactional touch of the author, since the immortal Light-Man is part of the author's own theology (cf. NatArch 94[142].23f for the voice from above). As we presented earlier, the basic theme of the author's theology is the contrast between light and darkness (e.g. 98[146].23-27); it pervades his treatise (e.g. 120[168]. 26-29). Related to this theme is the immortal

Light-Man, who descends from the Eighth and is called the Light-Adam (108[156].2-22). Because he cannot re-enter the light, on account of the fault mixed with his light, he builds a great Aeon in the middle (112[160].10-22) and is the type of the pneumatic men (122[170].6-9).

Faith is the figure Wisdom and can be called in this treatise either Faith alone or Faith-Wisdom (cf. 98[146].13f). As we remarked earlier, the use of Faith alone as a title seems to be a later development in contrast to the use of Wisdom alone or even Faith-Wisdom (NatArch 87[135].7f). In this document Wisdom alone could not be used here (as in NatArch 95[143].18), since that would designate a lower emanation (e.g. 102[150].26).

Faith had rebuked the Demiurge, revealed her image in the water and thus returned to the light (103[151].28-32). After hearing her voice, Sabaoth praises her and condemns the father and mother. As in NatArch 95(143).15-18, the father is probably to be identified as Ialdabaoth (101[149].23; 102[150].11 ff) and the mother as matter or chaos (101[149].24). The redactor then adds that the specific reason for his action was "the word of Faith." This action comprises the repentance of Sabaoth, although the term μετάνοια does not occur in this pericope but only in 104(152).27.

The text then returns to Sabaoth's relation to Faith. Now he is said to glorify her. The reason given is that she instructed them about the immortal Man and his light. One would expect the singular object "him," referring to Sabaoth, in this context; but the plural refers back to the entire offspring of Ialdabaoth (103[151].21, 23). The content of the instruction is the immortal Man and his light.

While this figure of the immortal Light-Man is probably related to the anthropos figure in the male group of gnostic systems,² the presentation of the immortal Light-Man in this pericope and in the remainder of the treatise shows influence from the Wisdom tradition within Gnosticism. The immortal Light-Man fulfills a function performed by Wisdom in NatArch 94(142).23-33. There, after the blasphemy of the ruler and his challenge that anyone before him should appear, Wisdom sends forth her light, runs after it to chaos, and then returns to her light (anachōrein). In OnOrgWld 103(151).15-32 after the blasphemy, Faith rebukes the ruler and tells of the immortal Light-Man who will reveal himself. Then, without any motivation for so doing, Faith revealed her image in the water and thus returned to

² Jonas, Gnosis und spätantiker Geist, 1. 335-51.

her light (anachōrein). Later at 107(155).36ff the ruler utters the challenge that anyone before him should appear. In response to this, the light appears in which there is the form of a man, while there is no immediate concern with returning to the light. Since the motif concerning the descent of light in response to the blasphemy is applied consistently and coherently to Wisdom but not so to the Light-Man and since NatArch has been shown to represent the earlier stage of the Sabaoth account, it is clear that the motif is first applied to Wisdom and then is used to portray the descent of the immortal Light-Man.

Identification of this immortal Light-Man as the Light-Adam and as an angel helps to indicate some Jewish elements that probably contributed to the presentation of this figure. In rabbinic material there is speculation upon Adam as being a more than ordinary creature, a man of gigantic size.³ Secondly, the angel Michael in particular is presented in late Jewish literature as a light-man. As we have already seen, Michael is the "Prince of Light" and the "Spirit of Truth" at Qumran. He is opposed to the "Prince of Darkness" and the "Spirit of Error" (IQS 3:13-25); and one of his roles is to lead the righteous into truth (IQS 4:2).⁴ As the Light-Man in OnOrgWld 103(151).20-24 will punish the evil ruler, so Michael plays a leading role in punishing the fallen angels in I Enoch 10:11-16. Further, in Test Abr 7 (Rec. A) Michael is clearly the angel who appears like the light man:

Isaac answered and began to say, "I saw, my lord, in this night, the sun and the moon above my head and it surrounded me with its rays and illuminated me. And while I saw these things thus and rejoiced, I saw the heaven opened and I saw a luminous man descending from heaven, shining more than seven suns. And this man of the sunlike form came and took the sun from my head and went back up into the heavens from which he had descended. Then I was very sad because he took the sun from me, and after a little time, while I was still mourning and distressed, I saw this man coming forth from heaven a second time, and he took the moon from me, from my head... The Archistrategos said, "Hear, O righteous Abraham! The sun which your child saw is you, his father, and the moon similarly is his mother Sarah. The luminous man who descended from heaven is he who is sent by God, who will take your righteous soul from you. Now know, most honored Abraham, that at this time you are going to leave the worldly life and depart to God.

⁵ B.R. 8.1, 21¹³; 24.2, Hag. 12a, PRE 11, as in L. Ginzberg, *The Legends of the Jews* (Philadelphia 1955) 1, 59 and 5, 79

⁴ Cf. Betz, Der Paraklet, 186-90.

Abraham said to the Archistrategos, "O strangest marvel of marvels! And for the rest, are you he who is going to take my soul from me?"

The Archistrategos said to him, "I am Michael the Archistrategos who stands before God." 5

It is to be noted in this passage that Michael appears as the angel who is like a man, bears light, reveals the meaning of the vision, and will finally lead the soul to God. Michael's main role is not a martial one, i.e. to be leader of the heavenly hosts against evil forces. Further, it is to be noted that in Rec. B this light man is described as "a very large man, greatly shining from the heaven, like a light which is called father of light." Box even suggests that in these words Michael is presented as the cosmic man. The variant in Rec. B then shows a number of motifs that are striking in comparison with gnostic material:

Do not weep because I have taken the light of your house, for it has been taken up from the toils to rest and from lowliness to height. They are taking him from the narrow place to the broad, they are taking him from darkness to light.⁸

In a remarkable passage in Joseph and Asenath (14:3-15:6), the angel Michael is again presented as a man, as light, as a revealer, and as one who instructs concerning the sacramental meal:

And lo! hard by the morningstar the heaven was rent and a great and ineffable light appeared. And when she saw it Asenath fell upon her face upon the cinders, and straightway there came to her a man from heaven...

And he (the man) said: "I am the chief captain of the Lord God and commander of all the host of the Most High: stand up and stand upon thy feet, that I may speak to thee my words." And she lifted up her face and saw, and lo! a man in all things like unto Joseph, in robe and wreath and royal staff, save that his face was as lightning, and his eyes as the light of the sun, and the hairs of his head as the flame of fire of a burning torch, and his hands and his feet like iron shining from fire ... be of good cheer, Asenath, the virgin and pure, for lo! thy name hath been written in the book of life and shall not be blotted out for ever; but from this day thou shalt eat the blessed bread of life and drink a cup filled with immortality and be anointed with the blessed unction of incorruption. Be of good cheer, Asenath, the virgin and pure, lo! the Lord God hath given thee today to Joseph for a bride, and he hirnself shall be thy bridegroom.9

⁵ Stone, The Testament of Abraham, 14-17.

⁶ Stone, The Testament of Abraham, 70-71

⁷ Box, The Testament of Abraham, 45, n. 2.

Stone, The Testament of Ahraham, 70-71

⁶ Ed. M. Philonenko, *Joseph et Aseneth* (SPB 13, Leiden 1968) 176-83; translation from E.W. Brooks, *Joseph and Asenath* (London 1918) 45-48.

Since Michael here appears as the archetype and guardian angel of Joseph 10 and since Joseph is portrayed as one powerful in wisdom and knowledge (4:9 δύνατος ἐν σοφία καὶ ἐπιστήμη), one can also consider Michael as filled with wisdom and knowledge. It seems clear then that in late Judaism Michael was widely identified as an angel of light and a man of light, who revealed to men.

It is probable, then, that such material concerning Wisdom, Adam, and Michael has influenced the presentation of this mythological figure, the immortal Light-Man.¹¹ However, in contrast to its Jewish background the material has been adapted. The motif of immortality is added to the description of the Light-Man. The context for his appearance is the creation of the world rather than the ascent of the soul at death or the rebirth of the soul, as with Michael. Lastly, the angelic Light-Man represents the pneumatic baptism and the pneumatic race (122[170].6-16). He is the type of a particular class of men, the pneumatics, below whom stand the psychic and choic men (122 [170].6-9).

The figure of this immortal Light-Man is also free from influence of the NT. The term ἀθάνατος does not occur in the NT. Although Jesus is presented as the light of the world (e.g. John 1:4, 9; 3:19; 8:12), he appears as the Son of Man (John 3:13) rather than simply as Man, Light-Man, or immortal Man.

In response to Sabaoth's praise, Faith-Wisdom stretched out her finger (cf. NatArch 94[142].29ff) and poured some light upon him. In the OT and the NT the idiomatic expression is "to stretch out the hand" rather than the finger (e.g. Gen 3:22 LXX and Matt 8:3 באדבּנֹיענוּ דְיִשְׁי צְבּנֹיְסְם). This usage is continued through the intertestamental literature as well, e.g. CD 12:6 שלח את ידו However, the expression "to stretch out the finger" does occur in two passages of intertestamental literature: Jub 25:11 and 1QS 11:2, as well as in NatArch and here. Again we have a small motif drawn from inter-

¹⁰ Philonenko, Joseph et Aseneth, 88.

¹¹ For a discussion of Hellenistic material which has influenced the presentation of the Light-Adam, see Tardieu, *Trois mythes gnostiques*, 85-99.

¹² EKTEIVEIV probably represents the Greek Vorlage for COT EBOX of. Crum, 360a. In Philo neither the phrase to stretch out the finger nor the hand occurs. Cf. E. Fuchs, (KILLYO), 1DN1 2 (1964) 460 63

¹⁴ L. Lobse, Die Lexte dus Quinran, 2 Aufl. (Durinstadt 1971) 901 170 is the equivalent of εκτεινείν, e.g. Gen 3.22 (cf. K.H. Rengstorf, ἀποστέλλω, ΓDNT 1 [1964] 400, n. 13) Cf. also 1QSa 2:18, 20f; Apoc Mosis 37:4; Adam and Eve 48:1; Jos and Asenath 16:7, 10.

testamental Judaism, apocalyptic Judaism, rather than the OT or NT.¹⁴ On the other hand, while the finger of God is also referred to in both the OT and the NT,¹⁵ there is never an emission coming from it.¹⁶

The light, which represents the upper divine world (98[146].23 ff; 126[174].35 ff), is in a figurative sense poured upon him from her light. This motif of "pouring light" also derives from neither the OT nor the NT but from Judaism. ¹⁷ It is the light then which makes possible the condemnation of the father, a theme which runs throughout the work (cf. 117[165].28; 124[172].20). ¹⁸

As in NatArch, so in OnOrgWld the repentance of Sabaoth, that is, his condemnation of chaos and praise of Faith, are a necessary preliminary to his enthronement.

2) The Ascent and Enthronement of Subaoth 104(152).6-31

дай эд вшавар 4 кіруобэй донуо Іхра 17 2 ходийй уодит эімдиудия нуосэ 8

8 егоун ендунаміс тироу мпхаос 9 дім пгооу етммау аумоуте ероц де Moreover when Sabaoth received light, he received a great authority (ἐξουσία) among all of the forces (δύναμις) of Chaos (χάος). From that day, he was called

¹⁵ Exod 8:19; 31:18; Deut 9:10; and Luke 11:20.

¹⁶ In later Jewish material one finds this motif, e.g. 3 Enoch 40:3: "And in the moment that they do not utter the Holy in the right order, a consuming fire goes forth from the little finger of the Holy One, blessed be He ... and consumes them" (Odeberg, 3 Enoch 126); and TB San. 38b, ed. L. Goldschmidt, Der Babylonische Talmud (Berlin 1904) 7. 156. However, it is not attested in the intertestamental period.

¹⁷ εκχέειν επί may well represent the Greek underlying πωςτ εχη cf. Crum, 284a. In the LXX and the NT εκχέειν επί is used both literally for the pouring out of fluids and figuratively for spiritual gifts, e.g. Joel 2:28 (3:1) πνεῦμα; Lam 2:11 δόξα; Sir 39:28 ἰσχύς and Matt 9:17 οἰνος; Tit 3:6 πνεῦμα ἄγιον. But in neither the LXX nor the NT is φῶς "poured out." In Philo, however, the verb is used in connection with the rays of light, although not with the light alone—De Abra. 157 διττή δὲ φωτός φύσις ... ἐκάστου τῶν ἀστέρων αὐγάς ἐκχέοντος (Cohn-Wendland, 4. 36). Also De opif. mundi 71, De Abr. 76. Cf. J. Behm. ἐκχέω ἐκχύν(ν)ω, TDNT 2 (1964) 467-69

¹⁸ Although NatArch uses καταγινώσκων (95[143].16) und κατακρίνων (89[137].29), OnOrgWld employs both καταγινώσκων in 103(151) 35 and 107(155).33; κατάγνωσις in 107(155).35f and 125(173).29; κατάκριμα here, κατακρισις 124(172).20, and κατακρίνων elsewhere (110[158].28; 120[168].34; 125[173].13).

- 10 плоего инбом эдместе педелыт пка
- II ке луш тециллу пноун ацсіхане а
- 12 тецсшие пмесуе мпархігеннтшр
- 13 HETHNA ETHNHY ZIAN MMOOY ETBE
- 14 пероуосін де дневоусід тироу кш?
- 15 ερος ήτε πχρος λύω ήταρογωτορτή
- IN AYEIPE NOYHOO MITONEMOC 2N TCAU
- 17 че мпе тоте тпістіс тсофіа нтарес
- 18 нау апполемос асхооу исаваше
- 19 евох гм песочовін псащи пархаг
- 20 гелос ауторпи еграї етнагсащие н
- 21 пе хушее ератоу сітецен ешс діако
- 22 нос палін асхооу нац нкещомт
- 23 нархаггелос ассий тинтеро на ф
- 24 птпе (н)оуон нім жекаас ецнащшпе
- 25 HITCL HOPE HITHITCHOOYC HOOYTE
- 26 мпхлос птаресаваше де ді птопос
- 27 птанапаусіс епна птецнетаноїа
- 28 еті атпістіс тнац птесфеере пхшн
- 29 МЙ НОУНОВ ЙЕХОУСІД ЖЕКДАС ЕСНА
- 30 TAMOQ ANETWOOD THEOY 2" THAS
- 31 WMOYNE

- "the lord of the powers." He hated his father, the darkness
- and his mother, the abyss. He loathed (σικχαίνειν) his sister, the thought of the Archigenetor (ἀρχιγενέτωρ),
- the one who moves to and fro over the water. Now $(\delta \hat{\epsilon})$ because
- of his light, all of the authorities (ἐξουσία) of
- Chaos (χάος) were jealous of him. And when they were disturbed.
- they made a great war (πόλεμος) in the seven
- heavens. Then (τότε) when Faith (πίστις) Wisdom (σοφία)
- saw the war (πόλεμος), she sent to Sabaoth
- from her light seven archangels (ἀρχάγγελος).
- They snatched him up to the seventh
- heaven; they stood before him as (ώς) servants (διάκονος).
- Again (πάλιν), she sent to him another three archangels (ἀρχάγγελος). She established the king-
- dom for him
- above every one in order that he might come to be above the twelve gods
- of Chaos (χάος). But (δέ) when Sabaoth **received** the place (τόπος)
- of rest (ἀνάπαυσις) in exchange for his repentance (μετάνοια),
- Faith (πίστις) moreover (ἕτι) gave him her daughter, Life (ζωή),
- with a great authority (ἐξουσία) in order that the might
- instruct him about all those in the eighth (heaven).

Introduced by the particle "then" (6 ε), this next section presents the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth. In accord with his own theology, the redactor states (cf. NatArch 95[143].19-25) that it is the light, which Sabaoth receives, that is the source of his great authority over all the powers of chaos. In contrast with NatArch 95(143).19ff, Sabaoth is given a name before he is raised up to the seventh heaven. As we discussed earlier, NatArch retains the earlier tradition here, both because the name-giving appears more appropriate after the elevation (e.g. Phil 2:9) and because the redactor's hand is visible here in the motif of light. It is not Wisdom and Life who give the name here, as in NatArch 95(143).22f; rather, the impersonal "from

that day he was called" is used (cf. OnOrgWld 106[154].14 and NatArch 95[143].35f). In accord with LXX usage, he is called "Lord of the Forces" rather than, as in NatArch, "God of the Forces." By this return to the expected nomenclature, the original function of Sabaoth has been obscured, i.e. to be a second, lower God and the God of the OT. This change is a further indication that the concern of the author of OnOrgWld is not with the problem of the God of the OT but rather with the different types of men.

For a third time this account turns to the condemnation of the lower world. Its repetitious nature and also its motif of light versus darkness mark this condemnation as deriving from the redactor. On this occasion the condemnation provides an opportunity for taking Sabaoth by means of an exegesis of Gen 1:2: σκότος ἡν ἐπάνω τῆς ἀβύσσου καὶ πνεθμα θεοθ έπεφέρετο έπάνω τοθ ύδατος. Sabaoth hated his father, identified now not as laldabaoth, but to fit the biblical text and the redactor's theology as darkness. 19 Also, he hated his mother, not matter (NatArch 95[143].16f) but the abyss (cf. NatArch 87[135].7; OnOrgWld 103[151].24).20 In contrast with NatArch 95(143).17, an extra motif of "the sister" is introduced in order to parallel the biblical text; he loathed his sister, a strange epithet. As Böhlig has pointed out, the fact that Spirit is feminine in Semitic determines the epithet "sister". 21 Perhaps it is also derived from consideration of Wisdom, who can be called sister (Prov 7:4),22 as identified with the Spirit (ApocryJohn BG 44.19ff).²³ The sister, then, is the thought not of the high God but of the Archigenetor, which appeared in a Spirit going back and forth upon the waters (cf. 100[148],29-101 [149].9).24

¹⁹ κακε can be a translation of σκότος Crum, 101b; and NOYN of άβυσσος Crum, 226b. The masculine δ σκότος and feminine ἡ άβυσσος would also lend themselves to the interpretation. We have not yet located this motif of the "father as darkness" elsewhere. In Philo, for example, the father is positive, e.g. νοῦς, λόγος, ἡλιος and thus never is portrayed as darkness. Cf. Letsegang's index to the Cohn-Wendland edition, 637.

²⁰ The motif of "the mother as the abyss" is not found in the LXX or the NT. There is only one passage in Philo, which indirectly refers to the mother as the abyss, *De fuga et invent.* 192f (Cohn-Wendland 3.151f).

²¹ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel. 51

²² Cf. A. Orbe, "Spiritus Dei ferebatur super aquas. Exegesis gnóstica de Gen. 1.2b," *Greg* 44 (1963) 691-730.

²³ Ed. Till (TU 60) 128-31.

²⁴ A. Orbe in "Spiritus Dei ferebatur super aquas," has helpfully pointed out that the transition from local to discursive movement is grounded in ἐπιφέρεσθαι and that contrary to the usual gnostic interpretation, the Spirit in this passage is that of the

a more appropriate representative of some other group than the elect. The place of Sabaoth is indeed termed a place of rest (104[152].26-27). But its identification as the seventh heaven indicates only that the notion of a place of rest has been reinterpreted rather than that Sabaoth is in the pleromatic realm or an intermediary place. Instead, it is the Light-Adam who is above Sabaoth, who occupies the intermediary place, and who represents the elect.

Next, in a phrase which derives from late Jewish apocalyptic, the seven archangels are said to "stand before him." ³⁰ They stand before him as servants (διάκονοι). ³¹

In the following sentences concerning the further archangels, the enthronement of Sabaoth is made clear. First, three other archangels are sent to Sabaoth. The exact reason for this number, however, is not evident; it may be a remnant of other calculations.³² After sending these archangels to him, Faith established the kingdom for him, i.e. she installed him in kingly power or enthroned him, that he might be above the twelve gods of chaos. The twelve are the male and female deities of the six heavens underneath Sabaoth, among which deities laldabaoth is now found (106[154].19-27 and 107[155].14-17).³³ Comparison with 106(154).9-11, as well as the motif of the twelve gods of chaos, shows that this motif of Sabaoth's kingdom above the heavens of chaos probably stems from the author of OnOrgWld.

The seventh heaven is now identified as the place of rest, a motif which probably stems from the Wisdom tradition, in which Wisdom seeks a place of rest (Sir 24:7). For his repentance, i.e. his praise of Faith-Wisdom and condemnation of his father and mother, Sabaoth receives this place of rest.

Faith then gave her daughter Life with a great power to teach him about everything in the Eighth. As we discussed earlier, this is the first of two such pericopes in OnOrgWld on the instruction of Sabaoth. The name Faith alone and the phrase "with a great authority" (cf. 104[152].7 where "great authority" is associated with "the light")

³⁰ E.g. 1 Enoch 14:22; 39:12f; 4 Ezra 8:21; Test Sol 24. It is also found in the NT, e.g. Rev 8:2 και είδον τοὺς έπτὰ ἀγγέλους οἱ ἐνώπιον τοῦ θεοῦ ἐστήκασιν. The Coptic $ω_2 \varepsilon$ may translate the Greek ἱστάναι, cf. Crum, 537b.

³¹ Cf. 2 Cor 11:14f οἱ διάκονοι αὐτοῦ (i.e. Satan).

¹² Cf. ApocryJn BG 39 10-19 and CG III, 1. 16.8-13 in which each authority under laldabaoth has seven angels and three powers or torces. In the BG version the number of the angels is then given as 360, although the exact manner of tabulation is not clear.

³³ Cf. also W. R. Schoedel, "Scripture and the Seventy-Two Heavens of the First Apocalypse of James," *NovT* 12 (1970) 126-27.

mark this pericope as redacted by the author. NatArch thus probably preserved the original position of the pericope in the account. By this earlier instruction of Sabaoth, the redactor provides for the source of Sabaoth's ability to create his throne, chariot and court (104 [152].31 ff). As the redactor in 106(154).6-9 states, Sabaoth is informed about the Eighth so that he might make likenesses thereof in his realm. By specifically redirecting Sabaoth's power and knowledge to this ability, the redactor again obscures the original function of Sabaoth. No longer is Sabaoth presented mainly as the God of the OT, who has received revelation concerning the Eighth and therefore can communicate some saving knowledge through the books of the OT. His knowledge enables him, rather, to create likenesses of those things above so that his kingdom might remain.

As in NatArch, so this pericope on the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth betrays no influence upon or from the NT. Rather, further material from the heritage of intertestamental Judaism has been woven into the account without passing through the intermediary stage of the NT.

3) Creation of the Throne/Chariot of Sabaoth 104(152).31-105(153).16

5 нос ебиод це еббіжи оббубиу ебо 1 миебиу импие убрано иобавьо 12 (сум) й икпа шубу недмооц дньоб 13 че обнод це ебдуень емуде ебо и 50 убрано на брано иобарок 1 миебиу импие убрано иобарок 1 миебиу импие иобарок 2 мос ебидуб не иобарок

3 й просштом в умоуте вроц 4 же хвроувім пхвроувім дв оуйтац 5 ймау й шмоуме йморфи ката пц 6 тоукоог гйморфи ймоуві ауш гй 7 норфи ймасе ауш гйморфи ррш 8 не мй гйморфи йавтос гшсте ймор 9 фи тироу свеїре йсетацтв йморфи

10 та стаба и морфи тибол сеетье 11 битенби и морфи тибол еби 15 тя стаба и морфи тибол сеетье

13 йувеснооус евол гар 2й пее!2арма 14 аухі тупос йбі пувеснооус йноу 15 те аухі тупос атроурархеі ежй тхве 16 снооус йаспе ййгефнос he fashioned for himself at first a dwelling-place. It is great, very glorious; [seven] times more glorious than (παρά) all that are in the seventh heaven. Then (δέ) before his dwelling-place he fashioned a great throne (θρόνος), which was upon a chariot (ἄρμα); it was four-faced (πρόσωπον) and called Cherubin. Now (δέ) the Cherubin has eight forms (μορφή) at each (κατά) of the four corners: lion forms (μορφή) and bull forms (μορφή) and human forms (μορφή) and eagle (ἀετὸς) forms (μορφή) so that (ὥστε) all of the forms (μορφή) amount to sixty-four forms (μορφή) and seven archangels (ἀρχάγγελος) who stand

Now (δέ) since he had an authority (ἐξουσία)

and seven archangels (ἀρχάγγελος) who stand before him. It is he who is the eighth, since he has authority (ἐξουσία). All the forms (μορφή) amount to

seventy-two for (γύρ) from this chariot (ἄρμα) the seventy-two gods received a pattern (τύπος). They received a pattern (τύπος) to rule (ἄρχειν) over the seventy-two languages of the nations (ἔθνος).

As in NatArch, the next step in the enthronement of Sabaoth is his fashioning of a chariot. However, here Sabaoth first makes a dwelling place and throne and then the chariot. Thus, the motif in ancient mythology of building a temple or sanctuary as part of the enthronement pattern is recalled (cf. Yahweh in Exod 15:17 and Ps 102[103].19); also here explicitly set forth is the specifically Israelite motif, which associates the throne of Cherubim and the chariot with one another.³⁴ The source of Sabaoth's creative ability is the authority brought to him by Life. The dwelling place, which he built for himself (line 32) with this authority, is then described as great and more glorious than anything in the seven heavens. Neither in the OT ³⁵ nor in the NT, but rather in Judaism, does one find a description of the dwelling place. For example, in 1 Enoch 14 the dwelling place of God is also described as great (vv. 10, 15) and glorious (v. 16).

Next, he built a great throne (cf. 2 Enoch 22:2), strangely in front of the dwelling place.³⁶ The text does not state here explicitly that the throne is for Sabaoth himself nor that he sits upon it. Later, in 106(154).3f Sabaoth is said to sit upon "a" throne; however, there is no clear reference that it is "the" throne, which has previously been fashioned. Yet the context makes it evident that the throne is for Sabaoth himself. The dwelling place is for himself (104[152].32). The kingdom is established for him (104[152].23). He has the authority (105[153].12) over all the forms deriving from the chariot. Later, in 105(153).16-20 the Seraphim who are created upon the throne, glorify him. As we shall discuss later, the fact that in 106(154).3f Sabaoth sits on "a" throne, which is not explicitly identified as the throne he created, is due to the incorporation there of another piece of tradition by the redactor.

The throne is portrayed as on a chariot, which is described as in NatArch 95(143).26-28, i.e. it is four-faced and called Cherubin. The Cherubin then have eight forms in each of the four corners.³⁷ As Böhlig suggests, they are to be considered as male and female. There-

³⁴ Cf supra 111-13.

³⁵ Cf. 1 Kgs 22:10, 19; 2 Chr 18:7, 18; Isa 6; Ezek 1 and 10; Dan 7:9ff.

³⁶ Cf. 1 Enoch 14:18 where the adverb "therein" is missing in one of the Greek manuscripts (Charles, 1 Enoch [1912] 34).

³⁷ Schmitz has remarked that there is no description of the divine throne in Hellenistic Judaism. However, 2 Froch 22/2 contains the rudiments of such a description and thus indicates awareness of such a tradition. He is probably correct, however, in saying that Philo and Josephus avoid the idea of God's throne as too anthropomorphic Cf. O. Schmitz, θρόνος, TDNT 3 (1965) 160-67.

fore, the sum of thirty-two can be doubled to reach sixty-four (line 9).³⁸ Further, as Böhlig also points out, the forms of lion, ox, man, and eagle are drawn from Ezek 1 and 10; and taken over in Christianity by Rev 4:7, which exhibits the same order as in OnOrgWld.³⁹ Together with the seven archangels and Sabaoth, the total of forms makes seventy-two, but Sabaoth has power over all the forms.

The text here draws upon the tradition, found in late Jewish apocalyptic literature, concerning the seventy angels in heaven, who are each over a particular nation. In the OT the figure seventy is significant in the seventy years of Jer 25:11; 29:10 and the seventy periods of Dan 9:24 ff. The figure of seventy nations derives from Gen 10, while in the LXX it appears as seventy-two. In the intertestamental literature, then, this figure is applied to the heavenly leaders of the nations—in 1 Enoch 89 to the shepherds who punish Israel. These seventy angels who are over the gentile nations and also their languages (Targ Ps.-Jon Gen 11:8) are also considered as gods by their peoples in the late Hebrew T Napht 8:4-5 and 9:1, 2, 4:

"For at that time the Lord, blessed be He. came down from His highest heavens, and brought down with him seventy ministering angels, Michael at their head. He commanded them to teach the seventy families which sprang from the loins of Noah seventy languages ... And on that day Michael took a message from the Lord, and said to the seventy nations, to each nation separately: 'You know the rebellion you undertook, and the treacherous confederacy into which you entered against the Lord of heaven and earth, and now choose today whom you will worship, and who shall be your intercessor in the height of heaven' ... and every nation chose its own angel." 40

They are also considered as gods in the Ps.-Clem. Rec. 2.42, but here the angels are numbered as seventy-two:

For every nation has an angel, to whom God has committed the government of that nation; and when one of these appears, although he be thought and called God by those over whom he presides, yet, being asked, he does not give such testimony to himself. For the Most High God, who alone holds the power of all things, has divided all the nations of the earth into seventy-two parts, and over these He hath appointed angels as

³⁸ Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 52.

³⁹ Cf. also Apoc Abr 18 where only the position of ox and man has been reversed in the order. Hag 13b has cherub, man, hon, eagle

⁴⁰ Charles, APOT 2, 363. In his discussion in *The Greek Versions of the Testaments of the Twelve Potriarchs*, 242-43, Charles characterizes the Hebrew testament as late; the manuscripts are from the 12th and 13th centuries.

princes. But to the one among the archangels who is greatest, was committed the government of those who, before all others, received the worship and knowledge of the Most High God.⁴¹

The role of Michael is to be noted as well in this material. At first in Jewish tradition, the view is expressed that there is no angel over Israel. God alone would be their ruler (Jub 15:31). But Michael is presented in 1 Enoch 20:5 as the angel over "the best part of mankind", namely, Israel (cf. T Dan 6:2). Michael also appears as the angel, who records the excesses of punishment by the seventy angelic shepherds in 1 Enoch 89:61.⁴² Thus, it is understandable that in T Napht Michael is expressly stated as the leader of the seventy angels, who are over the nations.

In this gnostic text, then, once again the tradition appropriate to Michael is associated with that of Sabaoth. As in the traditions of the LXX and of those circles represented by Ps.-Clem. Rec., seventy-two are counted; they are designated gods; and they are formed in order to rule over the seventy-two languages of the world.

The tradition is modified by the novel association of these deities with the chariot. They are formed from the chariot in order to rule over the seventy-two languages of the peoples.

Again, this pericope is drawn from Judaism rather than simply from the OT or from the NT. Neither in the OT nor in the NT is there a description of the dwelling place of God. The four-faced chariot of Cherubim cannot come from the NT, as we pointed out in the discussion of NatArch. Nor is there mention in the OT or NT of the seventy (seventy-two) angels over the nations.

4) Creation of the Angels 105(153).16-106(154).3

212Ñ ПӨРО 17 нос де етйнэү эчтэніе 2ñkeэгге 18 лос йнорфн йарэкши еүноүте еро

19 оу же сарафін бүт бооу нац йнау 20 нім мийсшс ацтаміо йоубккансіа

21 NAFFEAOC ZNOO MN ZNTBA EMNTOY

22 HILE ECTATORT ETEKKAHCIA ETZN

Then (δέ) upon that throne (θρόνος) he also fashioned angels (ἄγγελος)

in the form (μορφή) of a dragon (δρακών) who were called

Seraphin (and) who glorified him

continually. Afterwards, he fashioned an angelic $(\ddot{\alpha}\gamma\gamma\epsilon\lambda\sigma\varsigma)$

church (ἐκκλησία) -thousands and myriads, infinitely many --

which was similar to the church (ἐκκλησία)

⁴¹ Text in B. Rehm, *Die Pseudoklementinen - 2 Rekognitionen* (GCS 51, Berlin 1965) 76-77; ir. from *The Ante-Nicene Fathers* (reprint 1956) 8, 109.

⁴² Cf. Charles, 1 Enoch (1912) 201.

```
23 тиагшночие ауш оушрпинисе
```

24 сумоуте сроц же пісрана ете пасі

25 пе пршне етнау епноуте ауш ке

26 OYA KE THE MEXE EUTHTWN EMEWTHP

27 ETZI TICA NTTE NTHAZWHOYNE EQ

28 2HOOC 21 OYNAH HHOU 21AN OYBTO

29 NOC EQTAEINY 21 OBOYP AE MHOU EC

30 Зноос ирі титьвенос ниция етол

31 YAR SIXH OABLONOC ECT EOOA NYA

32 AYW CEAZEPATOY ZITECEZH NOI TCA

33 m/d/e muylbenoc elm myyre mpi[0]y

34 ра птоотоу ни гифалтнріон (ни)
1 гисалпіга бут бооу нац ауш истра
2 тбума тнроу плаггблос сет бооу нац

3 хүш сесмоу ероц

called Israel, which is "the man who sees God" and another, Jesus Christ, who was like the savior (σωτήρ) who was above in the Eighth. He sits at his right upon an excellent throne (θρόνος). And (δέ) on his left the virgin (παρθένος) of the holy spirit (πνεδμα) sits upon a throne (θρόνος) glorifying him. And the seven virgins (παρθένος) stand before her. In their hands are thirty lyres

that was in the Eighth and a first-born

and harps (ψαλτηρίον) and trumpets (σάλπιγξ) glorifying him and all the hosts (στράτευμα) of angels (ἄγγελος) glorify him

and praise him.

(κιθάρα)

As in NatArch this next pericope relates the creation of the angels. Yet in contrast with NatArch, OnOrgWld adds at this point a reference to the angels who are called Seraphin. However, this reference is not clearly identifiable as the work of the redactor. Since Isa 6, Seraphim had also been connected with the throne. Thus, Sabaoth here also fashioned them as angels upon the throne. The strange motif is then added that they are in the form of a dragon, which draws upon an idea found only in 1 and 2 Enoch. They are then said to glorify him at every moment. Again, this material has neither influenced nor been transmitted by the NT since neither the motif of Seraphim nor that of their form as a dragon is found in the NT.

⁶³ Isa 6:2, 6; Apoc Moses 33:3; 1 Enoch 61:10; 71:7; 2 Enoch 29:3B and probably also in 2 Enoch 12:1 and 19:6. In this pericope the Cherubim are not clearly identified as a separate class of angels; they are still only presented as the bearers of the chariot. In contrast, 1 Enoch 71:7 lists Seraphin, Cherubin and adds Ophannin as classes of angels.

⁴⁴ I Enoch 20:7 in a context of the seven archangels and Cherubim states: "Gabriel, one of the holy angels, who is over Paradise and the scrpents and the Cherubim"; 2 Enoch 12:1 states: "And I looked and saw other flying elements of the sun, whose name are Phoenixes and Chalkydri, marvellous and wonderful, with feet and tails in the form of a lion, and a crocodile's head... their wings are like those of angels." In the note on 2 Enoch 12:1 Forbes and Charles remark "Chalkydri, seemingly a transliteration of χαλκίδραι, hrazen hydras or scrpents. These are classified with the Cherubim in I Enoch 20:7, and so equal the Scraphin of Isa 6:2, 6. These then were perhaps conceived as winged dragons, as the analogy of the animal-like forms of the Cherubim in Ezek 1:5-11 would lead us to suppose" (Charles, APOT, 2, 201 and 436).

As in NatArch Sabaoth next fashions "infinitely many" angels. However, again in contrast, he fashions here in OnOrgWld "an angelic church." ⁴⁵ The angels are described as thousands and myriads, a motif customary in Jewish apocalyptic since Daniel. ⁴⁶ This angelic church is like the church in the Eighth, which suggests that more mythical elements concerning the inner life of the divine realm above the veil could also be adduced by the author, if he desired, beyond the bare statement that the aeon of truth is all light (98[146].23-26). ⁴⁷

The text then adds that Sabaoth fashioned a first-born, called Israel, a motif which is not found in NatArch. Certainly this motif of Israel as a first-born is familiar in Israelite times (Exod 4:22) and in Judaism (Sir 36:11; Jub 2:20; 4 Ezra 6:58). However, in neither was Israel considered as a preexistent entity. In the NT the motif of Israel as the first-born is not found; instead, the term first-born is applied to Christ (e.g. Rom 8:29). The further explanation of the name Israel as "the man who sees God" draws upon an exegetical tradition, which is not witnessed in the OT or NT but well attested in Philo.⁴⁸ Since Israel is a creation of Sabaoth, it is implicitly downgraded. Just as the realm of the Eighth is above Sabaoth, so those who belong to that realm are higher than Israel.

Similarly, within Valentinianism the Jews are considered as righteous and psychic, rather than pneumatic. They worship the Demiurge rather than the Father of Truth:

"The mountain represents the Devil or his world, since the Devil was one part of the whole of matter," says Heracleon, "but the world is the total mountain of evil, a deserted dwelling-place of beasts, to which all (who lived) before the law and all the Gentiles render worship. But

⁴⁵ I have not located this expression in biblical or intertestamental literature.

⁴⁶ Dan 7:10; cf. 1 Enoch 14:22; 60:1; 71:8; Rev 5:11. That ω0 translates χίλιοι, see Crum 549b; that τελ translates μυρίας, see Crum 399a.

⁴⁷ Tardieu states that the place of rest where the first Adam sojourns is the land of election, which the Naassenes identify with the angelic church. He further states that the angelic church refers to the place of sojourn which Sabaoth created for himself. Then he concludes to a cosmological proximity between the angelic church as the place of rest of Sabaoth and the angelic church as the land of election in which the pneumatic Adam rests (*Trois mythes gnostiques*, 225). However, Tardieu misinterprets the passage. The Eighth in which the prototypical angelic church is found is the realm of light to which the pneumatic Adam could not return (112[160],10-14; ct. 124[172] 5-13). Instead, the pneumatic Adam is in an acon between the Eighth and the seven heavens below (112[160],13-22). Subaoth then creates an angelic church in the seventh heaven in imitation of the church of the Eighth.

⁴⁸ E.g. De poster. C. 92, De Ahr. 57-59; Leg. Gaj. 4; etc. As Böhlig remarks (Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 54), the Hebrew presupposed is ארש ראה אל

Jerusalem (represents) the creation or the creator whom the Jews worship." But, in the second place, he thinks that "the mountain is the creation which the Gentiles worship, but Jerusalem is the creator whom the Jews serve. You, then," he adds, "as the pneumatics will worship neither the creation nor the Demiurge, but the Father of truth." 49

As we suggested earlier, the sentences concerning the creation of Jesus Christ are part of the redactor's contribution to OnOrgWld. These sentences are unnecessary to the context. With them the pericope is overloaded with its second right/left schema. Jesus Christ is then like the Savior in the Ogdoad and sits at the right hand as do Life (NatArch 95[143].32ff) and Sabaoth (OnOrgWld 106[154].11ff)—but on an excellent throne (cf. Matt 19:28; 25:31). On Sabaoth's left there sits the virgin of the Holy Spirit. Evidently, as Jesus Christ is the image of the Savior above, so the virgin of the Holy Spirit is the image of the Holy Spirit above. She likewise sits on a throne and praises Sabaoth.

It is strange that Jesus Christ sits at the right of Sabaoth. More expected in gnostic thought is that Christ descends upon the human Jesus (e.g. the unnamed gnostics in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.30.6 and Cerinthus in Iren. Adv. haer. 1.26.1; ed. Harvey 1. 238 and 211). Thus Christ himself is considered as coming from the pleromatic realm rather than from some realm below the veil.⁵⁰

However, within Valentinianism Christ is considered as the creation of the Demiurge, sits at his right, is the image of the savior in the

⁴⁹ Heracleon, Frag. 20; text in Völker, 73-74; tr. Förster, Gnosis, 171. Cf. also Frag. 13 (Völker, 69-70) and Hipp. Ref. 6.34.4-6 (Völker, 133). In her study, The Johannine Gospel in Gnostic Exegesis, Pagels argues that for Heracleon in his commentary on John the Jews represent consistently the psychic Christians and that Heracleon is not concerned with the actual members of the twelve tribes, the nation of Israel (67-68). While it is clear that "the Jews" are used by Heracleon to represent the psychic Christians, I consider this fragment to indicate that the matter is not an either/or but both/and. Just as Heracleon in this passage can judge theologically as hylic those who in a temporal sense were "before the Law" as well as their successors the pagans, so here he judges theologically the historical Jews as psychic. In other passages, then, "the Jews" can be taken to represent their successors, the non-gnostic Christians, who are also judged as psychic. Pagels seems implicitly to grant as much when she comments upon this passage, "When the savior says that Jerusalem is the topos where 'the Jews worship, he refers even (emphasis mine; N.B. rather than only) to Christian worship that occurs on a psychic level" (89). This need not prove Heracleon inconsistent, since as Pagels points out (74-75), Heracleon can interpret terms on three levels. Just us the passover from the hylic level is the ancient festival of Israel and from the psychic level is a prefiguration of the passion and death of Jesus (74-75), so too I suggest that "the Jews" on different levels can indicate both the nation of Israel and the non-gnostic Christians.

⁵⁰ Cf. Epiph. Pan. 26,10.4 (ed. Holl; GCS 25.1; 287).

eighth heaven and represents the psychic. For example, Exc. Theod. 62.1 expresses the following in this regard:

Now the psychic Christ sits on the right hand of the Creator, as David says, "Sit thou on my right hand" and so on. And he sits there until the end.⁵¹

Jesus, then, who is from the Pleroma and who is also called the savior, puts on Christ at his descent into the world:

And when he came into Space Jesus found Christ, whom it was foretold that he would put on, whom the Prophets and the Law announced as an image of the Saviour. 52

However, Jesus can also be said to sit at the right of the Demiurge after his earthly ministry. He waits there with the pneumatic seed until the consummation and their re-entry into the Pleroma:

From thence Jesus was called and sat down with Space, that the spirits might remain and not rise before him, and that he might subdue Space and provide the seed with a passage into the Pleroma.⁵³

Therefore, we suggest that the inclusion of Jesus Christ as seated at the right hand of Sabaoth in the Sabaoth account reflects Valentinain influence. The fact that the name of Jesus Christ rather than Christ alone can probably be explained as a fusion of the motifs of Christ before the earthly ministry and Jesus after it, as seated beside the Demiurge. As in Valentinianism then Jesus Christ is the creation of the Demiurge and also the image of the Savior in the eighth heaven (OnOrgWld 105[153].20-27). In Valentinianism too not only the Jews but also the orthodox Christians are considered as psychic and thus as belonging to the Demiurge.⁵⁴ In the same way here in OnOrgWld, the fact that Jesus Christ and the virgin of the Holy Spirit are considered as creations of Sabaoth would place Christians on the same level as Israel—namely, psychics.⁵⁵

⁵¹ Text and tr. in R. P. Casey, *The Excerpta ex Theodoto of Clement of Alexandria* (Studies and Documents 1; London 1934) 80-81. Cf. Iren. *Adv. haer.* 1.7.1-2 (Völker, 118).

⁵² Exc. Theod. 59.2; Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 78-79. Cf. Exc. Theod. 23.2; Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 58-59.

⁵³ Exc. Theod. 38.3; Casey. The Excerpto ex Theodoto, 66-67. Casey has accepted the emendation of πράγματα to πνεύματα, as his translation indicates.

⁵⁴ Iren Adv huer 1.6.2 "The psychic men have been instructed in psychic matters; they are strengthened by works and mere faith, and do not have perfect knowledge; and these, they teach, are we of the Church" (text Völker, 115; tr. Förster, Gnosis, 193).

⁵⁵ Cf also SJC BG 123.11ff which distinguishes mankind as well among the categories, gnostic, Christian, hylic.

However, there is one difficulty with this solution. As we mentioned earlier, 117(165).28-118(166).2 is a summary statement which clearly belongs to the hand of the redactor. In these verses, then, the redactor distinguishes among the pneumatic Adam, the psychic Adam, and the choic Adam, whom he identifies as the man-of-law. Similarly, the author distinguishes three kinds of men and their races until the end of the world: the pneumatic of the Aeon, the psychic, and the choic (122[170].6-9). Since this "man-of-Law" clearly refers to the man of the Torah, the choic Adam and the choic race of men must encompass the Jews. It is difficult, then, or rather impossible to consider the Jews as both choic and psychic at the same time. Since the sentences concerning Jesus Christ are also clearly secondary and redactional in this context, we suggest that the reference to Sabaoth's creation of Israel was part of the redactor's inherited material, which he has not completely adapted to his own purposes. Thus, for the redactor, Sabaoth and the Christians are the ones who are truly psychic, whereas the Jews—as men of Law—are actually choic.

The redaction continues in the reference to the seven virgins, who stand before the Holy Spirit. That this sentence is also a redaction is clear since the παρθένοι stand before the παρθένος (hitesehē) but glorify Sabaoth (eutieoou naf). Secondly, the figure thirty is applied only to the lyres and not to the other instruments, and without explanation or evident connection. Also, if this sentence were part of the original, one would expect that the virgins would be the object of the verb τλμιο, which is stated consistently (104[152].32; 105[153].1, 17, 20). It is unclear why the virgins are said to have specifically thirty of the lyres. It is possibly an echo of the Valentinian idea that there are thirty aeons in the Pleroma, which are also signified by the thirty days of the month. 56

Besides having thirty lyres, the virgins are said to have harps, as in NatArch 95(143).30 f. ⁵⁷ Trumpets, which are appropriate to a context of enthronement, are also added and said to render him glory. ⁵⁸ The pericope closes as all the forces of angels glorify him. It seems likely that before this redaction the passage simply continued after TPWME

⁵⁶ Cf. Iren. Adv. haer 1.1.3 (ed. Harvey 1-11) and 1.17.1 (ed. Harvey 1-166-67); Hipp. Ref. 6.31.3 (Völker, 130).

⁵⁷ But in reverse order, i.e. zithers and psalteries.

⁵⁸ E.g. royal coronation 2 Sam 15:10; enthronement psalm Ps 47:5; eschatological end 4 Ezra 6:23. Cf. G. Friedrich, σάλπιγξ, *FDNT* 7 (1971) 71-88.

II ми ноудунаміс

ετναγ επνογτε with a reference to the lyres, harps, and trumpets and to the praise of Sabaoth.

Once again this section exhibits material that derives from neither OT nor NT but from Judaism and therefrom passes into Christian gnostic hands.

5) The Instruction of Sabaoth 106(154).3-11

ецгиоос де гіжи оу
4 фронос (ги оу)оуобій йноб йклооле
есске
5 пасе йноц ауш ненй ладу ийнац
6 гй теклооле віннті атсофіа тпістіс
7 естсево йноц анетщооп тнроу гй
тидг
8 щноуне жекалс бунатамбіо йнтой
9 тй йин шіна тийтеро еснаноуи євол
10 нац ща тсунтелеїа ийпнує йпхлос

But (δέ) he sits on a throne (θρόνος) in a great cloud of light that conceals (σκεπάζειν) him. And there was no one with him

in the cloud except (εlμήτι) Wisdom (σοφία) Faith

(πίστις), teaching him about all those which exist in the

Eighth in order that there might be fashioned the likenesses

of those so that (ΐνα) the kingdom might remain for him until the consummation (συντέλεια) of the heavens of Chaos (χάος) and their Forces (δύναμις).

As we presented earlier, this second account on the instruction of Sabaoth is another piece of tradition which has been incorporated into OnOrgWld. It is clearly another piece of tradition since it reduplicates a previous pericope, contradicts what precedes and follows, and uses the name Wisdom-Faith rather than Faith-Wisdom. However, this pericope has also clearly been incorporated by the author rather than inserted by a later interpolator, since the second purpose clause—"so that the kingdom might remain for him until the consummation (σὐντέλεια) of the heavens of Chaos and their Forces"—betrays the theological concern and the terminological usage of the author in the term συντέλεια.⁵⁹ Thus, at least this second purpose clause stems from the redactorial hand of the author.

The term συντέλεια occurs frequently throughout the treatise. Most often the term occurs in the phrase "the consummation of the Aeon": cf. 110(158).13; 114 (162).24, 121(169).26f; 122(170).6, 33; 123(171).30; 125(173).32. However, the term also occurs alone (117[165].11; 123[171].19), in the phrase "the consummation of the world" (122[170].71), in the phrase "the consummation of your works" (103[151].25) and only here at 106(154).10f in the phrase "the consummation of the heavens of Chaos and their powers."

Use of the term συντέλεια for the consummation of the world is found within Valentinianism, e.g. Exc. Theod. 63.1 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 82-83) and Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.1 (Völker, 114). The term is also found in other strands of

In this piece of tradition Sabaoth is presented as sitting on a throne in a cloud of light, which covers him. He is alone except for the presence of Wisdom-Faith. Rather than simply an allusion to Exod 24:15ff, in which God is enclosed within a cloud of glory, the motif of a great cloud concealing Sabaoth is probably derived from late Jewish tradition, in which the theophanic cloud of Ps 18:11//2 Sam 22:12 and Ps 104:2 is associated with the heavenly veil.⁶⁰ For example, in Targ Job 26:9 God sits on His throne within the cloud of His glory, which covers Him as a veil.⁶¹ He sits alone within it, and the cloud prevents the angels from seeing Him.

It is probable that this scene concerning the instruction of Sabaoth by Wisdom-Faith derives from Valentinian influence. Usually in Valentinianism, the Demiurge is considered to be ignorant of the realms above him until the coming of the Savior.⁶² However, in one report concerning the Valentinians the Demiurge is said to have been previously instructed by Wisdom:

For the Demiurge was instructed by Sophia to the effect that he is not God alone, as he imagined with no other existing apart from him; but taught by Sophia, he recognized the higher (deity); for he was instructed, initiated, and indoctrinated into the great mystery of the Father and of the aeons, and he disclosed it to no one.⁶³

The incorporation of this pericope into OnOrgWld serves to stress the role of Wisdom in instructing Sabaoth. A double purpose clause then explains the importance of this teaching. First, it is that likenesses to these things might be made; and second, that the kingdom might remain for him until the end. Thus the incorporation of this piece of tradition by the author adds another reason as to why the teaching comes prior to the creation by Sabaoth: because Sabaoth has made likenesses of what exist in the Eighth, he has authority over all below him; his kingdom extends over all below. Thereby, the kingly role of Sabaoth is again explicitly emphasized.

Gnosticism, e.g. GEgypt CG 111, 2: 61.1ff//IV. 2: 72.10ff and Pistis Sophia 86 (tr. C. Schmidt and W. Till, Koptisch-gnostische Schriften GCS 45, 3te Aufl.; Berlin 1962, 123). Thus, while the use of the term in this sense is not specifically Valentinian, its use throughout the document is appropriate if one can detect other specifically Valentinian influence and thus supportive of that other evidence.

⁶⁰ MacRae, Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic, 102f. Wisdom also dwells in a cloud in Sir 24:4.

⁶¹ Str-B, 1. 976.

⁶² E.g. Iren. Adv. haer. 1.5.4 (Völker, 109-10); 1.7.1-2 (Völker, 118); 1.7.4 (Völker, 119); Hipp. Ref. 6.35.1 (Völker, 134).

⁶³ Hipp. Ref. 6.36.2 (text Völker, 135; tr. Förster, Gnosis, 193).

6) The Separation into Right and Left 106(154).11-19

тпістіс де тсофід (д)с 12 поряў епкаке асноуте ероч еоунан

13 ммоспархігенетшраваскаацзі бвоур

14 \bar{m} нос дім фооу єт \bar{m} нау аумоутє єоу 15 нам жє (т)аїхаїосуні бвоур ає аумоу

In te epoc we tanikia etse naci de ayki

17 THPOY NOYKOCHOC NTEKKAHCIA NTAIKAI

18 OCYNH MN TAAIKIA(EC)AZE E(Z)PAT EXN OYCWNT Now (δέ) Faith (πίστις) Wisdom (σοφία)

separated him from the darkness. She called him to her right,

but (δέ) the Archigenetor (ἀρχιγενέτωρ) she put on her left.

From that day, right is called [the]

righteousness (δικατοσύνη) hut (δέ) left is called the unrighteousness (ἀδικία). Moreover because of this they all received

a world (κόσμος) of the church (ἐκκλησία) of righteousness (δικαιοσύνη)

and unrighteousness (ἀδικία), since it stands over a creation.

19 [THPOY]

As in NatArch, this last pericope concerning separation into right and left conflates the final element of the ascent and vision of the throne/chariot by the apocalyptic seer—i.e. angels on right and left—and the final element of enthronement—i.e. the beginning of rule. As we also previously discussed, this pericope presents a later stage in the tradition than NatArch, since "darkness" and "righteousness" reflect the hand of the redactor and since the pericope contradicts the previous narrative of the ascent of Sabaoth.

The particle "now" introduces the pericope, and Faith-Wisdom is then said to separate Sabaoth from the darkness. In contrast to NatArch, Faith-Wisdom assumes the middle position rather than Sabaoth. Also in contrast to NatArch she calls Sabaoth to her right and laldabaoth to her left rather than Life and the angel. From that day the right is called righteousness and the left unrighteousness. In NatArch, on the other hand, the contrast is between life and unrighteousness. The change then from NatArch to OnOrgWld serves to emphasize particularly the role of Faith-Wisdom and the contrast between righteousness and unrighteousness.

One finds a similar conception within Valentinian circles. For example, there it is Wisdom who creates the Demiurge and the Ruler of the World, who are respectively related to right and left.⁶⁵ The Demiurge in particular is considered as the God of righteousness while

⁶⁴ Iardieu errs in ascribing righteousness and thus the creation of Paradise to Faith-Wisdom. Rather, it is Sabaoth who is related to righteousness and thus probably to the creation of Paradise (*Trois mythes gnostiques*, 225).

⁶⁵ Exc. Theod. 33.3-34.1 and 47.2-3 (Casey, The Excerpto ex Theodoto, 64-65 and 70-73); Iren. Adv. haer. 1.5.1 (Völker, 106).

the Ruler of the World is unrighteous.⁶⁶ Then the right represents the psychic and the left represents the hylic or choic.⁶⁷ To be sure, however, one does not find within Valentinianism the scene in which Wisdom is seated with the Demiurge and the Ruler of the World beside her in one heaven. Rather, Wisdom occupies the middle; the Demiurge resides in the seventh heaven; and the Ruler of the world is in the cosmic realm.

Yet this pericope concerning the separation into right and left in OnOrgWld shows Valentinian influence. Valentinian conceptions have not been taken over directly. Rather this pericope of the Sabaoth account as found in NatArch has been adapted in the light of Valentinian influence. Now Faith-Wisdom—as Wisdom in Valentinianism—is placed in the position of prominence rather than Sabaoth. The contrast becomes righteousness versus unrighteousness rather than life versus unrighteousness; and Sabaoth represents the psychic type of man (122[170].9).

The fact that Sabaoth is here contrasted with laldabaoth rather than with an angel may also be partially explained by the tradition concerning the divine Middot. Following Palestinian exegetical tradition, Philo had ascribed the aspect of God's ruling power to the title $\kappa \dot{\nu} \rho \iota o \varsigma$ and His goodness and creative power to the title $\theta \epsilon \dot{o} \varsigma$. That this tradition was known in Gnosticism is demonstrated by ApocryJn BG 62.12ff:

One (μέν) is righteous (δίκαιος), but (δέ) the other is unrighteous (ἄδικος). Eloim is the righteous (δίκαιος), Jave is the unrighteous (ἄδικος).

In OnOrgWld, then, this same contrast is maintained between the righteous and unrighteous (although here in the nominal rather than

⁶⁶ Ptolemy, Letter to Flora 3.5; 3.7; and 7.5 (Völker, 87f and 92).

⁶⁷ Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.1 (Völker, 112).

⁶⁸ A. Marmorstein, *The Old Rabbinic Doctrine of God*, 1. *The Names and Attributes of God* (Oxford 1927) 43-53. As Marmorstein suggests, the latter reversal of rabbinic tradition so that Yahweh represents the merciful aspect and Elohim the judgmental may well represent an anti-gnostic reaction.

⁶⁹ Ed. Till (TU 60) 164-65. In the longer form of ApocryJn CG II, 1: 24(72).20ff (ed. M Krause and P. Labib, Die drei Versionen des Apokryphon des Johannes im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Koiro; Abhandlungen des Deutschen Archäologischen Instituts Kairo, Koptische Reihe 1; Wiesbaden 1962; 177f) the association of names is reversed so that Yahweh is righteous and Elohim unrighteous. This fact makes it difficult to assess whether the gnostics are following the earlier tradition of the middot represented by Philo or the later Rabbinic reversal. For our purposes, it is sufficient to note that this tradition was known by the gnostics. Cf. MacRae, Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic, 207ff.

adjectival form) and applied to the archontic names Sabaoth and laldabaoth rather than the two names of God. 70 Again, as in NatArch, the beginning of rule is shown in that the names are said to be used "from that day". Secondly, because of this separation into right and left, the world that exists below is then characterized as belonging to the church of righteousness and unrighteousness, since it stands over creation.

As in NatArch, so also here in OnOrgWld the Sabaoth account is derived from Jewish material, draws upon the tradition of the ascent and vision of the heavenly throne/chariot by the apocalyptic seer and upon the tradition of heavenly enthronement, and thus redacts these traditions by applying them to Sabaoth.

Specifically, apart from the small reference to Jesus Christ and the virgin of the Holy Spirit within the Sabaoth account (105[153].26-31), the account in OnOrgWld stems from Jewish material. There is no discernible influence of this account upon the NT nor is there influence from the NT portrayals of the enthronement of Christ upon this account. Thus the Jewish material has been mediated by Christians other than those whose writings appear in the canonical writings. As in NatArch the determinative motifs applied here to Sabaoth are not ascribed to Christ in the NT: e.g. Sabaoth's repentance, his being "snatched up" to the seventh heaven, his title specifically as Lord of the Forces, Life as his instructoress concerning the Eighth. Although Sabaoth does sit at the right hand (106[154].12f), this motif does not stem from NT influence but rather from the author's desire to contrast Sabaoth and Ialdabaoth, right and left. Lastly, a number of the minor motifs and traditions stem from Judaism. There are those that are also found in NatArch: seven heavens, the heavenly veil, the four-faced chariot of Cherubim, infinitely many angels, the harps of angels. In addition there occur here the following: the stretching

Marmorstein in *The Old Rabhinic Doctrine of God*, 1, 50, has stated that these middot were used by the gnostics to contrast the Highest God and the God of the Jews (cf. Iren. *Adv. huer.* 2,35,3). This passage in OnOrgWld, however, would suggest that the contrast was between two rulers both of whom were below the Highest God. Further, in both versions of ApocryJn (cf. the preceding note) the righteous figure is placed over fire and wind and the unrighteous over water and earth, which would suggest that they are in some way comparable, related to the cosmos, and less than the remote Highest God. Hins, OnOrgWld would reflect the earlier use of this tradition in its application of the middot to both a positive find a negative ruler, who are rulers of the cosmos underneath the Highest God. ApocryJn, then, where the middot are related to Cain and Abel, would reflect a later stage in which the application of the tradition to different gods or rulers has lost its original significance.

out of the finger, the exegetical tradition relating light and darkness to Gen 1:2b, the description of the dwelling place of Sabaoth, the tradition of the seventy-two angels over the nations, the Seraphim as dragonlike, and Israel interpreted as "the man who sees God." ⁷¹

B. FUNCTION

Professor Böhlig has perceptively noted that OnOrgWld 103(151).30 would be most appropriately followed by 107(155).17, if the Sabaoth account were missing. Therefore, he proposes that the Sabaoth account is an interpolation in the original treatise.⁷² While we agree that the Sabaoth account is an identifiable unit of tradition, yet we consider it neither as a later interpolation into the text nor as a unit of tradition which has simply been inserted into the text. Rather, the Sabaoth account is a piece, which the author has redacted and integrated to serve a function in his treatise as a whole.

We have already shown that the author has redacted the Sabaoth account by means of his theology of the immortal Light-Man and the contrast between light and darkness (cf. 103[151].15-28 and 104 [152].2-11). Secondly, the further references to Sabaoth throughout the treatise indicate that Sabaoth has been integrated into the system of the document. In 113(161).12f Wisdom-Life is said to be with Sabaoth; in 114(162).16f the souls of Sabaoth and his Christ are referred to; and also in 122(170).22f the sun and moon are considered as a witness to Sabaoth.

The function of the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld then is related to the particular theology of OnOrgWld. As we have shown previously, the Sabaoth account in NatArch functions to answer the theological

⁷¹ Bullard in *The Hypostasis of the Archons*, 111, suggested that the relationship of the Sabaoth account to Merkabah mysticism should be investigated by someone. I have done that. As the detailed analysis of the motifs in the Sabaoth account has shown, however, almost all of the motifs can be found in intertestamental Judaism. The few remaining motifs, such as the consuming fire which proceeds from the outstretched finger, can be found in Rabbinic Judaism as well as in Merkabah material. There is no isolatable motif that is particular to these gnostic accounts and to Merkabah material. Thus, the demonstrable relationship of these Sabaoth accounts and the Merkabah material consists only in that they are both derived from the same matrix, late Judaism. For an interesting study of the motifs of the throne and the chariot in Judaism and in Jewish esoteric, see J. Maier, *Vom Kultus zur Gnosis Bundeslade*, *Gottesthron und Markabah* (Kanos, Religiouswissenschaftliche Studien I, Salzburg 1964)

Böhlig, Die Koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 491

⁷³ Cf. supra 16-18 and also the commentary for further specific examples and argumentation.

problem concerning the God of the OT and the revelation contained in the books of the OT. Here, however, in OnOrgWld the Sabaoth account serves an anthropological rather than a theological function. At the very beginning of the cosmogony, the author indicates a major concern that he has—namely, men. For him the veil separates not the above and the aeons below (as in NatArch 94[142].8-10) but men and heaven (98[146].22f).⁷⁴ Within this theology, then, Sabaoth represents one class of men, the psychics. We shall contend that in his use of the Sabaoth account the author has been influenced by Valentinianism. It is our view that the author has been subject to Valentinian influence and in the light of this influence has redacted the Sabaoth account and composed his treatise. However, he has not been bound by Valentinianism but developed further beyond it.

We have already argued within the commentary that there is evidence of Valentinian influence in the Sabaoth account.⁷⁵ The creation of Christ by Sabaoth to sit at his right hand, the instruction of Sabaoth by Faith-Wisdom alone, and the presentation of Wisdom surrounded by Sabaoth and laldabaoth, who represent righteousness and unrighteousness, are clear examples of Valentinian influence. Possibly the reference to the thirty lyres (105[153].33 f) is also a result of Valentinian influence.

There is also evidence of Valentinian influence in the treatise as a whole. First the pneumatic figure must reside in a middle realm between the seventh heaven and the divine realm, until the consummation of the Aeons (112[160].10-22). He cannot enter the divine realm until then because of the stain with which his Light has been mixed (127[175].1-5). So, too, in Valentinianism Wisdom as the pneumatic figure resides ἐν τῆ μεσότητι until the consummation. However, the author of OnOrgWld has developed beyond Valentinianism in that he has associated Faith-Wisdom with Sabaoth and introduced another figure, the immortal Light-Man, as the resident of the realm of the middle. Secondly, in OnOrgWld 125(173).4f the seven heavens plus the middle are referred to as the Eighth. This designation is somewhat strange in that elsewhere in the text the Eighth refers to

¹⁴ The same reductional interest is seen in the serpent's response to Eve. Contrary to the biblical account (Gen. 3.5) and to NatArch (90[138] 6-10), the difference for OnOrgWld is not the difference between good and evil but between evil and good men (118[166] 34-119[167] 6).

^{**} Cf. supra 104-15.

⁷⁶ Iren. Adv. hoer. 1.5.4. and 1.7.1 (Völker, 108ff and 117-18).

the divine realm (e.g. 112[160].12). Also in Valentinianism these lower realms are designated as the second or lower Ogdoad.⁷⁷ Thirdly, OnOrgWld 122(170).6-9 distinguishes three types of men: the pneumatic of the Aeon, the psychic and the earthly (πνευματικός, ψυχικός, χοϊκός). In Valentinianism as well there is a distinction among three classes of men. Usually the distinction is among πνευματικός, ψυχικός and ὑλικός (e.g. Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.1).⁷⁸ However, the series πνευματικός, ψυχικός and χοϊκός is also attested in the account of Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.1 and in Frag. 15 of Heracleon.⁷⁹

Fourthly, the passage in OnOrgWld concerning the creation of Adam shows Valentinian influence. There is a strange, apparent contradiction in OnOrgWld in that at 115(163).1 the creation of the Archigenetor and his rulers is said to be ψυχικός and yet at 115(163).10f, 13f, 34 he is stated explicitly to have no ψυχή. If one compares the parallel passage in NatArch 87(135).23-88(136).16, there is no such contradiction. Within Valentinianism the psyche comes from the righteous ruler of the seventh heaven, the Demiurge; and those who possess the soul from the Demiurge, but not the Spirit from Wisdom, are ψυχικός. 80 On the other hand, those who merely receive matter from the worldruler are ύλικός. In OnOrgWld then the author has accepted his inherited material, in which the Archigenetor and his rulers fashioned a man that was ψυχικός, but altered it in that this creature is said to have no ψυχή.81 As in Valentinianism, so within this document souls are said to belong to the righteous ruler of the seventh heaven, Sabaoth (wuyń 114[162].16). It is also to be noted that Wisdom-Life, who is with Sabaoth (113[161].12f and 114[162].15f), is the one who sends Life-Eva to the earthly man and finally gives him a psyche (115[163].30-116[164].8). Thus it is clear that Valentinian influence has caused this apparent contradiction and provides its solution.82

⁷⁷ Iren, *Adv. haer.* 1.3.4 and 1.5.2. (Völker, 101 and 107) and Epiph. *Pan.* 31.6.1-2 (ed. Holl; GCS 25.1; 392-93).

⁷⁶ Völker, 112. Cf. Exc. Theod. 54.1-2 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 76-77) and Heracleon, Frag. 44 (Völker, 83).

⁷⁹ Völker, 112ff and 70.

⁸⁰ E.g. Iren. Adv. huer. 1.6.1 (Völker, 112f); Heracleon, Frag. 44 (Völker, 83).

^{**} This conception may be possible on the basis of a distinction between an earthly, material soul and a soul of that intermediate stulf between spirit and matter. Cf Exc. Theod. 50.1-51.1 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 72-75).

he lardieu notes the parallel between the three lordships and the three races. Thus he relates the lordship of Sabaoth to the pneumatics, the lordship of the second Adam to the psychies, and the lordship of the psychia to the hylics. However, he misinterprets the function of Sabaoth who represents the psychics (see supra). He also fails

Fifthly, Valentinian influence can be detected in the reference to a fourth race of men. Again a seeming contradiction provides our starting point. On OrgWld had consistently maintained that there were three races of men: the pneumatic, psychic and the choic (e.g. 122) [170].6-9). Then at 125(173).3f one finds the unexpected statement: "Therefore there are four kinds." The statement follows a discussion of the innocent spirits, i.e. the small blessed ones, and the angel who is manifest to them. Within Valentinianism Jesus as the fruit of the Pleroma can be entitled as Savior or Logos (e.g. Iren. Adv. haer. 1.2.6)83 and also as Angel.84 As the Angel of the Pleroma, Jesus has been granted all authority.85 He has also created other angels, who surround him and who are the counterparts of the pneumatic seed in the world. These angels then pray for their counterparts in order that they may be reunited and re-enter the Pleroma. 86 This pneumatic seed is then identified as a τέκνον or νήπιον and as τὰ διαφέροντα σπέρματα.⁸⁷ At the consummation then the angelic counterpart and its pneumatic seed are to be reunited, as the Savior is with Wisdom, and enter into the nuptial chamber of the Pleroma.88 Here too in OnOrgWld 124(172).12-15 there is an angel who is not powerless before the Father, who is manifest to the innocent spirits, who possesses the entire gnosis and who can give it. Clearly here OnOrgWld is drawing upon the Valentinian notion of Jesus as the Angel of the Pleroma.⁸⁹ The innocent spirits that are sent into the world are then identified as "your images"; they are the small, blessed ones

to see this apparent contradiction between being ψυχικός but not having a ψυχή. Since the ψυχή comes from Sabaoth, it seems more likely that the lordships of Sabaoth, of the second Adam and of the psychui all relate consistently to the psychics.

⁸³ Völker, 99.

^{**} Αγγελος τοῦ πληρώματος Exc. Theod. 35.1 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 64-65); ὁ τῆς βουλῆς ἄγγελος Exc. Theod. 43.2 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 70-71).

⁸⁵ καὶ δόντος πάσαν τὴν ἐξουσίαν τοῦ πνεύματος, συναινέσαντος δὲ καὶ τοῦ πληρώματος ἐκπέμπεται "ὁ τῆς βουλῆς ἄγγελος." καὶ γίνεται κεφαλή τῶν δλων μετά τὸν Πατέρα Exc. Theod. 43.2 (Cascy, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 68-71).

⁸⁶ Exc. Theod. 35.1-4 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 64-67).

⁸⁷ Exc. Theod. 41.1-2 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 68-69); Iren. Adv. haer. 1.6.4 (Völker, 116). G. Quispel argues that τὰ διαφέροντα is a technical term of the Valentinians for the spiritual seed in *Ptolémée: Lettre à Flora* (Paris 1966) 36.

^{**} Exc. Theod. 64 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 82-83).

^{**} Böhlig has suggested an allusion to Matt 18:10, particularly on the basis of the mention of the guardian angel in OnOrgWld 124(172).12 f Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 100. However, the reference here is to one angel for all the innocent spirits rather than 10 a guardian angel for each individual person as in Matt 18:10.

(124[172].9-11). They have been fashioned by the Savior (124[172].33 f); and they, rather than the seed, are the ones who are κατά διαφορά (124[172].26 f). Here too OnOrgWld is drawing upon Valentinian notions but also developing them further. The author has increased in his system the classes of men from three to four. Thereby he has made use of the notion of angelic counterparts, sent them into the world, and considered them as the fourth race, which is perfect and thus above the pneumatics. With this theologoumenon, the author is moving in the direction of Manichaeism, which also distinguishes the "elect" as more perfect than the catechumens or hearers.

Lastly, OnOrgWld possibly shows Valentinian influence in its conexption of the consummation. In Valentinianism after separation from the body the pneumatics reside in the middle with Wisdom, and the psychics reside in the seventh heaven with the Demiurge. The consummation occurs when all the pneumatic seed has been perfected (τελειοῦν). At the consummation, which is expressed by the term συντέλεια, the pneumatics along with Wisdom enter the Pleroma while the psychics and the Demiurge enter the realm just vacated, i.e. the middle. 92 In OnOrgWld the term used for the consummation is also συντέλεια (e.g. 125[173].32f), although the term is also used in other strands of Gnosticism and therefore not peculiarly Valentinian (e.g. GEgypt III, 2: 61.1ff/IV, 2: 72.10ff). Also here at the consummation the light returns to its root, the divine realm 127(175).4. Those who have entered the divine realm then are named the perfect (τέλειος cf. 127[175].5-10). Those who are not perfect then receive their glories in their aeons and in their immortal kingdoms (127[175].10-13). Implicitly then Sabaoth would remain in his kingdom (cf. 104[152].23 and 106[154].9) along with those associated with him. 93 In contrast, NatArch 97(145).5-21 presents a return to the light at the end but shows no concern for those who are less than perfect. The reference

⁴⁰ Tardieu suggests Pythagorean arithmology as the background for the notion of the fourth as the designation for the elect (*Trois mythes gnostiques*, 81, n. 236).

⁹¹ Cf. H.J. Polotsky, "Manichaeismus," PW, Sup 6 (1935) 259, 262-64.

⁹² Exc. Theod. 34.2 and 63.1 (Casey, The Excerpta ex Theodoto, 64-65 and 82-83); Iren Adv. haer. 1.6.1 and 1.7.1 (Völker, 112 and 117f). Cf. the discussion of Pagels in The Johannine Gospel in Gnostic Exegesis, 94-97, who proposes that only those psychics who have not attained salvation remain in the middle.

⁶³ Tardieu suggests that the kings of history and the prophets are those who do not enter kinglessness but remain in immortal kingdoms (*Trois mythes gnostiques*, 82). However, there is no clear basis for this statement. 127(175).7 refers to the fulfilment of prophecy at the consummation; and the following verse seems to refer to the gnostics as kings rather than the kings of history (cf. 125[173].5-12).

to a heavenly marriage and to a movement of Sabaoth into the middle are missing in OnOrgWld, and yet the treatise may reflect Valentinian influence in its presentation of the return of the light at the συντέλεια and of immortal kingdoms for the non-perfect.

Since the Sabaoth account has been integrated into the treatise as a whole and since the account reflects Valentinian influence, it is clear that Sabaoth represents the psychic class of men. Because the perfect realm of the Eighth is light (98[146].23-26), the immortal Light-Man represents the pneumatic type of men and resides in the middle (112[160].10-22). Sabaoth is therefore placed below him in the seventh heaven (104[152].20 f). Ialdabaoth then and his offspring in the lower heavens represent the choic type of men (106[154].24 ff).

In this midrashic reflection upon Genesis, the author has also presented three Adams—the pneumatic, the psychic and the choic. In a clear systematization (117[165].28-35), which reflects the hand of the author, it is said:

Moreover the first Adam of the light is pneumatic (πνευματικός). He appeared On the first day. The second Adam is psychic (ψυχικός). He appeared on the fourth day, which is called 'Aphrodite'. The third Adam is earthly (χοϊκός), that is, 'the man of law' (-νόμος). 94

In accord with this description of the three Adams, for the author there are also three kinds of men and their races until the end of the world: the pneumatic of the Aeon, the psychic and the earthly (122 [170].6-9). All souls are at first captured and enclosed in matter (114[162].14-24; 117[165].24-26). It is gnosis, however, which makes one aware of the true situation (119[167].12-15) and leads one, like Sabaoth, to condemn the authorities (110[158].24-29; 113[161].7-9; 120 [168].29-35). Just as there are three men and their races, so there are three phoenixes (the first is immortal, the second makes a thousand years, and the third is destroyed) and also three baptisms (the first is pneumatic, the second is fiery, the third is of water 122[170].6-16). We have already discussed how the author has then altered this system to introduce a fourth class of men, the perfect.

To whom then are the various classes of men ascribed? The reference to the third, choic Adam as the man of the Law is clearly a reference

⁴⁴ Cf. Böhlig, Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel, 29f and 84f.

to the Jews.⁹⁵ Since the author, in incorporating the Sabaoth account, has added the reference to Jesus Christ as a creation of Sabaoth (105 [153].26), it is clear that the orthodox Christians are the psychics (cf. 114[162].16).⁹⁶ The gnostics then would be the pneumatics; and the elect among them are the perfect (124[172].32ff).

Corresponding to this anthropological function are ecclesiological and political consequences of this Sabaoth account. The Jews and Christians form a church of unrighteousness and righteousness to which the world is subject (105[153].20-21 and 106[154].16-18). The gnostics, however, form the true church (105[153].22-23 and 124[172].25-35). For the gnostic author of OnOrgWld, then, the heavenly enthronement of Sabaoth is a validation that Sabaoth is a divinely appointed ruler but a ruler only over the church of righteousness and unrighteousness and the world below him. Neither Sabaoth nor his church nor his rulers have any authority over the true gnostics. Thereby, this version of the Sabaoth account must have arisen when the gnostics no longer felt themselves welcome within or attracted to their Jewish or Christian brethren.

The further significance of this account in OnOrgWld, in contrast to NatArch, is that it shows the development within this stream of Gnosticism. The trend is from the simple to the more complex. Further mythical figures are introduced, i.e. the immortal Light-Man; further traditions are incorporated with the result that inner contradictions within the account are possible (e.g. 106[154].11-12 where Faith-Wisdom separates Sabaoth from the darkness, although he is already in the seventh heaven). From this single example, of course, one cannot generalize to the trend of all Gnosticism. However, further such studies in the Nag Hammadi corpus may serve either to verify or disprove such a general development.

The fact that the document as a whole is in the form of a treatise or tract should also not be overlooked. The conscious polemic against those who derive the world from chaos (97[145].24-29) with its allusion to Hesiod, the reference to the blessed in each country (124[172]. 25ff), and the form of a treatise or tract indicate a changed lifesituation. No longer is the community merely an esoteric community. Rather, it is one conscious of a world-wide dispersion.

⁹⁵ For further pejorative references to the Law, cf. Test1r CG 1X, 3, 29.13-15 and 45.23-25; GMary BG 8502 8.22-9.4.

⁹⁶ Sabaoth is also said to have created Israel. Since the author himself considers the Jews as related to the choic rather than psychic class of men, probably the phrase concerning Israel was part of his pre-existing source (105[153].24).

Because this text is subsequent to NatArch, betrays Valentinian influence and shows a development beyond it, its date is probably in the first half of the third century. The treatise does not exhibit the wildly developed speculation of the end of the third century as witnessed in *Pistis Sophia*.

C. THE SABAOTH ACCOUNTS: REFLECTIONS THEREOF IN LATE GNOSTIC DOCUMENTS?

This same tradition concerning Sabaoth is found in another document from Nag Hammadi, GrSeth (CG VII, 2), although in this document the name of ruler is Adonaios rather than Sabaoth. GrSeth is a revelation of Jesus Christ, the Son of Man (69.20-22), which particularly polemicizes on the one hand against the orthodox Christian church and stresses on the other hand the unity within the true church of the gnostics. The tractate polemicizes against the orthodox Christian church by attacking its doctrine of the death of Jesus Christ upon the cross and by considering it as the product of the rulers (49.26f; 60.13-61.28). For the true gnostic, in contrast, Jesus Christ did not truly die (55.15-56.13), but his revelation effects a unity between him and those who have accepted this knowledge (67.19-68.16).

The tractate itself is comparatively late. This is clear, first of all, because of its nature as a compilation. Although there is no indication that the document is Basilidean in itself, yet it has taken over the tradition of the substitution of Simon of Cyrene for Jesus upon the cross (56.4-13), which is attributed to Basilides (cf. Iren. Adv. haer. 1.24.4 and Epiph. Pan. 24.3.2-5). Secondly, it is clearly late because of the persecution by the orthodox Christian church (59.19-60.12). Although there was polemical discussion between orthodox and gnostic, there is no evidence of persecution in the early stages of this confrontation. It should be further mentioned that it is impossible to locate this tractate within a particular gnostic sect.

Within the two parallel mythical cycles (49.10-54.14 and 54.14-59.19), which comprise the first part of the tractate and which treat of the heavenly origin of the revealer and his descent into the world, there appear the references to Adonaios (52.17-25 and 54.32-55.15). 98 In

^{47 59 22-26 &}quot;... we were hated and persecuted, not only (οῦ μόνον) by those who are ignorant, but (ἀλλα) also by those who think that they are advancing (κῦπορείν) the name of Clerist".

^{**} In the following pages I am greatly indebted to the dissertation of J. Gibbons, 4 Commentary on the Second Logos of the Great Seth (Ph.D. diss., Yale University

the first, an allusion is presented to the earlier flight of Adonaios:

And

all those who have come down, who belong to the same race ($\gamma \dot{\epsilon} v o \zeta$) as he who fled from the throne ($\theta \dot{\rho} \dot{o} v o \zeta$) (those of the race of Adonaios) flee to the Sophia ($\sigma o \dot{\phi} \dot{\iota} \dot{u}$) of Elpis ($\dot{\epsilon} \lambda \pi \dot{\iota} \dot{\zeta}$), since she had earlier given the sign concerning us and all the ones with me.

In the second reference (54.32-55.15), a disturbance arises at the descent of the revealer, whom Adonaios knows because of Hope (Elpis):

And (δέ) there came about a disturbance and a battle surrounding the Seraphim and the Cherubim, since their glory will be dissolved:
... and confusion around Adonaios on both sides with their dwelling to the Cosmocrator (κοσμοκράτωρ) and him who said, 'Let us seize him!'; others again: 'The plan will certainly not materialize.' For (γάρ) Adonaios knows me because of Elpis (ἐλπίς) (And [δέ] I was in the mouth of lions) and

1972), for his analysis of the document as a whole and his examination of the relationship between Sabaoth and Adonaios.

АУШ ФАУПШТ НО ПНАТ ТНРОУ ЕНТАУЕТ НИ ПТОТЕНОС ЕПЕСНТ ЕВОХ 2Н ПТОТЕНОС ФА ТСОФТА НТЕ Т2ЕХ ПТО ЕАСР ФОРП НТНОУ ЕТФО ОП ИМНАЕТ НЕ ВВОХ 2Н ПТОЕ НОС НТЕ АДШИЛОС

Text and tr. Gibbons, A Commentary on GrSeth. 103f. In his commentary (175-76) Gibbons rightly proposes two emendations in this passage. As he states, the text at present reads: "And they are fleeing, all those who have come down with the race, from him who had fled from the throne (θρόνος) to the Sophia of Elpis, since she had earlier given the sign concerning us and all those who are with me—those of the race (γένος) of Adonaios." He suggests that the Greek Vorlage must have been something like και φεύγουσιν οι πάντες καταβάντες σύν γένει (read: συγγενείς) τοῦ φύξαντος τοῦ θρόνου πρός την σοφίαν της Ελπίδος ... οι τοῦ γένους 'Αδωναίου. Thus a minreuding of σύν γένει for an original συγγενείς by the translator and a mis-translation of τοῦ φύξαντος as the object of the verb φεύγουσιν rather than a genitive modifying συγγενείς produced the present faulty text.

the plan which they devised about me to do away with their Error (πλάνη) and their senselessness. I did not succumb to them as they had planned. 100

It is clear from the names and motifs involved that these pericopes concerning Adonaios and his race reflect the same mythologoumenon as that found in NatArch and OnOrgWld concerning Sabaoth. To be sure, the name is changed to Adonaios, but as both GEgypt (CG III, 2: 57.13f) and ApocryJn (CG II, 1: 10(58).33f) state, Sabaoth is called or identified with Adonaios. ¹⁰¹ In an earlier incident, Adonaios is said to have "fled from the throne" (52.20). The "throne" is surely a metaphor for the Demiurge, Ialdabaoth (cf. ApocryJn CG II, 1: 10[58].14-19), from whom Sabaoth also turns. Further, just as Sabaoth is instructed by Life the daughter of Wisdom in NatArch

100 ογωτορτρ Δε ни оүт ачшшпе нпкште инісарафін ми ніхєроувін ечильту свох исп полеоол μμ μτως ετώοου μμκω TE NAAWNAIOC HITICA HN пат ни печнет фа пікосно кратшр ий пи енецхш й HOC AE HAPHQITQ ZENKO оує он же нецшшпе по пі **МОЖИЕ, ЕЙСООЛИ LYЬ WHO!** NOI AAWNAIOC ETBE OYZEA LIC, THOK TE HEELMOOL SH LMOA HSEHMOAE! TAM піщожиє птаусооун при ТО ЕТВИНТ ЕУВША ЕВОЛ ПТЕ ТЕУПЛАНН МИ ТЕУМИТАӨНТ ни эей ком тэми у ображи **ЭНДОШУКТ**

Text and tr. Gibbons, A Commentary on GrSeth, 108f. As he suggests in his commentary (197), there must be a lacuna after the clause "since their glory will be dissolved," if we are to explain the following incomplete sentence. The scribe must have omitted a line, which contained the beginning of the following sentence, such as: "Some fled from the disturbance..."

This identification of Sabaoth and Adonaios occurs only in the codex II version of ApocryJn and not in BG 8502, Codex III or Codex IV of Nag Hammadi. Since this identification of Sabaoth and Adonaios would be a later development in the simple listing of the archontic offspring of the Demiurge, it is another small indication that Codex II represents a later version of ApocryJn than BG 8502 and Codex III. Cf. Rudolph, "Gnosis und Gnostizismus, ein Forschungsbericht," ThRu 34 (1969) 143-47, for the present state of the discussion concerning the priority of the shorter or longer recension.

(e.g. 95[143].18 and by Wisdom-Life the daughter of Faith-Wisdom in OnOrgWld (e.g. 113[161].12f), so Adonaios is instructed by Wisdom of Hope (52.21) or Hope (55.7f). One can see the Christianization at work in the change from NatArch and OnOrgWld. Rather than Life, Hope is the daughter of Wisdom, whose name probably stems from Wisdom's action in 51.11-15, where she prepares men to receive the "life-giving word," which will come from the revealer in the future. Secondly, the instruction is no longer concerning the eighth heaven, but rather concerning the future revealer, who is later identified as Jesus Christ, the Son of Man (69.21f).

In conclusion, then, one can say that the presentation of the earlier flight of Adonaios and the later revolt of the race of Adonaios in these pericopes is drawn from the same tradition as that of the Sabaoth account, even though the specific motifs of repentance and enthronement in the seventh heaven are missing. Gibbons has noted and detailed this relationship as well, 103 and suggests that GrSeth is incorporating this myth into its descent of the savior myth. 104 What is still puzzling, however, is the function of these pericopes within the document as a whole. There is no indication that Adonaios represents

¹⁰² The term in GrSeth is † which translates μάχη, πάλη and πολεμικός in the phrase 20πλοκ Ντε π† (cf. Crum, 395b); in OnOrgWld the term is πόλεμος.

¹⁰³ Gibbons, A Commentary on GrSeth, 175-80 and 196-200, to which I am happily indebted in the preceding.

¹⁰⁴ Gibbons, A Commentary on GrSeth, 198. Gibbons suggests that in both cycles (49.10-54.14 and 54.14-59.19) an original descent of the savior myth has been Christianized and that the Sabaoth or Adonaios account has also possibly been interpolated into this myth (189ff). Is it not more probable that the Wisdom myth plus Sabaoth account as we see it in NatArch and OnOrgWld has as a whole been Christianized and applied to the descent of the revealer/savior Christ?

an attempt to rescue a portion of the OT. The God of the OT is thoroughly evil and identified with Ialdabaoth (53.30-54.1), he is the chief ruler (64.18) and ruler of the seventh heaven (62.27-64.1) and implicitly also the creator (50.3f). The revelation in the Law and the Prophets is denigrated entirely, for the revealer can state that the leading OT figures were "laughingstocks" (62.27-64.1) and that those "from Adam to Moses and John the Baptist, none of them knew me nor my brothers" (63.33 ff). The Law itself is also dismissed as something which did not know truth, as a doctrine of angels and a bitter slavery in its observance of certain foods (64.1-6). The race of Adonaios at least in the present document represents the angels surrounding him and thus not the people of the Law and the prophets.¹⁰⁵ The only function then that these pericopes serve is the Christological one. Adonaios and his race no longer serve a representative function in themselves; rather their purpose is merely to point to the revealer-savior, who is identified as Jesus Christ. It seems then that we have a piece of tradition which has lost its original mythical function and which is yet retained, since it can be slightly reworked and made to serve an external, Christological function. An indication of Adonaios' original function, to represent an intermediate deity and thereby to rescue a portion of the revelation contained in the Law and the Prophets, is still retained, however, in the motif that Adonaios has received instruction or revelation from Wisdom of Hope concerning a figure from the world above.

Within this same stream of vulgar Gnosticism, as is evidenced by the fall of Wisdom and by the figures of Faith-Wisdom and Ialdabaoth, there is a group of writings that are closely related to one another, namely, the two *Books of Jeu* in Codex Brucianus and *Pistis Sophia* in Codex Askewianus. ¹⁰⁶ The studies of C. Schmidt have shown that the two *Books of Jeu* derive from the early third century Egypt, that

^{10.8} Cf Gibbons, A Commentary on GrSeth, 180, who correctly writes: "This would assume that the race of Adonaios equals the Jews, a quite possible secondary interpretation of the text. The text as it stands, however, refers to Adonaios' race of angels." In the development of this mythologoumenon we might add that the race of Adonaios, as Adonaios himself, probably originally represented the Jews and only secondarily lost this association as here in GrSeth.

The texts are available in C. Schmidt, Gnostische Schriften in koptischer Sprache aus dem Codex Brucianus (TU 8; Leipzig 1892) and C. Schmidt, Pistis Sophia (Coptica, Consilio et Impensis Instituti Rask-Oerstediani Edita, 2; Haumae 1925). The translation used here is that of C. Schmidt and W. Till in Koptisch-gnostische Schriften (GCS 45, 3. Autl.; Berlin 1962), where the German translation is referred to; the English translation, when provided, is my own.

Book 4 of *Pistis Sophia* was originally a separate work from the first half of the third century in Egypt, and that Books 1-3 derive from the second half of the third century in Egypt. ¹⁰⁷ These writings are of interest to us in that they also contain the figure of Sabaoth.

First of all, we encounter the figure of Sabaoth in the 2 Book of Jeu. Within the pleromatic world of this Book of Jeu there is the highest realm, the Second Light Treasury. Below this pleromatic world appear then the 14 Aeons with their rulers. Within the First Light Treasury the figure of the Great Sabaoth is placed in the following passage:

Again (πάλιν) you will go to the inside, to the order (τάξις) of the great Sabaoth, who belongs to the Light. When you reach his order (τάξις), he will seal (σφραγίζειν) you with his seal (σφραγίς) and he will give you his mystery (μυστήριον) and the great name. 108

The document also introduces another figure with the name of Sabaoth, i.e. Sabaoth-Adamas, who is less benevolent than the Great Sabaoth and probably resides in the twelfth Aeon as the leader of the evil rulers: 109

Hear me and compel (ἀναγκόζειν) Sabaoth-Adamas and all his leaders (ἀρχηγός) so that they will come and take away their evil (κακία) in my disciples (μαθητής).¹¹⁰

Within these *Books of Jeu* the problem of the OT is not posed. Sabaoth is not clearly identified as the God of the OT nor is he related to the revelation in the OT or to the people of the OT. In the only other reference to Sabaoth, Taricheas, the son of Sabaoth-Adamas, is said to be worshipped by some who falsely claim to have known the true knowledge and to worship the true God.¹¹¹ It is unclear as to who is meant by this polemical remark. Possibly orthodox Christians rather than Jews are intended.¹¹² The main concern of

¹⁰⁷ C. Schmidt (TU 8) 580-98. Schmidt's attempt to make precise the derivation of the Books of Jeu and Pistis Sophia as coming from the Severians, however, is unacceptable (596). His criterion, the ruler Sabaoth, is not limited to the Severians as NatArch and OnOrgWld demonstrate. His more general derivation from the large group of Barbelo-Gnostics, within which he includes Nicolattans, Ophites, Cainites, Sethians and Archontics is more acceptable but in itself raises again the question as to whether the criteria for separation into sects are any longer valid.

¹⁰⁸ 2 Book of Jeu 50. Ed. Schmidt (TU 8) 119; cf. Schmidt (GCS 45) 316.

¹⁰⁹ CL Schmidt (TU 8) 395.

^{110 2} Book of Jeu 48. Ed. Schmidt (TU 8) 115, cf. Schmidt (GCS 45) 313.

^{111 2} Book of Jeu 43. Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 304.

¹¹² In the 1 Book of Jeu 3f (tr. Schmidt; GCS 45; 258ff) Jesus contrasts his true

the 2 Book of Jeu is rather with the reception of the mysteries and the ascent of the soul through the Aeons after its separation from the body. 113 Sabaoth then functions here not as the God of the OT. He has been released from his original function within gnostic circles and now merely represents a figure or figures in the celestial world. It is thus evident that the 2 Book of Jeu with its benevolent Great Sabaoth and evil Sabaoth-Adamas represents a late stage of development in which various traditions have been compiled, those considering Sabaoth, the God of the OT, as righteous or in some sense good and those considering him as thoroughly evil. However, the specific tradition that Sabaoth is the repentant son of Ialdabaoth, who is enthroned in the seventh heaven, is not reflected here.

Book 4 of Pistis Sophia presents an even more complex set of figures with the name of Sabaoth. But, first of all, its system is also more complex. The highest realm is that of the Light Treasury below which appear in descending order the Right, the Middle, the Left which is comprised of 13 Aeons, the Heimarmene, the Spheres, and the Way of the Middle. Within this framework the highest God within the Light Treasury can be addressed in prayer by Jesus as Teoy cabawo. 114 In the realm of the Right there appears the Great Sabaoth, the Good, who looks down upon the places of Paraplex, the first ruler of the Way of the Middle, and thereby destroys his place of punishment for souls. 115

Within the Middle, there also appears the Small Sabaoth, the Good, who plays an important role in establishing the planetary system and in effecting the salvation of the righteous soul, who has not received the mysteries. First, when Jeu was establishing the five planets in their position, he noticed that the rulers needed a star to direct the world and the aeons so that the rulers would not destroy the world in their evil. Thus he took a power from the Small Sabaoth, the Good, and placed it in Zeus. 116 Secondly, the soul of a thief, when it comes from the body, is punished in the Way of the Middle, given a cup of forgetfulness, and reincarnated in a lame, curved, blind body. 117 But the soul of one who has committed no sin,

apostles with those who have known him after the flesh, i.e. in ignorance, and thus have no hope for the kingdom of God.

¹¹³ E.g. e. 43 and e. 51-52 Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 304f and 321ff.

¹¹⁴ P.S. Bk. 4 136 Fr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 232

¹¹⁵ P.S. Bk. 4 139. Fr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 238.

¹¹⁶ P.S. Bk. 4.137 Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 234f

¹¹⁷ P.S Bk 4 146 Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 249

performed good but not found the mysteries is placed by the Small Sabaoth, the Good, the one from the Middle. In addition to the cup of forgetfulness he is given by a $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\lambda\dot{\eta}\mu\pi\tau\eta\varsigma$ of the Small Sabaoth a cup filled with thoughts, wisdom and sobriety and then sent back into a body which cannot sleep but which drives the heart to ask about the mysteries of Light until it finds them. Thus this soul will inherit the eternal Light.

Within the Left as the leader of six of the Aeons there is also Sabaoth-Adamas. In contrast to the preceding Sabaoths he is evaluated entirely negatively. While Jabraoth, the leader of the other six Aeons, has believed and ceased, Sabaoth-Adamas has persisted in sexual intercourse and thus been bound in the Sphere. In a recurrent refrain it is also Jaluham, the $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\lambda\dot{\eta}\mu\pi\tau\eta\varsigma$ of Sabaoth-Adamas, who brings the cup of forgetfulness to each soul.

Lastly, within the realm of the Sphere one also encounters the planet Zeus, which receives a power from the Small Sabaoth, which thus can be named Sabaoth-Zeus, and which delivers the rulers from their own evil:

He went into the middle (μέσος); he drew a force (δύναμις) from the small Sabaoth, the one from the middle (μέσος); he bound it to Zeus, since he is good (ἀγαθός), to guide them with his goodness (-ἀγαθός), and he appointed the course of his order (τάξις) with these that he should spend thirteen months in each Aeon (αίων) as he is strengthening (στηρίζειν) so that every ruler (ἄρχων) upon whom he comes should be released from the evil (κακία) of their badness (πονηρία). 120

Secondly, when the planets Zeus and Aphrodite, which were considered as benevolent to men in ancient astrology, ¹²¹ reach a favorable position, the places of punishment ruled over by the rulers of the Way of the Middle are destroyed and the souls undergoing punishment are released and cast into the Sphere. ¹²²

¹¹⁸ P.S. Bk 4,136. Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 234.

¹¹⁹ P.S. Bk. 4.144; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 247 Cf. c. 144 (p. 248); c. 146 (p. 249); c. 146 (p. 250); c. 147 (p. 252).

P.S. Bk. 4.137. Text Schmidt, *Pistis Sophia* (Coptica 2) 357; cf. Schmidt (GCS 45) 235. Cf. c. 136 (Schmidt; GCS 45; 234) for Zeus as a planet and c. 139 (Schmidt; GCS 45; 238) for the name Sabaoth-Zeus.

¹²⁴ Sextus Empiricus, *Adv. astrol.* 29, ed. and tr. R. G. Bury (LCL; Cambridge 1949) 4, 334-35. Cf. Schmidt (TU 8) 386, n. 2.

¹²² P.S. Bk. 4.139. Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 238, c. 140 (4×), tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 238-41. Within these five occurrences, the planer is first named "the Small Sabaoth-Zeus," and then "the Small Sabaoth, the Good, who is named Zeus upon earth" (2×) and also "the Small Sabaoth, the Good, the one from the Middle, who is named Zeus

Although there are five figures who bear the name of Sabaoth in Book 4 of P.S., nevertheless the problem of the OT is not raised—as was the case in the *Books of Jeu*. Neither the God of the OT, the revelation in the OT, nor the people of the OT are considered. The closest approximation to raising the problem is the discussion concerning the righteous soul which has never sinned, constantly performed good but never received the mysteries. ¹²³ While one might consider this description as applying to the people of the OT, there is no clear reference or restriction to them. Rather, the concern within this book is with the various data of astrology, the punishment of sinners and the ascent of the soul, which has received the mysteries, to the Light Treasury.

As in the Books of Jeu, it is clear that Book 4 of P.S. represents a late stage of development in which various traditions about Sabaoth have been incorporated. In some Sabaoth represented a benevolent deity or ruler; in others he represented the evil ruler. Again the specific tradition of NatArch and OnOrgWld, that Sabaoth is the repentant son of Ialdabaoth, who is enthroned in the seventh heaven, is not reflected here.

The first three books of P.S. exhibit again a more developed system. In addition to the Light Kingdom, there are in descending order: the Light Treasury, the place of the Right, the place of the Middle, the place of the Left - which includes the 13 Aeons, Heimarmene, the Sphere, the Rulers of the Middle and the Firmament—the Cosmos, and the Underworld—which encompasses Amente, Chaos, and the Outer Darkness.¹²⁴

Within this system there appear only two figures with the name of Sabaoth. First, there is the Great Sabaoth, the Good, in the place of the Right. He and the others in the place of the Right are there in order to gather up the particles of light from the Aeons; and at the end Sabaoth and those of the Right with him are to be kings. 125 In the meantime, in place of a soul of the rulers a power has been taken

upon earth" (2 ×). It is clear that these passages speak about the planet Zeus—witness the association with the planet Aphrodite—rather than about the figure of Sabaoth from the realm of the Middle. However, since it is a power from the Small Sabaoth, the Good, the one from the Middle, which has been given to the planet Zeus, the planet Zeus in these passages has taken over the nomenclature proper to the figure in the realm of the Middle.

¹²³ P.S. Bk, 4.147, Tr, Schmidt (GCS 45) 251-53.

¹²⁴ Cf. Schmidt (TU 8) 347-48,

¹²⁵ P.S. 86. Tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 125.

by Jesus from Sabaoth and placed in Mary to provide for his soul.¹²⁶ Thus Sabaoth can be identified as the father of Jesus;¹²⁷ and the reference to Sabaoth in Isa 19:12 can be allegorically interpreted as applying to Jesus because of the power from Sabaoth within him.¹²⁸

The second figure with the name of Sabaoth is the Small Sabaoth, the Good, who is probably placed within the Middle.¹²⁹ His only described function is to receive the power from the Great Sabaoth, which is the soul of Jesus, and to send it further into the matter of Barbelo.¹³⁰

Within the first three books of P.S., the problem of the God of the OT is not raised. 131 However, the books of the OT and the

^{126 &}quot;It happened afterwards that by the command (κάλευσις) of the first Mystery (μυστήριον) I looked upon the world (κόσμος) of mankind and found Mary, who is called my mother according (κατά) to the material (ΰλη) body. I spoke with her in (κατά) the form (τύπος) of Gabriel; and when she turned to the height to me, I cast into her the first power, which I had received from Barbelo, i.e. the body (σῶμα) which I bore (φορεῖν) in the height. And in place of the soul (ψυχή) I cast into her the power, which I received from the Great Sabaoth, the Good (ἀγαθός) who is in the place of the Right." P.S. 8; text Schmidt, Pistis Sophia (Coptica 2) 13-14; cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 8f. Cf. also the repeated use of this theme in the various exegetical interpretations of Ps 84:10-11, offered in c. 62 and 63, cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 79fT.

¹²⁷ "But Sabaoth, the Great and Good (ἀγαθός), whom I have named my father, has come forth (προέρχεσθαι) from Jeu, the overseer (ἐπίσκοπος) of light." P.S. 86; text Schmidt, *Pistis Sophia* (Coptica 2) 195; cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 125f.

^{128 &}quot;Before you came, the power in the prophet (προφήτης) Isaiah prophecied (προφητώτιν) about you that you would take the power of the archons (ἄρχοντες) of the aeons (αίωνες) and would change their sphere (σφαΐρα) and their fate (είμαρμένη), so that from now on they would not know anything. Therefore, it has also said, 'Then you will not know what the Lord Sabaoth will do,' i.e. none of the archons (ἄρχοντες) will know what you will do from now on; they are Egypt, since they are matter (ΰλη). Now the power in Isaiah prophecied (προφητεύειν) at that time about you when it said, 'You will not know from now on what the Lord Sabaoth will do.' Because of the light power, which you received from Sabaoth, the Good (ἀγαθός), who is in the place (τόπος) of the Right, and which is now in your material (ὑλικός) body (σῶμα), therefore you Lord Jesus once said to us. 'Who has ears to hear let him hear,' so that you might know whose heart is directed strongly to the kingdom of heaven "P.S. 18; text Schmidt, Pistis Sophia (Coptica 2) 28; cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 17.

¹²⁹ In P.S. one also finds the figure of Adamas over the 12 Aeons. However, he is not referred to as Sabaoth Adamas. Cf. P.S. 27; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 23.

^{130 &}quot;But the truth is the power of Sabaoth, the Good (ἀγαθός) which was joined to you and which you cast to the Left—you, the first mystery (μυστήριον) which looks down. And the Small Sabaoth, the Good (ἀγαθός), took it and cast it into the matter (ΰλη) of Barbelo." P.S. 63; text Schmidt, *Pistis Sophia* (Coptica 2) 127-28; cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 82.

referred to Jesus rather than, for example, to the Great Sahaoth or the Small Sahaoth as the God of the OT. It is further doubtful that P.S. would consider all references to Sahaoth in the OT as applying to Jesus.

pseudepigraphical Odes of Solomon are accepted as inspired and containing revelation concerning both Faith-Wisdom ¹³² and Jesus. ¹³³ The power or light-power of Jesus is said to have prophecied through Moses, ¹³⁴ David in the Psalms, ¹³⁵ Isaiah, ¹³⁶ and Solomon in his Odes. ¹³⁷ However, it is doubtful whether all parts of the OT were accepted as having equal value.

The place of the people of the OT in the divine economy is also considered within P.S. However, the contrast is not among Gentile, Jew, Christian and gnostic. Rather, the contrast is among sinners, the righteous who have not received the mysteries—which would include some of the people of the OT among others—and the gnostics. The righteous will be reincarnated in bodies, which will receive the mysteries, and thus the righteous will eventually be saved. 139

In P.S. then the problem of the God of the OT is not a concern, although the books of the OT and the righteous of the OT are considered. The main concern in P.S., instead, is focused upon reception of the saving mysteries, sinners, and the ascent of the soul through the Aeons after its separation from the body.

Once again, although the specific tradition concerning Sabaoth witnessed in NatArch and OnOrgWld is not encountered in P.S., this document incorporates previous speculation concerning Sabaoth in which he is evaluated as a good ruler, who is other than the high God.

¹³² E.g. concerning the repentance of Faith-Wisdom in P.S. 33; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 32ff.

¹³³ P.S. 18; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 16f.

¹³⁴ P.S. 43; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 45.

¹³⁵ E.g. P.S. 36 and 38 inter alios; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 36f and 38f.

¹¹⁶ P.S. 18; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 16-17.

¹³⁷ E.g. Odes Sol 19 in P.S. 58; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 73f.

¹³⁸ Cf. P.S. 135; tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 229f.

¹³⁹ "When I came to the place (τόπος) of the aeons (αἰῶνες), I caused the other patriarchs (πατριάρχα) and righteous (δίκαιοι) from the time of Adam to (ξως) now, who were in the aeons (αίῶνες) and orders (τάξεις) of the archons (ἄρχοντες), to return through the light-virgin (-παρθένος) to bodies (σῶματα), which would be righteous (δίκαια). Those which will find all the mysteries (μιστήρια) of light will enter and inherit (κληρονομεῖν) the light kingdom." P.S. 135; text Schmidt, *Pistis Sophia* (Coptica 2) 351-52; cf. tr. Schmidt (GCS 45) 230.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION

As a contribution to the scholarly discussion of the origins of Gnosticism, our analysis of the Sabaoth accounts in NatArch and OnOrgWld has shown indeed that they are examples of the contribution of Judaism to Gnosticism. Specifically, apocalyptic and sapiential Judaism are the segments of Judaism, which have mainly contributed to these accounts. We have seen that these accounts derive not just from the OT but from later Judaism and that they have neither influenced nor been influenced by the NT. The only specifically Christian element in these accounts is the reference to Sabaoth's creation of Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit in OnOrgWld. Our study has further shown that the traditions drawn upon for the presentation of Sabaoth are those of heavenly enthronement and the ascent of the apocalyptic visionary. Passages concerning the son of man in Dan 7, Enoch in 1 Enoch 69-71, and Moses in Ezekiel Tr and in Philo. provide the immediate and appropriate History-of-Religions background for understanding the composition and function of these Sabaoth accounts.

Since the editors of both NatArch and OnOrgWld had observed that these documents were related and called for a closer examination of that relationship, we compared in detail the two Sabaoth accounts. We found that the wording was identical in some portions and that the pattern in both accounts consisted of the same elements: the repentance of Sabaoth, the ascent and enthronement of Sabaoth, creation of the throne/chariot of Sabaoth, creation of angels, the instruction of Sabaoth, and the separation into right and left. From that analysis it is clear that the Sabaoth accounts in NatArch and in On Org Wld derive from a common tradition. However, it is impossible to establish a literary dependency in either direction or to determine more exactly whether that common tradition was oral and/or written. From that examination it also became evident that the Sabaoth account in NatArch exhibits the typologically earlier stage. In contrast, the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld exhibits inner contradictions, reduplications, and redactional features, which mark it as typologically later.

134 CONCLUSION

Since the Sabaoth account in NatArch showed forth the typologically earlier form, we then exegeted that account first. We discovered that the figure Ialdabaoth, the father of Sabaoth, derives from the God of the OT, the leader of the fallen angels, and the god 'Olam/Aion of ancient Canaanite myth. The figure of Sabaoth himself arises as a conflation of three figures: obviously that of the God of the OT, but also that of a leading angel (e.g. Michael) and that of the apocalyptic visionary (e.g. Enoch or Moses). It is odd within gnostic, mythological patterning to have three rather than two gods, i.e. the transcendent God, the evil god laldabaoth, and as his repentant offspring the god Sabaoth. However, the second century debate, particularly within Marcionite and Valentinian circles, over the God of the OT as a righteous deity and over the value of the OT provides a clue to the function of this Sabaoth account. Sabaoth, as a repentant deity with the angel of punishment at his left side, is the righteous God of the OT. Because he has been instructed by Wisdom's daughter Life about the Eighth, the books of the OT which derive ultimately from him are authenticated as possessing some truth about the perfect realm. The people of the OT then are associated with this god Sabaoth. In contrast, the true gnostics are associated with the highest God and know how to discover the true information contained in the books of the OT. Further, since Sabaoth is enthroned over the seventh heaven, he is king over all below. Thus his rule and the rule within the world are ultimately derived from evil matter and at best repentant or righteous. The gnostics, on the other hand, stem from the realm of imperishability and belong to the kingless race. This proposed function has been confirmed by an analysis of the views in other Nag Hammadi documents, among the Marcionites and Valentinians, and within related groups such as the Gnostikoi, the Archontics and the Severians. Because of the importance of this debate within the second century, a proposed date of the latter half of the second century has been offered for the composition of the Sabaoth account and NatArch.

In our analysis of the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld, we have shown that the Sabaoth account is greatly expanded. The description of the chariot is amplified with material drawn from Jewish tradition; the author's own contribution is particularly visible in the motif of light versus darkness, which is part of the announced theme of the tractate. In terms of its function, the Sabaoth account in OnOrgWld serves an anthropological rather than a theological function. Three types of men have been enumerated in this tractate: the pneumatic,

CONCLUSION 135

the psychic, and the choic. Within this framework Sabaoth then represents the psychic. On the other hand, the immortal Light-Man represents the pneumatic, and laldabaoth symbolizes the choic. In another passage, the choic man is said to be the man of Law, i.e. the Jews. Sabaoth also fashions an angelic church as well as Jesus Christ and thus represents the orthodox Christian Church. Since the Jews and Christians form a church of unrighteousness and righteousness to which the world is subject, the world and the churches of Jews and orthodox Christians are rejected. The immortal Light-Man then typifies the gnostics, who are free from this righteous and/or unrighteous rule. Interestingly enough, in one passage a further, fourth category is introduced—that of the perfect. Thus the anthropology of this document seems to be moving in the direction of Manichaeism, which distinguished the elect from the remainder of the Manichaeans. Because of its developed mythology, its familiarity with other gnostic literature, and its proposed influence from Valentinianism, a date in the early third century has been offered as the time of composition for OnOrg Wld.

Lastly, further documents from Gnosticism have been considered to determine whether the specific tradition of these Sabaoth accounts is reflected in them. A positive answer to that question was found in the Second Treatise of the Great Seth (CG VII, 2). Here the figure is named Adonaios, however, and he is instructed by Hope rather than Life. The function of this Adonaios account is also less clear than that of the Sabaoth accounts; however, it appears to serve a Christological purpose. Examination of the two Books of Jeu and the various books of Pistis Sophia, on the other hand, yielded only a negative answer. The figure of Sabaoth fulfills a variety of roles in these late works; and, indeed, there is a variety of Sabaoth figures in these documents. However, the specific tradition of a repentant Sabaoth who is enthroned in the seventh heaven is not mirrored in them.

In conclusion, the discovery of the Nag Hammadi documents has provided us with an opportunity for a greater understanding of Gnosticism itself, the religious world of antiquity, and also the development of early Christianity. As the documents are made available to the scholarly public, thanks to the labors of the editors, detailed analysis of them is necessary before their treasures can be assimilated. Hopefully our research into the Sabaoth accounts in NatArch and OnOrg Wld will make a contribution to that investigation.

SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adam, Alfred. "Ist die Gnosis in aramäischen Weisheitsschulen entstanden?" Le Origini dello Gnosticismo: Colloquio di Messina 13-18 April 1966. Ed. U. Bianchi. Numen, Supplements 12. Leiden: Brill, 1967, 291-301.
- Adamantius. Dialog. Ed. W. H. van de Sande Bakhuyzen. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 4. Leipzig: Hinrichs, 1901.
- Albright, William F. "What Were the Cherubim?" The Biblical Archaeologist Reader. Ed. G. E. Wright and D. N. Freedman. New York: Doubleday, 1961, 95-97.
- Baltzer, Klaus. "Considerations Regarding the Office and Calling of the Prophet," Harvard Theological Review 61 (1961) 567-81.
- Behm, Johannes. ἐκχέω, ἐκχύν(ν)ω. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 2. 467-69.
- Behm, Johannes and Würtheim, Ernst. μετανοέω, μετάνοια. *Theological Dictionary of the New Testament.* Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1967, vol. 4. 975-1008.
- Beltz, Walter. Die Adam-Apokalypse aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi: Jüdische Bausteine in gnostischen Systemen. Habilitationsschrift, Humboldt-Universität, Berlin, 1970.
- Betz, Otto. Der Paraklet. Arbeiten zur Geschichte des Spätjudentums und des Urchristentums 2. Leiden: Brill, 1963.
- —— "Was am Anfang Geschah," Abraham Unser Vater, Festschrift für Otto Michel. Ed. O. Betz, M. Hengel and P. Schmidt. Leiden: Brill, 1963, 24-43.
- Bianchi, Ugo, ed. *Le Origini dello Gnosticismo*: Colloquio di Messina 13-18 April 1966. Numen, Supplements 12. Leiden: Brill, 1967.
- Böhlig, Alexander, "Der jüdische und judenchristliche Hintergrund in gnostischen Texten von Nag Hammadi," *Le Origini dello Gnosticismo*: Colloquio di Messina 13-18 April 1966. Ed. U. Bianchi. Numen, Supplements 12. Leiden: Brill, 1967, 109-40.
- ——. "Die Adamapokalypse aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi als Zeugnis jüdischiranischer Gnosis," *Oriens Christianus* 48 (1964) 44-49.
- —. Mysterion und Wahrheit. Arbeiten zur Geschichte des späteren Judentums und des Urchristentums 6. Leiden: Brill, 1968.
- Böhlig, Alexander and Labib, Pahor, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo. Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Sonderband. Halle-Wittenberg: Martin-Luther-Universität, 1963.
- —. Die koptisch-gnostische Schrift ohne Titel aus Codex II von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag, 1962.
- Bousset, Wilhelm. Die Himmelsreise der Seele. 1901; reprint Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1971.
- Bousset, Wilhelm and Gressmann, Hugo. *Die Religion des Judentums.* 4. Aufl. Foreword by E. Lohse. Handbuch zum Neuen Testament 21. Tübingen: Mohr, 1966.
- Bousset, Wilhelm. Hauptprobleme der Gnosis. Forschungen zur Religion und Literatur des Alten und Neuen Testaments 10. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht, 1907.
- Box, George H., tr. The Apocalypse of Abraham. London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, 1919.
- ----. The Testament of Abraham. London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, 1927.
- Broek, R. van den. The Myth of the Phoenix according to Classical and Early Christian Traditions. Tr. I. Seeger. Études Préliminaires aux Religions Orientales dans l'Empire Romaine 24. Leiden: Brill, 1972.

- Brooks, E. W. tr. Joseph and Asenath. London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, 1918.
- Bullard, Roger A., ed. *The Hypostasis of the Archons*. With a contribution by M. Krause. Patristische Texte und Studien 10. Berlin: De Gruyter, 1970.
- Bultmann, Rudolph. Primitive Christianity. Tr. R. H. Fuller. New York: Meridian, 1957.
- ----. Theology of the New Testament. Tr. K. Grobel. 2 vols. New York: Scribner's Sons, 1951-55.
- Burkitt, Francis C. Church and Gnosis. Cambridge: University Press, 1932.
- Casey, Robert P. "Gnosis, Gnosticism and the New Testament," The Background of the New Testament and its Eschatology, in honour of C. H. Dodd. Ed. W. D. Davies and D. Daube. Cambridge: University Press, 1956, 52-80.
- ---. "The Study of Gnosticism," Journal of Theological Studies 36 (1935) 45-60.
- Cerfaux, Lucien. "Influence des Mystères sur le Judaisme Alexandrin avant Philon," Le Muséon 37 (1924) 54-58.
- Charles, Robert H., Tr. The Book of Enoch. 2d ed. Oxford: Clarendon, 1912.
- —... The Greek Versions of the Testament of the Twelve Patriarchs. 1908; reprint Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1966.
- Clapham, Lynn R. Sanchuniathon: The First Two Cycles. Ph.D. Dissertation, Harvard University, 1969.
- Clemens Alexandrinus, *The Excerpta ex Theodoto of Clement of Alexandria*. Ed. and tr. R. P. Casey. Studies and Documents 1. London: Christophers, 1934.
- Opera. Ed. O. Staehlin. 4 vols. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 12, 15, 17, 39. Leipzig: Hinrichs, 1905-36.
- Colpe, Carsten. Die religionsgeschichtliche Schule. Forschungen zur Religion und Literatur des Alten und Neuen Testaments 78. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht, 1961.
- —. ὁ υἰὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1972, vol. 8. 400-77.
- Conybeare, Frederick C., tr. "Testament of Solomon," Jewish Quarterly Review 11 (1898) 1-45.
- Cross, Frank M., Jr. The Ancient Library of Qumran and Modern Biblical Studies. Revised ed. New York: Doubleday, 1961.
- ——. Canaanite Myth and Hebrew Epic; Essays in the History of the Religion of Israel. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1973.
- —. "The Council of Yahweh in Second Isaiah," Journal of Near Eastern Studies 12 (1953) 274-77.
- —. "The Priestly Tabernacle," *The Biblical Archaeologist Reader.* Ed. G.E. Wright and D. N. Freedman. New York: Doubleday, 1961, 201-28.
- Cross, Frank M., Jr. and Freedman, David N. "The Song of Miriam," *Journal of Near Eastern Studies* 14 (1955) 237-50.
- Damascius. Problèmes et Solutions touchant Les Premiers Principes. Trad. A.-Ed. Chaignet. 2 vols. Reprint Bruxelles: Culture et Civilization, 1964.
- Daniélou, Jean. "Review of A. Böhlig and P. Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo," Recherches de Science Religieuse 54 (1966) 285-93.
- Delling, Gerhard. ΰμνος κτλ. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1972, vol. 8. 489-503.
- Dölger, Franz J. "Zur Symbolik des altchristlichen Taufhauses," Antike und Christentum 4 (1934) 153-87.
- Doresse, Jean. The Secret Books of the Egyptian Gnostics. Tr. P. Mairet. New York: Viking, 1960.
- Eliade, Mircea. Mephistopheles and the Androgyne: Studies in Religious Myth and Symbol. Tr. J. M. Cohen. New York: Sheed and Ward, 1965.

- Emerton, J. A. "The Origin of the Son of Man Imagery," Journal of Theological Studies, New Series 9 (1958) 225-42.
- Eusebius. Historia Ecclesiastica. Ed. E. Schwartz and T. Mommsen. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 9.1-3. Leipzig: Hinrichs, 1903-08.
- ——. *Praeparatio Evangelica*. Ed. K. Mras. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 43.1-2. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag, 1954-56.
- Epiphanius. *Panarion*. Ed. K. Holl. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 25 and 31. Leipzig; Hinrichs. 1915 and 1922.
- Fallon, Francis T. "The Law in Philo and Ptolemy: A Note on the Letter to Flora," Vigiliae Christianae 30 (1976) 45-51.
- Faye, Eugène de. Gnostiques et gnosticisme. 2º éd. Paris : Geuthner, 1925.
- Filastrius. *Diversarum Hereseon Liber*. Ed. F. Heylen. Corpus Christianorum, Series Latina 9.207-324. Turnhout: Brepols, 1957.
- Fitzmyer, Joseph A. The Aramaic Inscriptions of Sefire. Rome: The Pontifical Biblical Institute, 1967.
- Förster, Werner. ἀρπάζω. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 1. 472-73.
- ----. Gnosis: A Selection of Gnostic Texts. Tr. R. McL. Wilson. Vol. 1. Oxford: Clarendon, 1972.
 - . σατανᾶς. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1971, vol. 7. 151-63.
- Förster, Werner and Rad, Gerhard von. διάβολος. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 2. 71-81.
- Friedrich, Gerhard. σάλπιγξ κτλ. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1971, vol. 7. 71-88.
- Fuchs, Ernst. ἐκτείνω. *Theological Dictionary of the New Testament*. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 2. 460-63.
- Gibbons, Joseph. A Commentary on the Second Logos of the Great Seth. Ph.D. Dissertation, Yale University, 1972.
- Gifford, Edwin H., ed. and tr. Eusebit Pamphili, Evangelicae Praeparationis. 4 vols. Oxford: University Press, 1903.
- Goodenough, Erwin R. An Introduction to Philo Judaeus. 2^d ed. Oxford: Blackwell, 1962.
- By Light, Light: The Mystic Gospel of Hellenistic Judaism. New Haven: Yale University, 1935.
- Jewish Symbols in the Greco-Roman Period. 10 vols. New York: Pantheon, 1953-69.
- ——. "The Political Philosophy of Hellenistic Kingship," Yale Classical Studies 1 (1928) 55-102.
- Grant, Robert M. Gnosticism and Early Christianity. Revised ed. New York: Harper and Row, 1966.
- Grundmann, Walter. δύναμαι, δύναμις κτλ. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 2. 284-317.
- Guterbock, Hans G. "The Hittite Version of the Hurrian Kumarbi Myths: Oriental Forerunners of Hesiod," *American Journal of Archaeology* 52 (1948) 123-34.
- -----. Kumarbi: Mythen von churritischen Kronos, aus den hethitischen Fragmenten, zusammengestellt, übersetzt und erklärt. Istanbuler Schriften 16. Zürich-New York: Europaverlag, 1946.
- —. "The Song of Ullikummi: Revised Text of the Hittite Version of a Hurrian Myth," Journal of Cuneiform Studies 5 (1951) 135-61 and 6 (1952) 8-42.
- Hanson, Paul D. The Dawn of Apocalyptic. Philadelphia: Fortress. 1975.
- ——. "Jewish Apocalyptic Against its Near Eastern Environment," Revue Biblique 78 (1971) 31-58.
 - "Old Testament Apocalyptic Reexamined," Interpretation 25 (1971) 454-79.

- Harnack, Adolph von. Marcion: Das Evangelium vom fremden Gott. 2. Aufl. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1960.
- Hesiod. The Homeric Hymns and Homerica. Ed. and tr. H.G. Evelyn-White. Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge: Harvard, 1959.
- Hippolytus. Refutatio Omnium Haeresium. Ed. P. Wendland. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 26. Leipzig: Hiprichs, 1916.
- Hofius, Otfried. Der Vorhang vor dem Thron Gottes. Wissenschaftliche Untersuchungen zum Neuen Testament 14. Tübingen: Mohr, 1972.
- Irenaeus. Adversus haereses. Tr. and ed. A. Roberts and J. Donaldson. The Ante-Nicene Fathers I. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1956.
- ——. Libros Quinque Adversus Haereses. Ed. W. W. Harvey 1857. Reprint Ridgewood: Gregg, 1965.
- James, Montague R., tr. *The Biblical Antiquities of Philo*. Prolegomenon by L. H. Feldman. 1917; reprint New York: Ktav, 1971.
- Jonas, Hans. "Delimitations of the Gnostic Phenomenon," Le Origini dello Gnosticismo: Colloquio di Messina 13-18 April 1966. Numen, Supplements 12. Leiden: Brill, 1967, 90-108.
- ----. Gnosis und spätantiker Geist. Bd. 1, 3. Aufl. Forschungen zur Religion und Literatur des Alten und Neuen Testaments 51. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht, 1964.
- —. Gnosis und spätantiker Geist. Bd. 2/1, 2. Aufl. Forschungen zur Religion und Literatur des Alten und Neuen Testaments 63. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck and Ruprecht, 1966.
- ----. The Gnostic Religion. 2d ed. Boston: Beacon, 1963.
- . "Response to G. Quispel," *The Bible in Modern Scholarship*. Ed. J. Philip Hyatt. Nashville: Abingdon, 1965, 279-93.
- Josephus. Works. Tr. H. St. J. Thackeray, R. Marcus, A. Wikgren and L. H. Feldman. 9 vols. Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1950-66.
- Kapelrud, Arvid S. Baal in the Ras Shamra Texts. Copenhagen: Gad, 1952.
- Kappelmacher, Alfred. "Zur Tragödie der Hellenistischen Zeit," Wiener Studien: Zeitschrift für Klassische Philologie 44 (1924-25) 68-86.
- Kasser, Rodolphe. "Brèves remarques sur les caractéristiques dialectales du Codex Gnostique Copte II de Nag Hammadi," Kemi 20 (1970) 49-55.
- ——. "L'Hypostase des Archontes: Propositions pour Quelques Lectures et Reconstitutions Nouvelles," Essays on the Nag Hammadi Texts in honour of Alexander Böhlig. Ed. M. Krause. Leiden: Brill, 1972, 22-35.
- ---. "Textes Gnostiques: Remarques A Propos des Éditions Récentes du Livre Secret de Jean et des Apocalypses de Paul, Jacques, et Adam," *Le Muséon* 78 (1965) 71-98.
- Kippenberg, Hans G. "Versuch einer soziologischen Verortung des antiken Gnostizismus," Numen 17 (1950) 211-31.
- Kisch, Guido, ed. *Pseudo Philo's Liber Antiquitatum Biblicarum*. Publications in Medieval Studies 10. Indiana: Notre Dame, 1961.
- Koester, Helmut and Robinson, James M. Trajectories Through Early Christianity. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1971.
- Krause, Martin. "Zur 'Hypostase der Archonten' in Codex II von Nag Hammadi," Enchoria 2 (1972) 1-20.
- Krause, Martin and Labib, Pahor. Die drei Versionen des Apokryphon des Johannes im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo. Abhandlungen des Deutschen Archäologischen Instituts Kairo, Koptische Reihe, Band 1. Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz, 1962.
- Lambert, Wilfred G. and Walcot, Peter. "A New Babylonian Theogony and Hesiod," Kadmos 4 (1965) 64-72.

- Layton, Bentley. "Critical Prolegomena to an Edition of the Coptic 'Hypostasis of the Archons' (CG II. 4)," Essays on the Nag Hammadi Texts in Honour of Pahor Labib. Nag Hammadi Studies 6. Leiden: Brill, 1975.
- ——. "The Hypostasis of the Archons or 'The Reality of the Rulers'," Harvard Theological Review 67 (1974) 351-426 and 68 (1976) 31-101.
- Lieberman, Saul. Greek in Jewish Palestine. New York: Jewish Theological Seminary, 1942
- —... Hellenism in Jewish Palestine. 2d ed. New York: Jewish Theological Seminary, 1962.
- Lohse, Edward. Die Texte aus Qumran. 2. Aufl. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1971.
- Lueken, Wilhelm. Michael. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck, 1898.
- MacRae, George. Some Elements of Jewish Apocalyptic and Mystical Tradition and their Relation to Gnostic Literature. Ph.D. Dissertation, Cambridge University, 1966.
- —. "The Apocalypse of Adam Reconsidered," The Society of Biblical Literature: One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers. 2 vols. Ed. Lane C. McGaughy. Society of Biblical Literature, 1972, vol. 2. 573-80.
- ---. "The Coptic Gnostic Apocalypse of Adam," Heythrop Journal 6 (1965) 27-35.

 "The Lewish Background of the Gnostic Sophia Myth" Novum Testamentum
- ——. "The Jewish Background of the Gnostic Sophia Myth," Novum Testamentum 12 (1970) 86-101.
- Magne, Jean. La Naissance de Jésus-Christ: L'exaltation de Sabaôth dans Hypostase des Archontes 143, 1-31 et l'exaltation de Jésus dans Philippiens 2, 6-11. Cahiers du Cercle Ernest-Renan, N° 83. Paris: Cercle Ernest-Renan, 1973.
- Maier, Johann. Vom Kultus zur Gnosis. Kairos: Religionswissenschaftliche Studien 1. Salzburg: Müller, 1964.
- Malinine, Michel; Puech, Henri-Charles; Quispel, Gilles; Till, Walter C.; Kasser, Rodolphe; Wilson, Robert McL.; and Zandee, Jan; eds. *Epistula Jacobi Apocrypha: Codex Jung F. F-F. VIIF*. Zürich and Stuttgart: Rascher, 1968.
- Meeks, Wayne. "Moses as God and King," Religions in Antiquity: Essays in Memory of Erwin Ramsdell Goodenough. Ed. J. Neusner. Leiden: Brill, 1968, 354-71.
- ——. The Prophet-King: Moses Traditions and the Johannine Christology. Novum Testamentum, Supplements 14. Leiden: Brill, 1967.
- Meyer, Wilhelm, ed. Vita Adae et Evae. Abhandlungen der philosophisch-philologischen Classe der königlichen Bayerischen Akademie der Wissenschaften 14. Munich: Verlag der königlichen Akademie, 1878, 187-250.
- Millar, William R. Isaiah 24-27 and the Origin of Apocalyptic. Ph.D. Dissertation, Harvard University, 1970.
- Nagel, Peter. Das Wesen der Archonten. Wissenschaftliche Beiträge der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg. Halle-Wittenberg: Martin-Luther-Universität, 1970.
- —. "Grammatische Untersuchungen zu Nag Hammadi Codex II." Die Araber in der alten Welt. Hrsg. F. Altheim and R. Stiehl. Berlin: De Gruyter, 1969. Vol. 2. 393-469
- Nickelsberg, George W. E., Jr. Resurrection. Immortality and Eternal Life in Intertestamental Judaism. Harvard Theological Studies 26. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1972.
- Nock, Arthur D. Essays on Religion and the Ancient World. Ed. Z. Stewart. 2 vols. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1972.
- Oepke, Albrecht. καθίστημι. *Theological Dictionary of the New Testament*. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1965, vol. 3. 444-46.
- Oldenburg, Ulf. The Conflict Between El and Ba'al in Canaanite Religion. Numen, Supplements, Altera Series 3. Leiden: Brill, 1969.

- Orbe, Antonio. "Review of A. Böhlig and P. Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo," Gregorianum 46 (1965) 169-72.
- —. "Spiritus Dei ferebatur super aquas. Exegesis gnóstica de Gen 1:2b," *Gregorianum* 44 (1963) 691-730.
- Origen. Contra Celsum. Tr. H. Chadwick. Revised ed. Cambridge: University Press, 1965.
- Pagels, Elaine. The Johannine Gospel in Gnostic Exegesis: Heracleon's Commentary on John. Society of Biblical Literature Monograph Series 17. Nashville: Abingdon, 1973.
- —. "Gnostic Theology: A Sociological Approach," The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Ninth Annual Meeting, Abstracts. Ed. G. MacRae. Society of Biblical Literature, 1973, 39.
- Pearson, Birger. "Jewish Haggadic Traditions in the Testimony of Truth from Nag Hammadi (CG IX, 3)," Ex Orbe Religionum: Studia Geo Widengren oblata. Ed. J. Bergman, K. Drynjeff and H. Ringgren. Leiden: Brill, 1973, vol. 1. 457-70.
- Perkins, Pheme. "Apocalyptic Schematization in the Apocalypse of Adam and the Gospel of the Egyptians," *The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers.* Ed. Lane C. McGaughy. Society of Biblical Literature, 1972, vol. 2. 591-96.
- Philo Judaeus. Opera Quae Supersunt et Indices. Ed. L. Cohn, P. Wendland, and J. Leisegang. 7 vols. Berlin: Reimer and de Gruyter, 1896-1930.
- ---. Works. Tr. F. H. Colson, G. H. Whitaker, and R. Marcus. Loeb Classical Library. 10 vols. and 2 supplements. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1958-68.
- Philonenko, Marc, ed. Joseph et Aséneth. Studia Post-Biblica 13. Leiden: Brill, 1968.
 ——. "Remarques sur un hymn essénien de caractère gnostique," Semitica 11 (1961) 43-54.
- Plato. Timaeus. Tr. R. G. Bury. Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1966.
- Pliny. Historia Naturalis. Tr. H. Rackham and W. H. S. Jones. 10 vols. Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1938.
- Polotsky, Hans J. "Manichaeismus," Real-Enzyklopädie der classischen Altertumswissenschaft. Ed. A. Pauly, G. Wissowa and W. Kroll. Supplementband 6. Stuttgart: Metzlersche Verlagsbuchhandlung, 1935, 240-71.
- Pope, Marvin H. El in the Ugaritic Texts. Vetus Testamentum, Supplements 2. Leiden: Brill, 1955.
- Puech, Henri-Charles. "Archontiker," Reallexikon für Antike und Christentum. Ed. T. Klauser. Stuttgart: Hiersemann, 1950, vol. 1. 633-43.
- —. "Les nouveaux écrits gnostiques," Coptic Studies in honor of Walter Ewing Crum. Boston: the Byzantine Institute, 1959, 91-154.
- Rad, Gerhard von. "Das judäische Königsritual," Gesammelte Studien zum Alten Testament. Munich: Kaiser, 1958, 205-13.
- Rehm, Bernhard, ed. Die Pseudoklementinen: 2 Rekognitionen. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 51. Berlin: Akademie Verlag, 1965.
- Reitzenstein, Richard. Das iranische Erlösungsmysterium. Bonn: Marcus and Weber's Verlag, 1921.
- Rengstorf, Karl H. ἀποστέλλω. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 1. 398-406.
- —. ὑπηρέτης, ὑπηρετέω. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1962, vol. 8. 530-44.
- Roberts, Alexander and Donaldson, James, eds. *The Ante-Nicene Fathers*. 10 vols. 1885; reprint Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1956.

- Rudolph, Kurt. "Gnosis und Gnostizismus, ein Forschungsbericht," *Theologische Rundschau* 34 (1969) 121-75, 181-231, 353-61; 36 (1971) 1-61, 89-124; 37 (1972) 289-360; 38 (1973) 1-25.
- ——. "Randerscheinungen des Judentums und das Problem der Entstehung des Gnostizismus," Kairos 9 (1967) 118-22.
- —. "Review of A. Böhlig and P. Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo," Theologische Literaturzeitung 90 (1965) 359-62.
- Sagnard, François M.-M. Extraits de Théodote. Sources Chrétiennes 23. Paris: Cerf, 1948.
- —... La gnose valentinienne et le témoignage de Saint Irénée. Études de Philosophie Médiévale 36. Paris : Librairie Philosophique J. Vrin, 1947.
- Schenke, Hans-Martin. "Das Problem der Beziehung zwischen Judentum und Gnosis," Kairos 7 (1965) 124-33.
- ---. "'Das Wesen der Archonten': Eine gnostische Originalschrift aus dem Funde von Nag Hammadi," *Theologische Literaturzeitung* 83 (1958) 661-70.
- ---. "Hauptprobleme der Gnosis," Kairos 7 (1965) 114-23.
- ---. "Review of A. Böhlig and P. Labib, Koptisch-gnostische Apokalypsen aus Codex V von Nag Hammadi im Koptischen Museum zu Alt-Kairo," Orientalistische Literaturzeitung 61 (1966) 23-34.
- ---. "Review of Bullard and Nagel," Orientalistische Literaturzeitung, forthcoming.
- —. "Vom Ursprung der Welt. Eine titellose gnostische Abhandlung aus dem Funde von Nag Hammadi," *Theologische Literaturzeitung* 84 (1959) 243-56.
- Schmidt, Carl. Gnostische Schriften in koptischer Sprache aus dem Codex Brucianus. Texte und Untersuchungen 8. Leipzig: Hinrichs, 1892.
- ----. Pistis Sophia. Coptica, Consilio et Impensis Instituti Rask-Oerstediani Edita 2. Hauniae: Gyldendal, Nordisk forlag, 1925.
- Schmidt, Carl and Till, Walter C., eds. Koptisch-gnostische Schriften. 3 Aufl. Griechischen Christlichen Schriftsteller 45. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag, 1962.
- Schmidt, Francis. Le Testament d'Abraham. 2 vols. Dissertation Strasbourg, 1971.
- Schmitz, Otto. θρόνος. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1965, vol. 3. 160-67.
- Schoedel, William R. "Scripture and the Seventy-Two Heavens of the First Apocalypse of James," *Novum Testamentum* 12 (1970) 118-29.
- Scholem, Gershom G. Jewish Gnosticism, Merkabah Mysticism, and Talmudic Tradition. 2d ed. New York: Jewish Theological Seminary, 1965.
- —. "Kabbalah," Encyclopedia Judaica. Ed. C. Roth. Jerusalem: Keter, 1971, vol. 10. 489-653.
- Major Trends in Jewish Mysticism. 3d ed. New York: Schocken, 1967.
- Schottroff, Luise. "Animae naturaliter salvandae: Zum Problem der himmlischen Herkunft des Gnostikers," *Christentum und Gnosis*. Ed. W. Eltester. Beiheft zur Zeitschrift für die Neutestamentliche Wissenschaft 37. Berlin: Topelmann, 1969.
- Schrenk, Gottlob. ἀδικία. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1964, vol. 1. 153-57.
- Schultz, J. P. "Angelic Opposition to the Ascension of Moses and the Revelation of the Law," *Jewish Quarterly Review* 61 (1971) 282-308.
- Sextus Empiricus. Opera. Ed. and tr. R.G. Bury. Loeb Classical Library. New York: Putnam's Sons and Cambridge: Harvard University, 1933-49.
- Snell, Bruno. "Ezechiels Moses-Drama," Antike und Abendland 13 (1967) 150-64.
- Stone, Michael E., tr. *The Testament of Abraham*. Society of Biblical Literature. Texts and Translations 2. New York: Society of Biblical Literature, 1972.

- Strugnell, John. "The Angelic Liturgy at Qumran, 4 Q Serek Šīrôt 'ôlat Haššabat," International Organization for the Study of the Old Testament, 3d Congress, Oxford 1959, Congress Volume. Vetus Testamentum, Supplements 7. Leiden: Brill, 1960.
- ---. "Notes on the Text and Metre of Ezekiel the Tragedian's 'Exagoge'," Harvard Theological Review 60 (1967) 449-57.
- Tacitus. Annals. Tr. J. Jackson. 3 vols. Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1925.
- Tardieu, Michel. Trois Mythes Gnostiques: Adam, Éros et les animaux d'Égypte dans un écrit de Nag Hammadi (II, 5). Études Augustiniennes. Paris: Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, 1974.
- Tcherikover, Victor A. *Hellenistic Civilization and the Jews*. Tr. S. Applebaum. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1966
- Tertullian. Opera. Ed. A. Kroymann. Pars III. Corpus Scriptorum Ecclesiasticorum Latinorum 47. Vienna: Tempsky, 1906.
- Theodoret. Haereticarum Fabularum Compendum. Ed. J.-P. Migne, Patrologia Graeca. Paris: Migne, 1864, vol. 83. 335-556.
- Till, Walter C., ed. Die gnostischen Schriften des Koptischen Papyrus Berolinensis 8502. Texte und Untersuchungen 60. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag, 1955.
- Traub, Helmut and Rad, Gerhard von. οὐρανός. Theological Dictionary of the New Testament. Tr. G. W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1967, vol. 5. 497-536.
- Völker, Walther, ed. Quellen zur Geschichte der christlichen Gnosis. Sammlung Ausgewählter Kirchen- und Dogmengeschichtlicher Quellenschriften 5. Tübingen: Mohr, 1932.
- Widengren, Geo. The Ascension of the Apostle and the Heavenly Book. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis 7. Uppsala: Lundequistska Bokhandeln, 1950.
- Wilckens, Ulrich and Fohrer, Georg. σοφία. *Theological Dictionary of the New Testament*. Tr. G.W. Bromiley. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans. 1971, vol. 7. 465-528.
- Wilson, Robert McL. Gnosis and the New Testament. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1968.
- ----. The Gnostic Problem. London: Mowbray, 1958.
- Wisse, Frederik. "The Nag Hammadi Library and the Heresiologists," Vigiliae Christianae 25 (1971) 205-23.
- —--. "The Sethians and the Nag Hammadi Library," The Society of Biblical Literature, One Hundred Eighth Annual Meeting, Seminar Papers. Ed. Lane C. McGaughy. Society of Biblical Literature, 1972, vol. 1. 601-07.
- Wolfson, Harry A. Philo. 2 vols. Cambridge: Harvard University, 1947.
- Wright, George E. "The Lawsuit of God: A Form Critical Study of Deuteronomy 32," *Israel's Prophetic Heritage: Essays in Honor of James Muilenberg.* Ed. B. W. Anderson and W. Harrelson. New York: Harper, 1962, 26-67.
- Yadin, Yigael. The Scrolls of the War of the Sons of Light. Tr. B. and C. Rabin. Oxford: University Press, 1962.

CITATIONS

O.T.

_			
Gen		18:15-22	52
1	29, 30	25:1	36
1:2	76, 97, 98, 99, 115	30:15	64
1:3f	75	31	49
1:26	75	32	42
2:7	71	32:39	26
2:17	18	33:34	53
3:5	116	33	49
3:15	18	33:5	47
3:20	61, 76	34:10	52
3:22	18, 94	. a.	
4:21	60	Judg	67
6:1-4	27	5:14	57
9:18f	72	2 Sam	
10f	72	3:10	48
10	103		109
20:12	36	15:10	
22:12	95	2 2:12	111
37:9f	47	1 Kgs	
37:9	47	2:4	48
		22:10	102
Exod		22:19	62, 102
4:22	106	22.17	02, 102
7:1	50	2 Kgs	
8:17	95	17:16	57
8:19	95	21:3	57
15	43, 54	21:5	57
15:17	59, 102	23:4f	57
19-20	46		
20:4	55	1 Chr	
20:5	26	28:5	47
24	46	28:18	57
24:15ff	111	29:23	47
26:33	55	2.01	
31:18	95	2 Chr	
	_	3:14	55
Num		18:7	102
4:23	60	18:18	62, 102
***25		Inh	
Deut		Job 21:12	
4:35	26	21;12	
9:10	95	Ps	
10:9	37	2	44
10.7	31	٠ 4	44

INDICES	145

2:6	41	44:6	26
2:7	44, 45	45:5f	26
18:11	111	45:18	26
33:6	57	45:21 f	26
47	44, 56	46:9	26
47:2-1 0	44		
47:5	109	Jer	
46(47):6	54	25:11	103
47:8	59	29:10	103
47:8f	64		
51(52):5	65	Lam	
56(57):8	60	2:11	95
58(59):6	5 6		
79(80):14	56	Ezek	
80(81):2	60	l	34, 38, 58, 102, 103
84:10-11	131	1:5-11	105
93	44	1:3-11	59
95-99	44	1:10	59
96:13	64	4:4	62
102(103):19	102	10	34, 38, 58, 102, 103
104:2	111	10:14	59
110	44	28	27
118(119):69	65	43:3	38, 57
.			,
Prov 1:20	37	Dan	
7:4	97	7	32, 46, 47 ($2\times$), 51, 56, 133
8:3	37	7:3-8	44
8:2 2 -31	17	7:9ff	102
8:35	64	7:9-12	44
0.33	04	7:10	106
Eccl		7:13-14	45
10:2	62	7:14	64
10.2	02	7:27	44
sa		8:10	57
5a 6	34, 38, 102	9:24ff	103
6:2	105	10:13	34
6:6	105	10:21	34
8:21	55	12:1	34
9:5	56	12:4	49
9:3 14:12-20	27	12:9	49
	131		
19:12	44	Joel	
24:1-13	44	2:27	26
24:18c-23		2:28	95
25:6-8	44	2.20	73
25:10-12	44	Mio	
26:1-8	44	Mic	
26:1-27:1	44	6:2	
34:4	57		
4 0 : 2 6	47, 56, 60	Zech	
43:10f	26	9	32, 44

JUDAISM

Adam and Eve	14:10 59, 102
12-17 34	14:15
15:2f 27	14:16 59, 102
25:3 62	14:18 39, 102
48:1 94	14:22 100, 106
50:1 72	14:24-16:4
	17-36 39
Apoc. Moses	19:1 61
22 60	20:5 34, 35, 104
22:3 57	20:7
33:3 105	21:7-10 28
35 54	39:12f 100
37 38	40:1 60
37:4 94	42:3 64
	48:7 65
Apoc. Abr.	60:1
10 35	61:10 59, 105
14 27	69-71 35, 40, 133
15 39, 41	71 56
17-18 39, 62	71:7 59, 105
18 58, 103	71:8 106
19-29 39	71:15-17 45
21-39 41	71:16 64
21-29 40, 63	88:1-2
21-22 39, 62	88:1 28
22 40	88:3
27 39	89 103
	89:61 104
2 Bar	90:24ff 28
21:6 60	91:5ff 65
59:11 60	104:9-13 49
	104:11-13 61
3 Bar	
1:8 57	2 Enoch
4:8 26	3:2-19:6
	3 ff 47
B. R.	7:3
8:1 92	12:1
21:3 92	18:3
24:2 92	20-22 35, 39, 61
	21:1 73
1 Enoch	22 40
6:2 27	22:2 102 (2×)
9:6f 27	22:4-12
10:4 28	22:6 45
10:9 98	24-33 39, 61
14 47, 61	29:3
14-37 61	29:4f 27
14ff 47	33:3-10
14:5 28	36:1-2
14:8 38, 58	40:1-8

52:1	56, 73	Odes Sol.	
54:1	61	19	132
68:1-3	61	17	132
		Philo,	
3 Enoch		De Abr. 57-59	106
12:5	35	De Abr. 76	95
40:3	95	De Abr. 157	95
48c:7	35	De geter, mundi 17f	57
48D:1	35	De conf. 30f	50
48D:102	35	De ebrietate 56-64	36
		De abrietate 61	36, 37
4 Ezra		De fuga et invent. 192f	97
4:51 ff	65	De gig. 47ff	50
5:10	64	De mutat. nom. 87	60
6:3	60	De opif. mundi 32-34	98
6:23	109	De opif. mundi 71	95
6:58	106	De poster. C. 28	50
8:21	100	De voster. C. 92	60, 106
		De sac. 8f	50
Hag.		De vita Mosis 1.4	53, 85
12a	92	De vita Mosis 1.148-49	51
13b	103	De vita Mosis 1.155-56	51
		De vita Mosis 1.158f	51
Jos. and Asen.		De vita Mosis 1.158 35,	41, 49, 56
4:9	94	De vita Mosis 1.190	51
14:3-15:6	93	De vita Mosis 1.212f	51
16:7	94	De vita Mosis 2.7	52
16:10	94	De vita Mosis 2.11	53
		De vita Mosis 2.46-47	52
Josephus, Ant.		De vita Mosis 2.74	55
1.68-70	72	De vita Mosis 2.188-91	53
3.180-81	55	De vita Mosis 2.188ff	85
War		De vita Mosis 2.214-18	54
5.212-14	55	De vita Mosis 2.192	53
5.219	55	De vita Mosis 2.246ff	53
T I.		Leg. all. 2.51	37
Jub	106	Leg. Gaj. 4	106
2:20	106	Q. Exod. 2	50
5:5f	28	Q. Exod. 40	50
7-8	72 72	Q. Exod. 90f	55
8:3	28	Quis rer. div. heres sit 209	62
10:7-9 15:31	104	Quod det. pot. insid. soleat 85	55
	94, 95	Quod det. pot. insid. soleat 161-	
25:11	94, 93	Quod deus immut. 23	50
1 Macc		Quod Deus immut 158	60
	41		
10:22	41	P.R.E.	
Mart. Isa		11	92
Mart. Isa 1:8	26		
1:8 1:11f	26 26	Ps-Philo, LAB	
	26 26	60:2f	28
2:1ff	20	UU. ZI	20

Qumran		A 11	40
CD 12:6	94	A 12-14	40, 41
1 QM 2:13-14	72	A 12-13	40
1 QM 17:6-8	34	A 12	55, 61, 63, 65
1 QM 17:7	35		
1 QS 3:13-25	34, 92	T. Abr. Rec.	
1 QS 4:2	92	B 8-12	40
1 QS 11:2	94	B 8	40
1 QSa 2:18	94	B 11	40
1 QSa 2:20f	94		
1 QSb 4:25	5 6	T. Dan.	
4 Q S1 40.24.3	58	6:1-4	34
6.1 0		6:2	104
Sib. Or.	77		
1.304	73 73	T. Levi	
1.316	73	2:8-3:10	39
2.239	13	2f	54
Sir		2:7	39
24:1-7	17	3:3	57
24:7	100	3:5	6 0
36:11	106	5:1	39
39:28	95	5:2	39
49:8	57	8:2-19	39
13.10		14:7	39
TB San.		16:1	39
38b	95	17-18	39
Targ. Job		T. Napht. (Hebrew)	
26:9	111	8:4-5	103
		9:1	103
Targ. Ps-Jon		9:2	103
on Gen 3:6	26	9:4	103
on Gen 5:24	45		
on Gen 11:8	103	T. Sol.	
		24	100
T Abr., Rec.			
A 7	92	Wis	
A 9	57	1:6f	30
A 10	40, 57, 61	4:11	38 (2 ×)
A 11-14	40	7: 2 2-24	30
A 11-12	40 (2×)	8:2ff	17
	N	.Т.	
Matt.		25:31	107
8:3	94	25:33-46	66
9:17	95	25:46	64
18:10	118	26:30	37
19:28	107		
25:21	41 (2×)	Mark	
25:31 ff	` 6 6	7:33	95

14:26	37	Phil	
14:61 f	66	2:6-11	8, 66
14:62	61	2:6-10	20
		2:9	42, 56, 67, 96
Luke		2:11	67
11:20	95		
		Col	
John		1:15-20	8
1:4	94	1:15ff	66
1:9	94	3:1	56, 66, 67
3:13	94	3:2	56
3:19	94	1	
7:18	64	1 Thess	
8:12	94	4:17	38
8:23	56 (2×)	.,,,,	
8:26	56	2 Thess	
8:28	67	2:10	64
12:32	66	2.10	04
20:17	67	1 Ti	
20:25	95	1 Tim 3:16	67
20:27	95	3.10	07
A		Tit	
Acts	•	1:5	41
2:32-46 2:33 f	8	3:6	95
	66, 67		
2:34 16:25	61, 67 37	11-h	
10.23	37	Heb 1:3	42
		2:12	37
Rom		6:19f	55
3:5	64	9:1-14	55
8:29	106	9:5	59
8:34	66 57	10:19f	55
8:38	37	11:12	60
1 Cor		2	
15:23ff	66	1 Pet	
15:24	57	3:22	57
2 Cor		Rev	
11:14 f	100	4:1ff	66
12:2ff	66	4:1	40
12:2	38	4:2-11	40
12:4	38	4:6f	59
		4:7	59, 103
Eph		5:1-22:7	40
1:18-21	8	5:8	60
1:20f	57	5:11	106
1:20	66	8:2	100
1:22	42	12:5	38
4:7-16	8	12:7	99
6:12	4	14:2	60

CHRISTIAN WRITINGS

Adamantius, Dial.		5.19-22 68
1.1-3	84	6.29-36
		6.31
Asc. Isa		6.34
2:1	26	6.35
4:1-8	27	6.36 86, 111
7:2f	40	7.26 86
10:1-3	40	7.38 84
10:7-11:36	40	
		Iren., Adv. haer.
Clem. Alex., Strom.		1.1-8 85
1.23.155	46	1.1 109
3.3.12	84	1.2
5.14.123-24	47	1.3
5 .		1.5 86, 111, 112, 116, 117
Damascus, De princ.	2.	1.6 87, 108, 110, 113, 117, 118, 119
125.3	31	1.7 85, 86 (3 ×), 108, 111, 119
Eninh Dan		1.17 109
Epiph., <i>Pan</i> . 24	122	1.24
25-26	81	1.26
26	5, 15, 88	1.27
26.10	107	1.29 30, 68
31	117	1.30 5, 10, 26, 69, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77,
33.3	85	79, 82, 87, 107
33.4	85	2.35
33.5-6	85	3.4 83
39	68	
40	5, 82, 83	Justin, Apol.
41	84	1.26 83
45	83	1.58 83
P. L. etc.		
Euseb., Hist. eccl.	84	Origen, C. Cel.
5.13.2-7	84	1.45
D E		2.28 77
P.E. 1,10	20. 20	4.2
9. 29	29, 30 35, 41, 46	5.45 80
9.29.8	48	6.31 80
9.29.16	48	6.39
13.12.1	48	8.68
13.13.12.5	47	
		PsClem., Rec.
Filastrius, Diversarum hereseon		
liber 44	84	2.42
Hipp., Ref.		PsJustin,
5.6	73	Cohortatio ad Graecos
5.8.2	79	15 46
5.8.8	79	De Monarchia
5.8.30	79	2 46

Tertullian, Adv. Marc.	i	Theodoret, Haereticarum fabularu	m
1.2	83	compendium	
3.6	84	1.14	73
4.6	84		
4.33	84		
	GNOSTIC	WRITINGS	
ApocAd		ApocAd	
64.6-12	71	78.15	71
64.7	71	81.16	71
64.12f	71	82.4-83.4	7 0
64.13f	71	82.21	71
64.17	71	83.5f	7 0
64.20-30	71	83.13	71
64.20f	71	83.21	71
65.13	71	84.1-3	71
65.17f	71	84.7 f	70
65.31 f	71	84.9 f	71
66.14f	71	85.4f	71
66.17-21	71	85.5f	72
66.20f	71	85.7-11	72
66.21-23	71	85.8-13	72
66.25f	71	85.15	71
66.28	71	85.19-31	73
69.2-17	71	85.24	71
69.4	71		
69.7	71	ApocryJas	
70.6	71	3.25-27	79
70.6-15	71	10.1-5	79
70.16	71		
71.16	71	ApocryJn BG	
72.14	71	22.18	79
72.15-25	72	39.10-19	21, 100
72.25	71, 72	41.12-15	78
73.9	71, 72	44.19-45.10	30
73.15-20	72	44.19 ff	97
74.3-21	72	62.12ff	113
74.3 f	71	02.1211	113
74.3	71	ApocryJn CG II, I	
74.7	71 (2×)		124
74.17-21	72	10(58).14-19	124 124
74.26 f	71	10(58).33 f	
76.8-27	72	13.13-21 24/72) 20ff	30 113
76.15-27	71	24(72).20ff	113
76.22	71		
77.4	71	ApocryJn CG III, /	
77.7-15	71	16.8-13	21, 100
77.16-18	7 0		
77.17f	70	ApocryJn CG IV, I	
77.19	70	20.29-21.8	30

DialSav	1	55.7f	125
138.11-15	79	55.15-56.13	122
		56.4-13	122
Eug CG III,3		59.19-60.12	122
82.5-6	17	59.22-26	122
		60.13-61.28	122
Exc. Theod.		62.26-64.1	126 (2×)
23	108	63.33ff	126
33-34	112	64.1-6	126
34	119	64.18	126
35	118	67.19-68.16	122
37-38	87	69.20-22	122
38	108	69.21 f	125
41	118		
43	118	Heracleon, Frag.	
50-51	117	13	107
	, 117	15	117
5 9	108	20	87, 107
62	108	40	78
	, 119	44	117
64	118		
		1 Jeu	
GEgypt III, 2		3f	127
57.13f	124		
61.1ff 111,	, 119	2 Jeu	
0		43	127
GEgypt IV, 2		48	127
72.10ff 111,	, 119	50	127
G. Mary BG		NatArch	
8.22-9.4	121	86(134).21	76
		86(134).22	18
GTh		86(134).23-24	4
Saying 2	79	86(134).25ff	3
Saying 81	79	86(134).26	4
		86(134).27-31	76
GrPow	70	87(135).1	18
		87(135).2	18
GrSeth		87(135).6-8	33
49.10-54.14 122,	, 125	87(135).7-8	17, 91
49.26 f	122	87(135).7	97
50.3f	126	87(135).12	18
51.11-15	125	87(135).14	18
52.20f	125	87(135).20	18
52.17-25	122	87(135).23-88	
52.20	124	(136).16	117
52.21	125	88(136).18	18
53.30-54.1	126	88(136).28-30	18
	, 125	89(137).3-11	71 (2×)
54.27-33	125	89(137).11-22	71
	, 123	89(137).29	95
54.34	125	90(138).1	18
55.2	125	90(138).6-10	116

NatArch	ĺ	NatArch	
90(138).10	18	95(143).10-15	36
91(139).31	71	95(143).10-13	65, 76, 90
92(140).3-18	15	95(143).11-13	31
92(140).4-21	76	95(143).11 ff	28, 57
92(140).4-8	76	95(143).11	26
92(140).8-14	76	95(143).13-96(144).3	7
92(140).14	4, 25	95(143).13-18	10, 11, 26
92(140).18	4	95(143).13-15	77
92(140).19-21	76	95(143).13ff	7
92(140).23	18	95(143).14f	17
92(140).32ff	77	95(143).15-18	91
93(141).1	64	95(143).15f	19
93(141).2-3	25	95(143).16f	97
93(141).4	65	95(143).16	95
93(141).6-10	25	95(143).17	90, 97
93(141).7	64	95(143).18	91, 125
93(141).11	65	95(143).19-25	10, 11, 38, 96
93(141).13	4	95(143).19-23	76
93(141).18	65	95(143).19-22	77
93(141).19	25	95(143).19ff	96, 99
93(141).21-22	32	95(143).19f	2 0
93(141).29	18	95(143).19	99
93(141).32ff	25	95(143).20ff	34
94(142).4-95(143).11	31	95(143).22-24	20
94(142).4-12	18	95(143).22f	96
94(142).4ff	18, 25	95(143).23-25	35
94(142).5-7	7	95(143).26-28	10, 12, 57, 102
94(142).5-6	17	95(143).28-31	12, 59
94(142).5	18, 30, 61	95(143).28	35, 36
94(142).6-7	32	95(143).29-30	22
94(142).8-10	116	95(143).30f	109
94(142).9-12	55	95(143).31-34 10.	, 13, 21, 22, 23, 60,
94(142).10ff	7	05/142\215	76, 77
94(142).12-18	37	95(143).31 ff	125
94(142).21-26	76	95(143).32ff	107
94(142).21 ff	7, 27, 76	95(143).34-96(144).3	10, 13, 62
94(142).23-33	91	95(143).35f	97
94(142).23 ff	25, 90	96(144).3ff	25
94(142).25f	76	96(144).3	25 76
94(142).25	26	96(144).4-10	56
94(142).29ff	94	96(144).10-11	77
94(142).30-34	18	96(144).11-12	
94(142).33	18	96(144).15	65
94(142).34ff	25	96(144).17 ff	25 18
95(143).1-4	76	96(144).18f	
95(143).2-3	26	96(144).19-20	32, 77
95(143).2ff	19	96(144).19	65 79
95(143).3	26	96(144).21-22	18
95(143).4ff	27	96(144).22	77
95(143).5-8 05(143).76	76 76	96(144).25-27	
95(143).7f	76	96(144).33-97(145).21	
95(143).7	71	96(144).33-97(145).4	77

N A I			
NatArch	70	OnOrgWld	17
97(145).2-5	79 42	103(151).33 f	17
97(145).4-5		103(151).35	19, 95
97(145).5-21	119	104(152).1	22
97(145).24ff	5	104(152).1-3	19, 22
0-0-01/14		104(152).2-3	17
OnOrgWld		104(152).2-11	115
94(146).28-99(147).1	7	104(152).3-10	20
95(153).33f	116	104(152).5f	19
96(144).21 f	78	104(152).5	125
96(144).22-26	78	104(152).6-31	10, 11, 95
97(145).24-29	121	104(152).7	100
97(145).24ff	17, 89	104(152).9 f	56
98(146).13-16	7	104(152).10	19
98(146).13-14	17, 91	104(152).15f	125
98(146).14	23	104(152).17-21	20
98(146).22f	116	104(152).19-21	23
98(146).23-27	17, 90	104(152).19f	22
98(146).23-26	106, 120	104(152).20f	78, 120
98(146).23 ff	95	104(152).22-26	21
98(146).26ff	89	104(152).23	102, 119
99(147).2	17	104(152).26	7
99(147).17-22	7	104(152).26-27	100
100(148).1-10	7	104(152).26-31	10, 13, 23
100(148).29-101(149).9	97	104(152).27	91
100(148).29-34	7	104(152).28-31	21
101(149).21 ff	26	104(152).29f	99
101(149).23	19, 91	104(152).31-105(153).16	10, 12, 101
101(149).24-102(150).2	76	104(152).31 ff	101
101(149).24	91	104(152).31	21
101(149).30	90	104(152).32	102, 109
102(150).10f	16	105(153).1	109
102(150).11 ff	19, 91	105(153).3f	125
102(150).23	22	105(153).10-16	20
102(150).24	16 91	105(153).12	102
102(150).26		105(153).16-106(154).4	12, 104
103(151).5	22	105(153).16-20	102
103(151).8	22	105(153).17	109
103(151).11-13	7	105(153).18f	125
103(151).15-32	91	105(153).19	22
103(151).15-28	17, 115	105(153).20	109
103(151).19-28	18, 89 90, 92	105(153).20-21	121
103(151).20-24		105(153).20-23	21
103(151).21 ff	90	105(153).20-27	108
103(151).21	91	105(153).22-23	121
103(151).23	91	105(153).24	121
103(151).24	97	105(153).25-33	22
103(151).25	19, 110	105(153).26	121
103(151).28-32	89, 91	105(153).26-31	114
103(151).30 103(151).32-106(154).19	115	105(153).31	22
. , , , , ,	7	106(154).1	22
103(151).32-106(154).19	89	106(154).2	22
103(151).32-104(152).6	10, 11, 90	106(154).3-11	10, 13, 23, 11 0

OnOrgWld	ı	OnOrgWld	
106(154).3f	102 (2×)	117(165).28	95
106(154).6-9	101	118(166).34-119(167).6
106(154).9	119	119(167).2-4	18
106(154).9-11	21, 100	119(167).12-15	19, 120
106(154).10f	19	120(168).26-29	18, 90
106(154),11-19	10, 13, 23, 112	120(168).29-35	120
106(154).11-12	121	120(168).33f	22
106(154).11ff	107, 125	120(168).34	95
106(154).12f	114	121(169).26f	19, 110
106(154).14	97	122(170).6-16	94, 120
106(154).16-18	121	122(170).6-9	19, 78, 91, 94, 99, 109,
106(154).19-27	76, 78, 100	•	117, 118, 120
106(154).19ff	89	122(170).6-8	79
106(154).19	90	122(170).6	19, 110
106(154).24ff	120	122(170).7f	19, 110
107(155).14-17	100	122(170).9	113
107(155).17	115	122(170).22f	115
107(155).33	95	122(170).33	19, 110
107(155).35f	95	123(171).7	22
107(155).36ff	92	123(171).19	19, 110
108(156).1 f	7	123(171).30	19, 110
108(156).2ff	89	124(172).5-125(1	73).3
108(156).2-22	19, 91	124(172).5-13	106
110(158).2-13	23	124(172).9-11	119
110(158).13	19, 110	124(172).12-15	118
110(158).24-29	120	124(172).12 f	118
110(158).28	95	124(172).20	95 (2×)
111(159).2ff	23	124(172).25-35	121
111(159).29-112(160).1	19, 89	124(172).25ff	121
112(160).10-22 19,	78, 89, 91, 99,	124(172).26 f	119
	116, 120	124(172).32ff	121
112(160), 10-14	106	124(172).33f	119
112(160).12	117	124(172).33	22
113(161).7-9	120	125(173).3-12	79
113(161).12f	115, 117, 125	125(173).3f	118
114(162).14-24	120	125(173).4f	116
114(162).14ff	19	125(173).5-12	119
114(162).15f	117	125(173).13	95
114(162).16f	115	125(173).14-19	22
114(162).16	117, 121	125(173).29	95
114(162).17	22	125(173).32f	119
114(162).24	19, 110	125(173).32	19, 110
115(163).1	117	126(174).35ff	95
115(163).10f	117	127(175).1-5	116
115(163).13f	117		
115(163).23	22	127(175).4-14	79
115(163),30-116(164).8		127(175).4f	19
115(163).34	117	127(175).4 127(175).5-10	119
117(165).11	19, 110	127(175).5-10 127(175).5ff	119
117(165).24-26 117(165).28-118(166).2	120	127(175).511	19 119
117(165),28-118(166),2	109 19, 120	127(175).7	119
117(103).28-30	17, 120	12/(1/3).10-13	119

ParaShem		Ptolemy, Letter to Flora	
CG VII, I	68	3.5	113
		3.7	113
Pistis Sophia		7.5	113
1	35		
7	35	SIC DC	
8	131	SJC BG	70
18	131, 132 (2×)	92.4-7	79
27	131	92.10-11	79
33	132	103.7-9	17
36	132	108.11-15	79
38	132	123.11 ff	108
43	128, 132		
51-52	128	TestTr	
63	131 (2×)	29.13-15	121
86	111, 130, 131	45.23-25	121
135	132 (2×)		
136	128, 129 (2×)	ThC	
137	128, 129	ThCont	70
139	128, 129 (2×)	145.14	79
140	129		
144	129	TriProt	
146	128, 129 (2×)	41.11ff	78
147	129, 130	43.15-17	78

GRECO-ROMAN WRITINGS

Cicero, De divinatione		Pliny, <i>Historia naturalis</i> 10.4-5	
1.44	47	10.4-5	48
Hesiod, Theog.		Sextus Empiricus, Adv. astrol.	
713-35	31	29	129
850-68	31		
		Tacitus, Annals 6.28	
Plato, Timaeus		6.28	48
49A	36		
52D	36		

MODERN AUTHORS

Albright, W. F. 58	Betz, O. 30, 34, 92 Bianchi, U. 1
Anderson, B. W. 42	Bianchi, U. 1
Baltzer, K. 42	Billerbeck, P. 54
Bauer, W. 41, 57	Böhlig, A. 3, 5, 6, 7, 11, 15, 16, 61, 69,
Behm, J. 36, 95	70, 79, 89, 97, 106, 115, 118, 120
Beltz, W. 70, 72	Bonner, C. 59
Bergman, J. 61	Bousset, W. 1, 26, 27, 29, 45, 73, 80

Box, G.H. 35, 39, 40, 58, 63, 93 Henrichs, A. 59 van den Brock, R. 48 Heylen, F. 8 Brooks, E.W. 93 Holl, K. 81, 82, 83, 84, 107, 117 Bullard, R.A. 3, 4, 5, 7, 15, 26, 28, 31, Jackson, J. 48 41, 55, 73, 76, 77 James, M.R. 28 Jonas, H. 1, 5, 6, 32, 37, 85, 91 Burkitt, F.C. 1 Kapelrud, A. 58 Bury, R.G. 36, 129 Casey, R. P. 108, 112, 117, 118, 119 Kappelmacher, A. 47 Kasser, R. 3, 4, 70 Cerfaux, L. 46 Chadwick, H. 77, 80 King, C. W. 59 Kippenberg, H. G. 80 Chaignet, A.-Ed. 31 Charles, R. H. 27, 28, 34, 39, 45, 60, 62, Kisch, G. 28 64, 95, 98, 102, 103, 104, 105 Koester, H. 25 Krause, M. 3, 4, 5, 113 Clapham, L. R. 27, 29, 30, 31 Cohen, J. M. 32 Kroll, J. 55 Cohn, L. 37, 55, 62, 95, 97, 98 Kroymann, A. 83, 84 Colpe, C. 32, 44 Labib, P. 3, 5, 69, 70, 113 Colson, F. H. 37, 50 Lambert, W. G. 29, 31 Cross, F. M. 29, 32, 34, 35, 42, 43, 55, Layton, B. 3, 4, 5, 15, 37, 38, 57, 65, 57, 58 Crum, W. E. 4, 38, 95, 106, 125 Leisegang, H. 97 Liddell, H. 57 Cumont, F. 55 Lohse, E. 94 Daniélou, J. 70 Lueken, W. 34, 35 DeFaye, E. 1 MacRae, G. 1, 6, 55, 70, 73, 111, 113 Delling, G. 37 Magne, J. 8 Dodd, C. H. 73 Maier, J. 115 Doelger, F.J. 55 Marmorstein, A. 113, 114 Doresse, J. 5, 15 Drynjeff, K. 61 McGaughy, L.C. 68, 69 Meeks, W. 46, 47, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53 Eliade, M. 32 Meyer, W. 27, 62 Eltester, W. 70 Emerton, J. A. 32, 44 Michel, O. 30 Millar, W. 44 Evelyn-White, H.G. 31 Fallon, F. 85 Mommsen, T. 84 Mowinckel, S. 63, 64 Fitzmyer, J. A. 29 Mras, K. 46, 48 Förster, W. 27, 38, 79, 107, 108, 111 Freedman, D. N. 43, 55, 58 Muilenberg, J. 42 Nagel, P. 3, 11, 55 Friedrich, G. 109 Fuchs, E. 94 Neusner, J. 49 Nickelsberg, G.W.E. 42 Gibbons, J. 122, 123, 124 125, 126 Nock, A. D. 1, 53 Gifford, E.H. 46, 48 Oldenburg, H. 58 Ginzberg, L. 92 Orbe, A. 70, 97 Goldschmidt, L. 95 Odeberg, H. 35 Goodenough, E. R. 47, 49, 50, 52, 59 Pagels, E. 87, 107, 119 Grant, R. M. 1 Gressmann, H. 26 Pearson, B. 61 Perkins, P. 69, 70, 72 Grundmann, W. 57 Guterbock, H.G. 29 Philonenko, M. 28, 93, 94 Polotsky, H. J. 119 Hanson, P. 31, 42, 43, 44 Pope, M. H. 58 Harnack, A. von 83, 84 Preisendanz, K. 59 Harrelson, W. 42 Harvey, W.W. 26, 74, 75, 83, 107, 109 Puech, H.-C. 4, 6, 15, 82 Quispel, G. 118 Hengel, M. 30

Rabin, B. 34 Scott, R. 57 Rabin, C. 34 Rackham, H. 48 Rad, G. von 27, 54, 56 Rehm, B. 104 Reitzenstein, R. 1, 55 Rengstorf, K. H. 60, 94 Robertson, J. 46 Robinson, J. M. 25 Ringgren, H. 61 Rudolph, K. 1, 2, 69, 124 Sagnard, E.-M.-M. 85, 87 van de Sande Bakhuyzen, W. H. 84 Schenke, H.-M. 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 15, 70 Schmidt, C. 35, 111, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132 Schmidt, F. 40 Schmidt, P. 30 Schmidtz, O. 102 Schoedel, W. R. 100 Scholem, G. 1, 32 Schottroff, L. 69, 70, 87 Schrenk, G. 64, 65 Schultz, J. P. 42 Schwartz, E. 84

Snell, B. 47 Staehlin, O. 84 Strack, H.L. 54 Stone, M. 63, 93 Strugnell, J. 46, 58 Smith, M. 58 Tardieu, M. 6, 94, 99, 106, 112, 117, 119 Till, W.C. 30, 35, 97, 111, 113, 126 Traub, H. 54 Völker, W. 79, 85, 86, 87, 107, 108, 109, 111, 112, 113, 116, 117, 118, 119 Walcot, P. 29, 31 Walters, H. B. 59 Wendland, P. 37, 55, 62, 79, 84, 95, 97, Whitaker, G. H. 37 Widengren, Geo. 42 Wilckens, U. 37 Wilson, R. McL. 1, 5, 79, 85 Wisse, F. 5, 68, 73 Wilfson, H.A. 53 Wright, G.E. 42, 55, 58 Würtheim, E. 36 Yadin, Y. 34, 35